Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2024:34

Ingunn Hatlevoll

Chemotherapy for colorectal cancer – Physical exercise and quality of life

NTNU

NINU Norwegian University of Science and Technology Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Ingunn Hatlevoll

Chemotherapy for colorectal cancer – Physical exercise and quality of life

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Trondheim, February 2024

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine



Norwegian University of Science and Technology

NTNU

Norwegian University of Science and Technology

Thesis for the Degree of Philosophiae Doctor

Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine

© Ingunn Hatlevoll

ISBN 978-82-326-7670-5 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7669-9 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

Doctoral theses at NTNU, 2024:34

Printed by NTNU Grafisk senter

Fysisk aktivitet og livskvalitet for pasienter som mottar kjemoterapi for kolorektalkreft

Kolorektal kreft (CRC) er den nest vanligste årsaken til kreftrelaterte dødsfall både nasjonalt og internasjonalt. Stillesittende livsstil er assosiert med økt risiko for å utvikle CRC og med redusert sjanse for overlevelse etter diagnose. Vi har sett en jevn økning i overlevelse de siste tiårene, og et økende antall mennesker lever med seneffekter av behandling.

Kombinasjon av ulike cellegifter er sentralt i behandlingen av CRC. Slik behandling medfører flere bivirkninger både på kort og lang sikt, som fatigue (utmattelse), perifer nevropati (prikkinger, nummenhet og ev. smerter i hender og føtter) og redusert fysisk funksjon. Når helbredelse ikke er mulig, er hovedmålet med behandlingen å la pasienter leve lengst mulig og best mulig. CRC rammer først og fremst de eldre. Det er en bekymring om eldre pasienter vil tåle cellegiftbehandling like godt som de yngre.

Det er økende dokumentasjon på at fysisk trening både under og etter kreftbehandling har gunstige effekter på symptomer som oppstår som følge av sykdom og behandling, men flertallet av studiene er gjennomført blant pasienter med bryst- og prostatakreft. Mulige fordeler med trening under adjuvant (tilleggs) behandling med cellegift for CRC er lite studert, og forskning viser at det har vært vanskelig å rekruttere pasienter med CRC til slike studier.

Denne avhandlingen er basert på to ulike pasientgrupper; CRC pasienter under adjuvant cellegift og CRC pasienter under palliativ (livsforlengende) cellegift. Målsettingen er å få økt innsikt i gjennomførbarheten av en treningsintervensjon under adjuvant cellegift, hvordan pasientene opplever å delta i fysisk trening under cellegift, og hvordan cellegift påvirker livskvalitet i palliativ fase.

Vi har gjort en studie som undersøker gjennomførbarhet av et individuelt tilpasset og veiledet treningsprogram under adjuvant cellegift for CRC. Vi har vist at denne intervensjonen er gjennomførbar og trygg, men vi har også vist at det er behov for å tilrettelegge for veiledet trening nærmere pasientenes hjem. Videre har vi gjort en kvalitativ intervjustudie blant deltakerne som viser at pasientene opplever flere både fysiske og mentale fordeler ved å delta i treningsprogrammet, og de opplever at det er viktig at treningen er veiledet.

Til slutt har vi gjennomført en observasjonsstudie av en uselektert kohort av pasienter med metastatisk (pasienter med spredning) CRC i Midt-Norge. Vi har analysert endringer i livskvalitet det første året etter oppstart av palliativ cellegift. Resultatene viser at en betydelig andel av pasientene opplevde store forverringer i fatigue og fysisk funksjon de første månedene av behandlingen, men de eldre (>70 år) pasientene opplevde ikke mer forverring av livskvalitet enn de yngre.

Name of candidate:	Ingunn Hatlevoll				
Department:	Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine				
Main supervisor:	Eva Hofsli				
Co-supervisors:	Line Merethe Oldervoll Arne Wibe John-Arne Skolbekken				
Funding:	The Foundation Dam The Joint Research Committee between St. Olavs hospital and the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU				

This thesis is found to be worthy of public defence for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor in medicine. The public defence takes place at auditorium KA11 Kunnskapssenteret February 1st 2024 at 12.15 pm.

Ovennevnte avhandling er funnet verdig til å forsvares offentlig for graden Philosophiae Doctor i medisin. Disputas finner sted i auditorim KA 11 på Kunnskapssenteret 1. februar 2024 kl. 12.15

Table of contents

Norsk sammendrag	5
English summary	7
Acknowledgements	9
List of papers	
Abbreviations	
Definitions and clarification of concepts	
1. Background	
1.1. Colorectal cancer (CRC)	
1.1.1. Epidemiology, treatment and prognosis	
1.1.2. Pathological classification	
1.1.3. Diagnosis, staging and prognosis	
1.1.4. Treatment of resectable CRC	
1.1.5. Treatment of non-resectable, metastatic CRC (mCRC)	21
1.2. Side effects from treatment	21
1.2.1. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN)	
1.2.2. Fatigue	23
1.3. Physical exercise and cancer	24
1.3.1. Physical exercise and CIPN	25
1.3.2. Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC	27
1.3.3. Recruiting CRC patients to physical exercise interventions	
1.3.4. RCT or feasibility study?	
1.3.5. CRC patients' perspectives on physical exercise	
1.4. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL)	
1.4.1. Definitions of HRQoL	
1.4.2. How HRQoL is affected by cancer	
1.4.3. Patient reported outcome measures (PROMS)	
1.4.4. HRQoL during palliative chemotherapy for mCRC	
1.4.5. Investigating HRQoL in real-life mCRC populations	
2. Aim of the thesis	
3. Material and methods	
3.1. Methodological framework	
3.2. Study design and patient population	
3.3. Treatments	
3.3.1. Physical exercise intervention	

4. Assessments and outcome measures					
.4.1. Quantitative measures					
.4.2. Qualitative inquiry					
Semi-structured interviews					
Analysis	5				
Quantitative analysis	5				
Thematic Analysis	5				
Ethics	7				
esults of papers 5	9				
Paper I 5	9				
Paper II	2				
Paper III	4				
Discussion	1				
Feasibility of exercise intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy7	1				
CRC patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy7	3				
Changes in HRQoL during the first year of palliative chemotherapy	4				
Methodological considerations	6				
Study design	6				
Sample size7	7				
Outcome measures	8				
Validity7	9				
Conclusions	5				
uture perspectives	7				
. References					
. Appendix					
	Assessments and outcome measures 4 Quantitative measures 4 Qualitative inquiry 5 emi-structured interviews 5 Analysis 5 Quantitative analysis 5 Quantitative analysis 5 Quantitative analysis 5 Quantitative analysis 5 Thematic Analysis 5 Ethics 5 esults of papers 5 Paper I 5 Paper II 6 Paper III 6 reasibility of exercise intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy 7 CRC patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy 7 Changes in HRQoL during the first year of palliative chemotherapy 7 Study design 7 Sample size 7 Outcome measures 7 Validity 7 onclusions 8 eferences 8 eferences 8				

Norsk sammendrag

Kolorektal kreft (CRC) er den tredje vanligste kreftformen på verdensbasis, den nest vanligste kreftformen i Norge og den nest vanligste årsaken til kreftrelaterte dødsfall både nasjonalt og internasjonalt. I Norge ble det påvist 4745 nye tilfeller i 2022, og 1591 personer døde av sykdommen året før. Stillesittende livsstil er assosiert med økt risiko for å utvikle CRC og med redusert sjanse for overlevelse etter diagnose. En jevn økning i overlevelse er blitt observert de siste tiårene, og et økende antall mennesker både lever med en nåværende eller tidligere CRC diagnose og med seneffekter av behandling.

Kombinasjon av ulike cellegifter er sentralt i behandlingen av CRC, både i den kurative og den palliative (livsforlengende) setting. Slik behandling medfører flere bivirkninger både på kort og lang sikt, som fatigue (utmattelse), perifer nevropati (prikkinger, nummenhet og ev. smerter i hender og føtter) og redusert fysisk funksjon, med påfølgende negativ virkning på helserelatert livskvalitet (HRQoL). Vurdering av hvilken behandling pasientene skal ha bør ikke bare fokusere på overlevelse og respons, men også på pasientenes symptomer, funksjon og generelle velvære. Når helbredelse ikke er mulig, er hovedmålet med behandlingen å la pasienter leve lengst mulig og best mulig. De senere år er det observert en bekymringsfull økning av CRC blant yngre, selv om CRC først og fremst rammer de eldre, med median alder ved diagnose på omtrent 73 år. Det er en bekymring om eldre pasienter vil tåle cellegiftbehandling like godt som de yngre.

Det er økende dokumentasjon på at fysisk trening både under og etter kreftbehandling har gunstige effekter på symptomer som oppstår som følge av sykdom og behandling, men flertallet av studiene er gjennomført blant pasienter med bryst- og prostatakreft i tidlig stadium. Potensielle fordeler med trening under adjuvant (tilleggs) behandling med cellegift for CRC er lite studert, og forskning viser at det har vært vanskelig å rekruttere pasienter med CRC til slike studier.

Denne avhandlingen er basert på to ulike pasientpopulasjoner; CRC pasienter under adjuvant cellegift og CRC pasienter under palliativ cellegift. Målsettingen er å få økt innsikt i gjennomførbarheten av en treningsintervensjon under adjuvant cellegift, hvordan pasientene opplever å delta i fysisk trening under cellegift, og hvordan cellegift påvirker HRQoL i palliativ fase.

Som forberedelse til en fremtidig randomisert kontrollert studie (RCT), er det utført en studie på gjennomførbarhet av et individuelt tilpasset og veiledet treningsprogram som kombinerer utholdenhet-, styrke- og balansetrening under adjuvant cellegift for CRC. Vi har vist at denne intervensjonen er gjennomførbar og trygg med både høy villighet til å delta og etterlevelse til treningsprogrammet, men vi har også vist at det er behov for å tilrettelegge for veiledet trening nærmere pasientenes hjem. Videre er det gjennomført en kvalitativ intervjustudie blant deltakere i treningsintervensjonen som viser at pasientene opplever flere både fysiske og mentale fordeler ved å delta i programmet, og de opplever at det er viktig at treningen er veiledet.

Siste delstudie er en observasjonsstudie av en uselektert kohort av pasienter med metastatisk (pasienter med spredning) CRC i Midt-Norge. Vi har analysert endringer i utvalgte HRQoLutfall det første året etter oppstart av palliativ cellegift. Resultatene viser at en betydelig andel av pasientene opplevde store forverringer i fatigue og fysisk funksjon de første månedene av behandlingen, eldre (>70 år) pasienter opplevde ikke mer forverring av HRQoL enn de yngre, og at den positive effekten på HRQoL av en pause fra cellegift ser ut til å være større i en «real-life» populasjon enn blant pasienter inkludert i en RCT.

English summary

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer worldwide, the second most common cancer in Norway, and the second leading cause of cancer deaths both globally and nationally. In Norway, 4745 new cases were diagnosed in 2022, and 1591 persons died from the disease the year before. Sedentary lifestyle is associated with increased risk of developing CRC and with reduced chance of survival after the diagnosis. A steady increase in survival has been observed over the past decades, and an increasing number of people are living with a present or former diagnosis of CRC and with long-term side effects from treatment.

Different chemotherapy combinations play a central part in treatment of CRC, both in the curative and the palliative settings. Chemotherapy has several both short- and long-term side effects, such as fatigue, peripheral neuropathy and reduced physical function, negatively affecting health-related quality of life (HRQoL). Choice of treatment should not only focus on survival and tumour response, but also on patients' symptoms, functioning and overall well-being. When cure is not an option, the main treatment goals are to allow patients to live longer and to live better. During recent years, an increased incidence of CRC among younger people has been observed, although CRC primarily affects the elderly, with a median age at diagnosis of approximately 73 years. There are concerns whether older patients will tolerate chemotherapy as well as the younger patients.

There are increasing evidence that physical exercise (PE) both during and after cancer treatment have beneficial effects on several cancer-related health outcomes, but the majority of studies performed are in early stage breast cancer and in prostate cancer. Potential benefits of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC are less studied, and recruiting patients with CRC to PE interventions has been found challenging by several investigators.

This thesis is based on studies from two different patient populations; CRC patients during adjuvant chemotherapy and CRC patients during palliative chemotherapy. The aim is to gain increased insight in the feasibility of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC, how patients experience physical exercise during chemotherapy, and how chemotherapy affects HRQoL in the palliative phase.

As a preparation for a future randomized controlled trial (RCT), we have conducted a feasibility study of an individually adjusted and supervised PE program combining aerobic,

strength and balance training during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. We have demonstrated that this intervention is feasible and safe with both a high willingness to participate and adherence to the program, but with a need to accommodate PE interventions closer to patients' homes. Further, we have performed a qualitative interview study among participants in the PE intervention, demonstrating that patients experience several benefits, both physically and mentally, participating in the program and the importance of PE being supervised.

Finally, we have conducted an observational study of an unselected cohort of metastatic CRC patients in Middle-Norway, analysing changes in selected HRQoL outcomes the first year of palliative chemotherapy, demonstrating that large deteriorations in fatigue and physical functioning are experienced by a significant proportion of the patients the first months of treatment, that older (>70 years) patients did not experience more deterioration in HRQoL than the younger, and that the positive impact of a chemo-break on HRQoL seems to be larger in a real-life population than in patients included in RCTs.

Acknowledgements

The work of this thesis has been carried out at the Cancer Clinic, St. Olav's hospital and at the Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine at the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). The PhD has been funded by the Dam Foundation, and the observational mCRC study was funded by the Joint Research Committee between St. Olav's hospital and the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU.

First, I would like to thank all the patients participating in the present studies, offering time and effort to the benefit of future patients. Clinical health-research is nothing without all the people who volunteer to improve medical treatment and care.

Secondly, I will thank my research supervisors, Eva Hofsli, Line M. Oldervoll, Arne Wibe and John-Arne Skolbekken. You have all contributed in your unique ways. More than a decade ago, Eva, Line and I discussed launching a study on physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC patients, and now we have done it! I am forever grateful for your patience and constructive feedbacks, and I could not have done this without all of your support.

Third, I will thank the physiotherapists on 'Pusterommet' for providing the participants with supervised exercise, Siri Alstad Svestad for doing and transcribing a major part of the interviews, and the Cancer Clinic for providing research support.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my co-authors for invaluable inputs to the manuscripts, to my good colleague, Are Kristensen, for his statistical expertise organizing and analysing the numerous questionnaires, my colleagues in the 'gastro-team' for recruiting participants to the different studies, and my colleagues in the other hospitals in Middle-Norway involved in the project.

Last, but not least, I want to thank my family. My wonderful children, Kristianne, Vilde, Maria and Kaja, thank you for believing in me and cheering me on, and also showing me good times outside this project. Kure, my love in life, thank you for your everlasting patience. I know this has taken its toll on you, and I promise to be more present in the future.

List of papers

Paper I

Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer—a non-randomized feasibility study

Hatlevoll I, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Stene GB, Stafne SN, Hofsli E.

Support Care Cancer. 2021 Jun;29(6):2993-3008. doi: 10.1007/s00520-020-05789-z. Epub 2020 Oct 8.

Paper II

Colorectal cancer patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy-A qualitative study

Hatlevoll I, Skolbekken JA, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Hofsli E.

Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2021 Dec;31(12):2300-2309. doi: 10.1111/sms.14048. Epub 2021 Sep 18.

Paper III

Do older patients with colorectal cancer experience more deterioration in health-related quality of life during the first year of palliative chemotherapy? – A prospective real-world observational study.

Hatlevoll I, Kristensen AK, Solheim TS, Elvebakken H, Salvesen Ø, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Hofsli E.

Submitted

Abbreviations

BMI	Body Mass Index				
BSC	Best supportive care				
Capox	Combination of oral capecitabine and intravenously oxaliplatin				
CIPN	Chemotherapy induced peripheral neuropathy				
QLQ-C30	Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30				
CRC	Colorectal cancer				
CRF	Cancer-related fatigue				
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor				
EMA	European Medicines Agency				
EORTC	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer				
FDA	Food and Drug Administration				
Flv	5-FU combined with calcium folinate				
Folfox	Combination of intravenously 5-FU, calcium folinate and oxaliplatin				
FQ	Fatigue Questionnaire				
HRQoL	Health-related quality of life				
HUNT	North Trondelag Health Study				
iv.	Intravenously				
mCRC	Metastatic colorectal cancer				
MF	Mental fatigue				
MID	Minimally important difference				
Min	Minutes				
MMR	Mismatch repair				
MSAS	Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale				

MSI	Microsatellite instability				
MSS	Microsatellite stable				
NCCN	National Comprehensive Cancer Network				
PA	Physical activity				
PE	Physical exercise				
PEACE	Physical Exercise Across the Cancer Experience				
PF	Physical fatigue				
PRO	Patient reported outcome				
PROM	Patient reported outcome measure				
PROMS	Patient reported outcome measures				
PS	Performance status				
QoL	Quality of life				
RCT	Randomized controlled trial				
RPE	Rate of perceived exertion				
RS	Raw score				
S	Score				
SAE	Serious adverse event				
SD	Standard deviation				
SF-12	Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-12				
ТА	Thematic Analysis				
TF	Total fatigue				
TNM	Tumour node metastasis				
VEGFR	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor				
5-FU	5-Fluorouracil				

Definitions and clarification of concepts

Physical activity is any bodily movement produced by contraction of skeletal muscle that results in energy expenditure above resting energy expenditure (1). Physical activity interventions may be less structured than exercise interventions and often focus on promoting the integration of activities into daily life (e.g. gardening, walking or active travel) (2)

Physical exercise is a subset of physical activity that is planned, structured and repetitive, done to improve or maintain one, or more of the components of physical fitness (1).

Physical fitness is a set of attributes that are either health- or skill-related. The health-related components of physical fitness are cardiorespiratory endurance, muscular endurance, muscular strength, body composition, and flexibility (1).

Endurance training is synonymous to aerobic exercise including activities aimed at improving and maintaining the fitness of the cardiovascular system (3).

Strength training is synonymous to resistance training. It consists of anaerobic activity including exercise aimed at inducing muscular contraction to increase the strength, anaerobic endurance, and size of skeletal muscles (3).

Balance and sensorimotor training is associative training in which observation of one action is systematically paired with performance of another action. It includes vestibular, visual and oculomotor activities, cervical neuromotor control and strength training, and postural/balance exercises (3).

Feasibility and pilot studies are conducted in preparation for a future definitive randomised controlled trial (RCT). A feasibility study asks whether the future RCT can be done, should be done, and if so, how. Pilot studies are a subset of feasibility studies that ask the same questions, in addition to conducting the future RCT, or part of it, on a smaller scale (4, 5)

1. Background

1.1. Colorectal cancer (CRC)

1.1.1. Epidemiology, treatment and prognosis

Worldwide, CRC is the second leading cause of cancer deaths and ranks third in terms of new cases (both sexes together), representing about one in 10 new cancer cases and deaths (Fig. 1) (6). CRC can be considered a marker of socioeconomic development, as incidence rates are approximately 4-fold higher in developed countries compared with developing countries, and incidence rates tend to rise parallel with increasing human development index in countries undergoing major transition (e.g. Eastern Europe, South Eastern and South Central Asia, and South America) (6). Among females, Norway has the highest incidence rates for colon cancer (6). Except for hereditary factors, known risk factors for CRC are increased intake of animal-source foods, sedentary lifestyle with decreased physical activity (PA) and overweight. Additional risk factors include heavy alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking, and consumption of red or processed meat (7, 8).



Fig. 1. Distribution of cases and deaths for the Top 10 Most Common Cancers in 2020 for both sexes. From GLOBOCAN 2020 (6).

In Norway, CRC is the second most common cancer for both men and women with 4745 new cases in 2022 (9). Colon cancer constitutes 70% of the cases and is evenly distributed between the sexes, while rectal cancer is more common in men. Median age at diagnosis is 74 and 70 years for colon and rectal cancer respectively, but an increasing number of CRC affecting younger people (< 50 years) has been observed in the resent years (9-11). During the last decades, modern treatment principles for CRC have become more complex with improved surgical techniques, radiotherapy, and systemic therapies, and thus, more people are surviving their cancer (Fig 2), but also living with long-term side effects after treatment. Today, more than 40 000 people are living with a present or former CRC diagnosis in Norway, while the same number ten years ago was below 29 000 (9).



Fig. 2. Trends in incidence and mortality rates and 5-year relative survival proportions in colon (top) and rectum, recto-sigmoid (bottom) cancer. From Cancer in Norway 2022 (9).

1.1.2. Pathological classification

The main histological type of CRC is adenocarcinoma. Other histological entities also originating in the colon or rectum, such as lymphomas, neuroendocrine tumours and sarcomas, are not part of this thesis. Colorectal adenocarcinomas are classified according to degree of differentiation, low-grade vs. high-grade, and presence of mucin- or signet ring cell differentiation, the three latter indicating worse prognosis. Other histopathological findings of prognostic magnitude are tumour budding, extramural vascular infiltration and perineural infiltration (12).

Molecular pathological analyses of tumour tissue have had increasing value with new, targeted therapies emerging. Analyses routinely performed today, potentially having therapeutic consequences, are mutations in the RAS- and BRAF genes and expression of mismatch repair (MMR) proteins and/or presence of microsatellite instability (MSI) (12).

1.1.3. Diagnosis, staging and prognosis

Symptoms from CRC partly depends on tumour location and growth patterns. Less than half of the patients experience obstructive symptoms (change in bowel habits or abdominal pain). A common symptom is bleeding, either as bloody stools or more occult, presenting with anemia. Fresh bleeding and bowel obstruction are more common in left-sided tumours, and anemia is common in the right-sided. Asthenia and weight loss are less common symptoms. Approximately 10-15% of the patients have an acute debut with ileus, major bleeding or bowel perforation necessitating acute surgery (12, 13).

In addition to medical history, general clinical examination and blood tests with the tumour marker CEA, investigations for CRC should include endoscopy with biopsy, CT-scan of the chest, abdomen and pelvis, and for rectal cancer, MRI of the rectum/pelvis. Endoscopic ultrasound of small rectal tumours is recommended, and MRI of the liver is performed to clarify unresolved liver lesions.

These examinations aid staging of the disease. The tumour, node, metastasis (TNM) staging system is used to characterize the extent of the disease, and to determine the overall stage grouping (I-IV), which in turn is linked to treatment recommendations (14). In stage I-II, the

tumour is confined to the intestinal wall, with or without involvement of adjacent structures. In stage III, the tumour has spread to regional lymph nodes, and in stage IV, distant metastases are present. Approximately 24% are diagnosed with localized disease, 53% with regional-, and 23% with metastatic disease. Additionally, another 14-19% will develop metastasis in their disease trajectories (9, 13).

Over the past decades, CRC survival in Norway has steadily improved in all stages. Five-year relative survival for the whole group is now approximately 70% for colon- and 72% for rectal cancer, with women having slightly better prognosis. Corresponding survival rates are 97, 84 and 22% for stage I+II, III and IV CRC, respectively. Stage III colon cancer has better survival than stage III rectal cancer, and for stage IV, it is vice versa (9).

1.1.4. Treatment of resectable CRC

Standard treatment for CRC is surgery alone in the earliest stages. In stage III and high risk stage II, surgery followed by adjuvant chemotherapy is employed for colon cancer and some cases of rectal cancer. Locally advanced rectal cancer is treated with different combinations of chemo- and radiotherapy neoadjuvant, followed by surgery. After curative surgery for synchronous metastatic disease, adjuvant chemotherapy is, after an individual assessment, also offered. Surgery for CRC will in some cases entail a stoma, either as a temporary or a permanent solution (12).

The intention of adjuvant chemotherapy is to eliminate microscopic disease and thus reduce the risk of relapse. Six months 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) based treatment combined with calcium folinate adjuvant, has well documented improvement in five-year disease free survival in colon cancer, and has been in routinely use since the nineties (15-18). In the mid-2000, it was demonstrated that adding oxaliplatin further improved survival, especially among those under 70 years (19-22). In 2018, a large study concluded that three months combinational treatment safely could replace six months of treatment among those with low risk stage III colon cancer (23).

Norwegian guidelines recommend adjuvant chemotherapy for 3-6 months according to risk assessments, and should be started 4-6 weeks postoperatively. It consists of intravenously (iv.) combinations of 5-FU, calcium folinate and oxaliplatin (Folfox) or oral capecitabine

combined with iv. oxaliplatin (Capox). For those above 70 years, monotherapy with 5-FU/calcium folinate (Flv) or capecitabine for six months is recommended (12).

1.1.5. Treatment of non-resectable, metastatic CRC (mCRC)

During the last four decades, medical treatment options for mCRC have improved from offering best supportive care (BSC) only, to fluorouracil monotherapy, to combination chemotherapy, and to adding monoclonal antibodies or other targeted therapies. In the same period, improvement in survival has been registered from an expected median survival of six months with BSC, to 12 months with monotherapy, 15-18 months with combination therapy, and now median survival up to 30 months with the addition of targeted therapies is reported in recent trials (24-27).

When incurable disease, main treatment goals are prolongation of life, symptom relief, and maintenance of quality of life (QoL) (28). Palliative chemotherapy is given alone or in combination with other chemotherapy and/or targeted therapies. The most commonly used compounds are 5-FU, oxaliplatin, irinotecan, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-(VEGFR) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) blockers. Recently, BRAF- and immune checkpoint inhibitors have proven useful for selected groups (29-31). Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) are the basis of treatment recommendations, and the strategy in these trials often is treatment to progression or unacceptable toxicity (32-34). In clinical practice, the strategy usually is to introduce a chemo-break in a stop-and-go manner, or maintenance therapy with a milder regimen to let patients recover from side effects of treatment (35). Norwegian guidelines recommend considering a chemo-break four to six months after start of first line palliative chemotherapy. Re-challenge with the same regimen at progression, and switch to second or third line therapies after progression on a particular therapy are common strategies (12).

1.2. Side effects from treatment

Chemotherapy induces cell death in dividing cells through different mechanisms of action, both in cancer cells and in normal cells. Normal tissue has greater potential for repair than cancer tissue, and this is exploited when giving cytotoxic treatment (36). Chemotherapy is associated with numerous side effects, which include immediate signs of acute toxicity and late signs of chronic toxicity. Organs and tissues with a high cell-turnover will typically be more susceptible to damage from chemotherapy, such as the bone marrow, mucous membranes and the skin. General side effects from chemotherapy are nausea and vomiting, anemia, thrombocytopenia and neutropenia, increased risk of infections, alopecia, diarrhoea, mucositis and skin rash. In addition, there are more specific side effects associated with a particular compound, and any organ of the body might be affected (37). Additionally, PA levels, physical fitness, and functional capacity have shown to deteriorate during and following CRC treatment, negatively impacting patients' QoL (38, 39).

1.2.1. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN)

CIPN is a common problem occurring in a substantial proportion of cancer survivors receiving neurotoxic chemotherapy, with incidence and severity varying depending on the specific agent, dosage, and treatment schedule used (40-42). Oxaliplatin is a neurotoxic compound causing symptoms of CIPN in more than 90% of the patients (43). The exact mechanism of oxaliplatin-based neurotoxicity is not fully clarified, but is believed to involve mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress, altered ion channel activity, impaired intracellular signalling and inflammatory mediators (44). It can be divided into an acute and a chronic form. The acute neuropathy which is most common, is often cold-induced and presents with distal paresthesias, dysesthesias and mild muscle contractions in hands, feet and perioral. It typically peaks in the first three days following the oxaliplatin infusion and resolves within one week (45). The chronic neuropathy is mainly sensory and can appear after ending oxaliplatin treatment, causing ongoing functional impairment in terms of proprioception, balance and increased risk of falls (46). CIPN has a major negative effect on patients' QoL (47-49), it can last for several years, and for approximately 15% it will be irreversible (50). A systematic review of long-term CIPN following adjuvant oxaliplatin for CRC reported a pooled prevalence of CIPN 6, 12, 24 and 36 months after chemotherapy of 58, 45, 32 and 24%, respectively (45).

An observational study of 2450 stage III colon cancer patients enrolled in an RCT of three vs. six months of adjuvant Folfox concluded that lower PA, higher Body Mass Index (BMI), diabetes, and longer planned treatment duration, but not celecoxib use or vitamin B6 intake,

may be associated with significantly increased CIPN severity (51). Currently, there is no established treatment to prevent or counteract oxaliplatin-induced peripheral sensory neuropathy, other than reducing the dose or discontinuing the drug (52).

Discrepancies between clinician-reported grade of CIPN and patient reported symptoms and functional impairment due to CIPN have been described (53, 54). Bennet et al. examined a patient population reporting persistent neuropathy one year after oxaliplatin treatment. While only 10% of the patients after clinician assessment were graded with severe neuropathy, 60% of the patients reported having significant physical limitations due to neuropathic symptoms. The majority (85%) of the patients had objective signs of sensory neuropathy by nerve conduction measurements (53). Thus, it is reasonable to assume that CIPN is underreported in studies, and using patient reported outcome measures (PROMS) seems crucial when studying these symptoms.

1.2.2. Fatigue

Fatigue is a common symptom experienced by cancer patients through all stages of the disease trajectory. It is perceived to be the most distressing symptom associated with cancer and its treatment, and it has a greater negative impact on functioning and health-related quality of life (HRQoL) than other symptoms such as pain, nausea and vomiting or depression (55-57). The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) defines cancer-related fatigue (CRF) as 'a distressing, persistent, subjective sense of physical, emotional, and/or cognitive tiredness or exhaustion related to cancer or cancer treatment that is not proportional to recent activity and interferes with functioning' (58).

During active treatment, the rate of CRF varies between 62 and 85% (57). Among CRC survivors, fatigue is present in approximately half of the patients with localized tumours (59). The fatigue usually peaks immediately after adjuvant chemotherapy, being experienced by 70% of patients, but remains a significant problem until 10-year post-diagnosis, persisting in 39% of long-term CRC survivors (57, 59). In patients with metastatic disease, the prevalence of CRF is more than 75% (58).

The aetiology underlying CRF is not well-understood, it appears complex and multi-factorial, involving the interaction of cognitive, emotional, psychosocial, and somatic factors, with

highly variable clinical expression. Proposed mechanisms include pro-inflammatory cytokines, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysregulation, circadian rhythm desynchronization, skeletal muscle wasting, and genetic dysregulation (56, 58).

Also here, significant discrepancies in grading of CRF severity have been observed between physician- and survivor reports, with physician ratings much lower than that of the survivor (60), and it seems reasonable to use self-report questionnaires for assessment of CRF.

1.3. Physical exercise and cancer

Until the late 1980s, the common notion was that cancer patients should rest during their treatment period and avoid physical exercise (PE). Two pioneer oncology nurses, Drs Winningham and MacVicar, were the first to demonstrate in a randomized trial beneficial effects of a 10-week interval based, aerobic exercise program on functional capacity, body composition, and patient reported nausea, in 45 women receiving conventional adjuvant chemotherapy for operable breast cancer (61-63). Since then, the research field of PE in oncology has grown exponentially.

Courneya and Friedenreich proposed in 2001 a framework for organizing research on PE and cancer control. The now established framework, Physical Exercise Across the Cancer Experience (PEACE), divides the cancer experience into six time periods: two pre-diagnosis (pre-screening and screening/diagnosis) and four post diagnosis (pre-treatment, treatment, post treatment, and resumption or palliation) (64).

Epidemiological studies have given strong evidence linking PA with reduced risk of developing several types of cancer, including colon cancer (65). Additionally, observational studies have demonstrated that high level of PA pre-diagnosis was associated with 18 and 23% lower cancer-specific mortality risks in breast- and CRC, respectively. Observational studies have also found associations between reduced cancer-specific- and all-cause mortality and higher levels of PA post-diagnosis in breast cancer, CRC and prostate cancer (65, 66).

PE as a pre-treatment intervention, is not as extensively investigated as PE during or after cancer treatment, but it is an evolving field of research and has shown promising results in various cancer types (67-71). Most studies performed are in lung cancer patients pre-surgery,

and improved pre-operative pulmonary function and reduced postoperative complication rates and length of hospital stay have been demonstrated in this group (72-74).

There are published numerous RCTs, reviews and meta-analyses that evaluate effects of PE both during and after cancer treatment, providing strong evidence that moderate intensity aerobic training alone or in combination with resistance training (both during and after treatment) have beneficial effects on several cancer-related health outcomes such as anxiety, depressive symptoms, fatigue, HRQoL and physical function, but there is still insufficient evidence to interpret the potential benefits of PE on CIPN, cardiotoxicity, cognitive function, and treatment tolerance, among others (75-78). The PE programs studied, typically lasted 12 weeks, containing 2-3 sessions per week with 30-60 minutes (min) duration. Supervised PE appears to be more effective than unsupervised in improving HRQoL, exercise-adherence, and other physical and psychological outcomes (75, 79). The majority of studies performed are in early stage breast cancer and in prostate cancer, and the results will not necessarily apply for all other cancer diagnoses or stages.

In the palliative stage, PE interventions are less studied, but also this field of research is evolving. It seems to be feasible and beneficial in improving cancer-related symptoms, QoL, physical performance, fatigue, and physical function (80-83). Further research is needed before generalizable conclusions can be made (83).

1.3.1. Physical exercise and CIPN

A large Dutch prospective registry study investigated associations between PA, CIPN and HRQoL among CRC survivors diagnosed between 2000 and 2009 (84). Not meeting the Dutch recommendation of 150 min of moderate to vigorous PA a week was associated with more CIPN among patients treated with chemotherapy, two to 11 years after diagnosis.

The first RCT exploring potential benefits of PE on CIPN was published by Streckmann et al. in 2014 (85). Sixty one lymphoma patients, scheduled for chemotherapy, were randomized to either a control group or a 36-week intervention with supervised sensorimotor-, enduranceand strength training twice a week. Primary end point was QoL, and secondary end points were movement coordination, endurance, strength and therapy-induced side effects. Significant improvements in QoL, peripheral neuropathy-related deep sensitivity, balance control and aerobic performance level were revealed in the intervention group, compared to the control group (85).

After 2014, several RCTs have explored different PE interventions addressing CIPN in various patient groups (86-102). Most studies performed are with mixed diagnoses receiving different neurotoxic treatments, some are with pure breast cancer populations, and breast cancer is often in majority in the mixed studies. The interventions also differ, most often with some kind of sensorimotor- or balance training being investigated, either alone or in combination with endurance- and/or resistance exercises. Duration of the intervention program varies from 4 - 26 weeks with a median of 12 weeks. Some studies have included patients with established CIPN, while others have included patients before commencing neurotoxic chemotherapy. Great variations are also seen in choice of outcome measures in the different studies, with patient reported sensory symptoms, neuropathic pain and QoL being common, in addition to different balance- and other physical tests. A systematic review identified 75 outcome measures assessing PE and rehabilitation in CIPN across 26 studies (103). The majority of the performed studies are small, with sample sizes less than 50 (86, 89-96, 98, 100, 101).

During the recent years, several systematic reviews and meta-analyses on effects of PE on CIPN have been published (3, 52, 104-114). Some have focused on prevention, some on treatment after established CIPN, others on both, and one on breast cancer only (112). Common conclusions are that different PE interventions, both during and after cancer treatment, show promise in mitigating or alleviating consequences of neurotoxic treatment by improving QoL, physical function (balance control and muscle strength), neuropathic pain and other CIPN symptoms. One review highlights that aerobic exercise might be a key component of PE intervention for CIPN (105), while two others indicate sensorimotor training as the most crucial component (110, 113). Due to the great heterogeneity regarding patient population, cytotoxic treatments, mode of intervention (type, intensity and duration) and outcome measures, results must be interpreted with caution, and definitive recommendations cannot be made. Other limitations emphasized are the small sample sizes and low-moderate quality of the studies performed, and further higher quality research is warranted (3).

1.3.2. Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC

PE interventions during or after treatment for CRC are less studied than in breast cancer and prostate cancer. The first RCT in this setting was published in 2003 by Courneya et al. (115). One hundred and two patients were randomized 2:1 after surgery for CRC to either a four months home based PE intervention at moderate intensity or a control group. All stages were included, less than 5% were metastatic, and approximately 2/3 were under treatment with chemotherapy. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the primary outcome, QoL, but contamination in the control group was a major problem (> 50%).

In 2014, when planning of the present feasibility study and future RCT commenced, only a handful RCTs handling PE interventions after curative surgery for CRC had been published, and none 'purely' during adjuvant chemotherapy (115-119). The first systematic review and meta-analysis available on PE for CRC patients was published in 2014, identifying five RCTs (120). One was partly during adjuvant chemotherapy by Courneya et al. described above (115), while the rest were after completion of primary treatment, and two had biomarker outcomes only. A meta-analysis performed on three of these RCTs (n=166) found strong evidence for short-term improvements of physical fitness in CRC patients after PE interventions were a mixture of different home-based aerobic exercises at moderate intensity with or without additional resistance exercises and supervised group exercises. The duration of the PE programs was 12-16 weeks, with a frequency of 2-5 times per week, and each session lasting 20-30 min. Main limitations were the small number of eligible RCTs and lack of safety reporting.

After 2014, several systematic reviews and meta-analyses on various PE interventions for patients with CRC have been published (2, 76, 121-128). Most of these have included studies both during and after treatment, and some included studies with mixed diagnoses in addition. The majority of studies are performed after completion of cancer treatment. A systematic review from 2018 by van Rooijen et al., investigated the effects of PE during adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with CRC (122). Seven studies were included in the review. Five of the studies included a mixture of several diagnoses, where CRC patients were in minority and constituting 5-22% of the participants (129-133). One study included a mixture of gastrointestinal cancers in metastatic setting (134), and the last study with CRC patients only,

was not a randomized study, but participants were allocated to intervention or control according to their preference (135). This systematic review concluded that a supervised combined strength-and endurance/interval training appeared to be potentially effective to improve functional capacity and muscle strength (lower extremity). Limitations of the review were that the studies were heterogeneous in terms of population and training modalities, and five studies had a small sample size of less than 50 (122).

A Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis on PA interventions for disease-related physical and mental health during and following treatment in people with non-advanced CRC was published in 2020 (2). Sixteen RCTs were identified, whereof ten studies included participants who had finished, only two studies included participants who were receiving, and two studies included both those receiving and had finished active treatment. In two studies it was unclear whether participants were receiving or had finished treatment. The PA interventions varied regarding, type, setting and duration, and the most common duration was 12 weeks. The authors concluded that PA interventions may be beneficial for aerobic fitness, CRF and HRQoL up to six months follow-up, but the findings should be interpreted with caution due to the low number of studies included and the very low to moderate quality of the evidence (2).

Also published in 2020 was a meta-analysis by Lund et al., investigating effects of PE interventions during chemotherapy (neoadjuvant, adjuvant or palliative) on self-reported physical function, physical fitness, psychological well-being assessed by PROMS, PA, body composition, cancer- or treatment-related symptoms, and safety (124). Six of the eight RCTs included were during adjuvant chemotherapy (136-141), one was during neoadjuvant chemo-radiotherapy (142), and one was during palliative chemotherapy (90). Low levels of evidence for a small beneficial effect of PE on self-reported physical function and global QoL, and a moderate effect of PE on fatigue was found. No evidence for an effect of PE on the other outcomes was found. All studies included, showed that PE was feasible and safe, and no adverse events related to PE were reported (124). Also here, the main limitations were the heterogeneity of the included RCTs in terms of both the participants, the training modalities and the small sample sizes.

In 2022 Machado et al. published a meta-analysis on six RCTs investigating the effectiveness of PE on CRF during or after adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. Six trials involving 330 CRC

patients were included, two during and four after adjuvant chemotherapy. An overall small-tomoderate effect of PE on CRF was found, and subgroup analysis revealed moderate effects of PE interventions performed during chemotherapy and small, non-significant effects, when PE was performed after cancer treatment. When a combination of aerobic plus resistance exercise was used, steady improvements were achieved in interventions lasting 12 to 24 weeks (126).

Another systematic review and meta-analysis from 2023 evaluated the content and effectiveness of PA interventions on CRF among CRC survivors. Eight RCTs involving 542 patients, three during and five after completion of adjuvant chemotherapy were included, demonstrating that PA interventions significantly reduced CRF. Subgroup analyses indicated that fatigue was significantly improved when the length of interventions was at least 6 months and the weekly duration of PA was less than 150 min/week, while PA interventions lasting less than six months with a volume of \geq 150 min/week did not reduce fatigue (127).

When exploring the literature on PA and PE in CRC patients, there is great heterogeneity in the different studies performed. There are large variations in the patient populations included, both regarding type of cancer (mixtures of several diagnoses), stage of disease, and where the patients are in their disease trajectories. Type of PA interventions also show great variations, from regular telephone calls encouraging participants to be more physically active, to unsupervised and home-based PE programs, and to more individualized and supervised PE interventions including both aerobic- and resistance exercises. The intensity, frequency and duration of the PE interventions also show great variability, as well as the outcome measures. No studies have investigated potential effects of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC on CIPN. Table 1 gives a summary of RCTs and randomised pilot/feasibility studies published on different PE interventions among CRC patients <u>during</u> adjuvant chemotherapy. Regarding studies involving other diagnoses than CRC, only those reporting data for CRC separately are included.

Year Author Country	Design (SSE)	Patients, n	Intervention, Exercise type, Frequency, Duration	Primary outcome	Results
2014 Backman Sweden (136)	Pilot RCT (NA)	Tot. 17 IG = 8 CG = 9	IG, SV 1-h group walk/wk. + USV walking 10,000 steps/d. 10 wks.	Feasibility	43% acceptance rate 93% adherence Mean 7660 steps/d
2015 Møller Denmark (137)	Pilot RCT (NA)	Tot. 12 IG A = 4 IG B = 3 CG = 5	IG A, SV RE/AE, 9 h/wk., then 6 h/wk.; IG B, USV walking 10,000 steps/d, x5/wk. 12 wks.	Feasibility	33% acceptance rate 50% adherence (IG A)
2016 Van Vulpen Netherlands (138)	RCT (Yes, 150)	Tot. 33 IG = 17 CG = 16	IG, SV MI RE/AE 1 h, x2/wk. + USV 30 min, x3/wk. + CT 18 wks.	Fatigue (18 & 36 wk.) ¹	Wk. 18: Large ES in PF in favour of IG. Wk. 36: Large ES in GF in favour of IG.
2018 Van Waart Netherlands (139)	Pilot RCT/ RCT ² (Yes, 360)	Tot. 23 IG A = 8 IG B = 7 CG = 8	IG A, USV LI 30 min, x5/wk. + BRT; IG B, SV MHI RE/AE 50 min, x2/wk. + USV 30 min, x5/wk. 24 wks.	CRFi Muscle- strength Fatigue Feasibility	Low sample size, no effectiveness established 37% acceptance rate 75% adherence (IG A) 61% adherence (IG B)
2019 Li China (140)	RCT (Yes, 298)	Tot. 298 IG =149 CG =149	IG, SV LI restorative exercise 90 min x1/wk., then SV HI 60 min RE/AE x3/wk. + IPCP ³ . 13 + 13 wks.	Anxiety Depression QoL	After 6 months: Slight decrease in anxiety (NS), significant reduction in depression and improvement in QoL in favour of IG.
2019 Lu China (141)	RCT (Yes, 90)	Tot. 90 IG =45 CG =45	IG, USV 20-40 min Baduanjin qigong AE x5/wk. 24 wks.	CRF at 24 weeks	Significant smaller proportion with moderate-to-severe CRF in IG vs. CG (23.2 vs. 59.1%)

Table 1. RCTs and pilot RCTs on exercise <u>during</u> adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC.

AE = aerobic exercise; BRT = behavioural reinforcement techniques; CRFi = cardiorespiratory fitness; CG= control group; CRC = colorectal cancer; CRF = cancer-related fatigue; CT = cognitive therapy; ES = effect size; GF = general fatigue; HI = high intensity; IG = interventional group; IPCP= incremental patient care program; LI = low intensity; MI = moderate intensity; MHI = moderateto high intensity; NA = not applicable; NS = not significant; PF = physical fatigue; QoL = quality of life; RCT = randomized controlled trial; RE = resistance exercise; SSE = sample size estimate; SV = supervised; USV = unsupervised; wk. = week;

¹Interpret results with caution, due to low sample size

²Study part of a larger RCT including breast cancer

³Including patient health education, physical exercise, telephone counselling, regular examinations and care activities

1.3.3. Recruiting CRC patients to physical exercise interventions

Recruiting CRC patients to PE interventions has been found challenging by several investigators (124, 131, 139, 143). This is also reflected in the relatively low proportions of CRC patients who have been recruited into PE trials with mixed diagnoses (130, 136, 138, 139). The Phys-Can RCT, newly performed in Sweden, compared the effects of high vs. low-to-moderate intensity PE program with or without additional behaviour change support on CRF in patients undergoing adjuvant cancer treatment (144). Of the 577 patients included, only 23 had CRC, while 457 had breast cancer, and 97 had prostate cancer.

1.3.4. RCT or feasibility study?

To assess the benefits and potential harm of new interventions in health care, RCTs are considered as the gold standard. Pilot and feasibility work is conducted to evaluate the operational feasibility and acceptability of the intervention itself. It would be futile to run a large-scale trial of interventions if these interventions are unlikely to ever see the light of day and be implemented in clinical practice. Even so, if trial procedures prove to be unfeasible, the results about clinical effectiveness will not be valid in implementing them in clinical practice. Conducting pilot and feasibility studies to sort out methodological issues in advance of a large-scale trial is critical if that larger trial is to become part of an evidence-base to inform new practice. To optimise the design and conduct of any subsequent largescale trial, findings from feasibility and pilot work about trial parameters will be useful (145).

When planning for the present feasibility study, we had no experience studying a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC patients. Our future goal was to conduct an RCT to investigate whether a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy could reduce the development of CRF and CIPN in this patient group. Before performing a full-scale RCT, issues of recruitment and retention needed to be properly addressed. To estimate the sample size in a future RCT, exploration of changes in patient-reported fatigue and CIPN also needed to be done.

1.3.5. CRC patients' perspectives on physical exercise

Patients' views on and experiences from performing PE after a CRC diagnosis have also been explored in qualitative studies (146-154).

Romero-Elías et al. explored barriers to engage in PA during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC among patients, relatives and physicians (146). Perceived barriers were related to difficulties associated with the stoma, limitations due to carrying an intravenous chemotherapy device, fatigue, reduced physical fitness, families' overprotection, the health professionals' lack of knowledge and time to prescribe PA, and the lack of PA services in health centres. Another study explored patients' views on PA after surgery for rectal cancer with placement of a stoma. Reported barriers to PA were side-effects from chemotherapy, and stoma-related barriers could be wounds from surgery, fear of hernia, insecurity about the right amount or types of activities, fear of leakage, and feeling uncomfortable around others when having a stoma. (147). Limited time, not receiving or misunderstanding information, physical ailments, and emotional impact of the diagnosis have also been described as barriers to engage in preoperative PE among older CRC patients (148).

Renman et al. explored how the diagnosis of colon cancer might affect physically active individuals in their attitudes to PA, reporting these varied from a will to increase PA and fight the cancer, to the diagnosis putting a stop to PA (149). A second study demonstrated that PA promotion was largely absent throughout the chemotherapy pathway for patients with CRC, and when discussed, PA levels were only used to determine fitness for future oncological treatment. PA promotion was more routinely delivered post-treatment (150).

Locally advanced rectal cancer patients' perceptions of QoL during participation in a presurgery structured PE program was explored by Burke et al., describing that participation facilitated positive changes in QoL over time by 'fostering a greater sense of vitality, cultivating a positive attitude, enhancing social connections, and fostering a strong sense of purpose in life for these patients' (151). A change in attitude was also described among physically inactive breast- and colon cancer patients participating in a pilot RCT with a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy: An attitude towards PE changed from being nonexercisers to exercisers, and this was attributed to the oncologist recommendations, and counselling and support from healthcare professionals (152).
Experiences from a PE rehabilitation program immediately after completion of adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC has also been described (153). This was a 12 week individualized and supervised 20-40 min of moderate- to high-intensity aerobic exercise three times per week. It was concluded that patients experienced benefits from PE offered immediately after treatment, and preferably with individual attention from exercise staff. A preference for supervision from health professionals was also found by Hubbard et al. in a pilot RCT with a 10-12 week cardiac rehabilitation program for CRC patients after treatment completion, also describing participation provided confidence and motivation to exercise (154).

To summarize, several barriers to engage in PA after being diagnosed with CRC have been identified, both physical and emotional factors within the patients, but also external factors such as lack of supporting and promoting PA by healthcare providers and lacking access to training facilities. Patients that have engaged in PA both before, during and after treatment experienced several positive benefits, and the importance of supervised PE and recommendations and support from healthcare professionals have been emphasized.

As described above, there are limited studies exploring CRC patients' experiences with PE <u>during</u> adjuvant chemotherapy. More information on this topic is warranted, as increased knowledge in this field might aid healthcare providers in engaging more CRC patients in PA, to better adjust interventions and thus being accessible to more patients.

1.4. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL)

1.4.1. Definitions of HRQoL

As the medical field evolved in the last century, allowing different treatments to prolong life or to improve QoL without extension of life, QoL became more important in health care (155), and QoL was discussed in the medical literature already in the 1960s (156).

The three terms health status, QoL and HRQoL are interchangeably being used in the literature, there are several definitions of the terms, and most definitions of HRQoL do not sufficiently differentiate from the two others (157, 158).

QoL is a complex construct, having different meanings for different people. The World

Health Organization (WHO) defines QoL as 'an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns' (159). Other examples of definitions of QoL are: 'a conscious cognitive judgment of satisfaction with one's life' (160), and 'an overall general well-being that comprises objective descriptors and subjective evaluations of physical, material, social, and emotional well-being together with the extent of personal development and purposeful activity, all weighted by a personal set of values' (161). The two first focusing on subjective judgements, while the last also included objective factors.

In 1946 WHO defined health as 'a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease and infirmity' (162). Another definition of health was proposed by Patrick et al. in 1973 as 'an individual's level of function, where optimum function is judged in comparison to society's standards of physical and mental well-being' (163).

HRQoL relates to the health aspects of QoL. Also here, there are several proposed definitions (164-167), without one universally accepted. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) QoL Clinical Trials Conference stated in 2019 that 'Health-related QoL is a multidimensional concept referring to the patient's subjective perception of the effect of their disease and treatment on physical, psychological and social aspects of daily life' (168). It is widely accepted that HRQoL is a subjective phenomenon and should be assessed by the patients.

1.4.2. How HRQoL is affected by cancer

Both the disease itself and its treatments will often affect a person's HRQoL. Proximal effects occur directly as a consequence of the cancer and/or treatment for the disease, such as cancer symptoms (e.g. pain, fatigue, abdominal discomfort) and side-effects from treatment (e.g. nausea, vomiting, CIPN) (169). These effects may in turn affect a person's ability to function and their overall sense of well-being, causing distal effects. Cancer and its treatments can impact psychological well-being both directly or indirectly, via experience of symptoms, side-effects and loss of functional ability (Figure 3) (170). Additionally, both proximal and distal effects are modified by patient-specific factors (e.g. personality, comorbidity), and external factors (e.g. family support, finances, culture, access to health care). Since distal outcomes to

a greater extent will be influenced by factors external to healthcare, a proximal outcome is more likely to be more sensitive to treatment effects than a distal measure, and this should be taken into account when choosing HRQoL instruments in clinical trials (170).



Fig. 3. How cancer affects HRQoL: proximal versus distal effects.

Reprinted from Rutherford C et al. (2018) Health-Related Quality of Life in Cancer. In: Olver I (eds) The MASCC Textbook of Cancer Supportive Care and Survivorship. With permission from Springer Nature.

1.4.3. Patient reported outcome measures (PROMS)

In 2006, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) defined the term 'patient-reported outcome' (PRO) as 'a measurement of any aspect of a patient's health status that comes directly from the patient, without the interpretation of the patient's responses by a physician or anyone else' (171). PROs can be symptoms (e.g. pain, anxiety, nausea, fatigue), aspects of functioning (e.g. role, physical, emotional, social) or multidimensional constructs such as HRQoL. A patient reported outcome measure (PROM) is the tool used to measure the PRO, usually a standardized questionnaire (172). Hence, a HRQoL questionnaire is one example of a PROM.

The patients' perspectives, as being fundamental to ensure high quality health services, have gained increased recognition over the last decades (173). Both the US FDA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) encourage incorporating PROs in clinical trials (174, 175). Although PROMS were originally developed for use in research, their applications have broadened to several other settings, such as supporting clinical decision making and comparing outcomes among health-care providers, stimulating quality improvement, and evaluating practices and policies (176-178).

There are two main categories of PROMS: condition-specific and generic. Generic PROMS measure health concepts that are relevant to a wide range of patient groups, while condition-specific PROMS capture elements of health relevant to a particular patient group or condition (172). EQ-5D is an example of a generic PROM, it includes five questions asking about the patient's health that day, mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression (179). An example of a condition-specific PROM, is the widely used EORTC QLQ-C30, developed by the EORTC to assess the QoL of patients with cancer. This is the core instrument, containing 30 questions examining global QoL, functions and symptoms relevant to a broad range of cancer patients, irrespective of a specific cancer diagnosis (180). In addition, the EORTC has developed several modules targeting symptoms and outcomes of different cancer diagnoses (e.g. EORTC QLQ-CIPN20) (181). The QLQ-C30 has been translated and validated in over 110 languages, and it has been used in more than 3 000 studies worldwide (168). Numerous PROMS have been developed, and in the literature more than 300 generic and condition-specific PROMS have been identified (172).

The questionnaire together with the algorithm used to transform responses into scale scores for analysis and reporting is often referred to as the HRQoL instrument. Developing a HRQoL or other PRO instruments is a lengthy process involving careful item selection, informed by the literature review and expert and patient opinion, and testing of the instruments' validity and reliability with populations of interest (175, 182). PROMS should satisfy certain properties as validity, reliability, sensitivity, and responsiveness (170, 183-185). *Validity* refers to what extent the instrument measures what it is supposed to measure, and the *reliability* of a measurement is its ability to yield reproducible and consistent results. In the context of HRQoL, *sensitivity* is the ability to discriminate different states of HRQoL, while *responsiveness* is the ability to detect change in HRQoL.

1.4.4. HRQoL during palliative chemotherapy for mCRC

With advancements in the oncology field with more treatment options to extend survival, the need to assess HRQoL in addition to merely survival has been acknowledged. During the 1980s there was an exponential growth of methods to measure HRQoL, and inclusion of HRQoL as an endpoint in cancer clinical trials (170). In 1985, the US FDA called for HRQoL data as one of the 'key efficacy parameters' in clinical trials for new anticancer therapies (186). The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) treatment guidelines reinforced in 1996, that HRQoL was one of three key endpoints for cancer clinical trials in addition to response and survival (187). As described above, this has been repeated by major health authorities worldwide (174, 175).

HRQoL can be affected by cancer and its treatments in different ways through the disease trajectory from diagnosis through curative, adjuvant, palliative and end-of-life care. The intent of treatment will vary between curative and palliative, as well as the symptoms and side-effects (188). Patients will also differ in which HRQoL outcomes they are willing to trade off for specific treatment benefits (symptom palliation or increased chances of survival) (170).

When cure is not an option, main treatment goals of advanced CRC are prolongation of life, symptom relief, and maintenance of QoL. Knowledge of treatment effects from different chemotherapy regimens is mainly derived from RCTs which usually constitute highly selected patients who may not be representative for the whole patient population. Participants in RCTs are often younger, with a median age typically 10 years below the general patient population, and with a better performance status (PS) (189, 190). Still, treatment guidelines are based on such trials. Since elderly patients are underrepresented in RCTs, there have been concerns whether these patients will tolerate palliative chemotherapy as good as their younger counterparts.

In RCTs investigating new chemotherapy regimens, the strategy often is treatment to progression or unacceptable toxicity (32-34). In contrast, the clinical practice in Northern Europe is to introduce a chemo-break in a stop-and-go manner or maintenance therapy with a milder regimen to let patients recover from side effects of treatment (35). Several trials have explored whether maintenance or intermittent treatment is preferable regarding efficacy and tolerability, but no final consensus has been established (191-195). In a meta-analysis from 2020, Sonbol et al. concluded that there is no clear overall survival (OS) benefit with either

strategy, but a maintenance strategy is preferred (196). More information from real-life populations regarding effects and side-effects from different treatment regimens is needed for patients to make well-informed choices on receiving chemotherapy, withholding treatment, or introducing a chemo-break.

1.4.5. Investigating HRQoL in real-life mCRC populations.

Several observational studies have investigated HRQoL among CRC patients receiving chemotherapy (197-207), but to our knowledge none comparing changes in HRQoL between younger (<70 years) and older from a real-world unselected cohort of mCRC patients the first year of palliative chemotherapy.

An Austrian prospective single-centre observational study assessed HRQoL across the various lines of palliative chemotherapy among 100 consecutive mCRC patients starting a new line of treatment (199). The HRQoL instrument used was the EORTC QLQ-C30. Patients were followed up to three years with regular assessments. A steady worsening of physical functioning, fatigue, pain, dyspnoea and appetite from first-line chemotherapy to the later treatment phases was found, while global QoL, emotional function and role function improved somewhat after the end of first-line chemotherapy, only to deteriorate again during second and later lines of chemotherapy. Lower symptom burden and better QoL among patients achieving a treatment response, compared to those with progressive disease, were also observed.

A prospective longitudinal observational study performed in Oslo compared symptom burden and QoL of 120 CRC patients receiving curative (n=68) versus palliative (n=52) chemotherapy before start and during the first six months of chemotherapy (200-202). Symptoms were assessed with the Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale (MSAS), and QoL with the Medical Outcomes Study Short Form-12 (SF-12). Assessments were repeated at multiple time points: Baseline, days 4 and 8 of the two first cycles of chemotherapy, right before start of the second cycle, and after three and six months. Before start of treatment, an average of ten co-occurring symptoms were present among patients in both groups, the most prevalent (present in 50-65%) being worrying, lack of energy, feeling drowsy or bloated, pain and difficulty sleeping. No significant differences were found between the two patient groups (201). During treatment, patients experienced greatest symptom severity in the days following the administration of chemotherapy; these were lack of energy, numbness/tingling (oxaliplatin group), and nausea. Palliative patients reported higher pain scores over time, as well as for lack of energy. Severity of worrying decreased over time in both groups, whereas younger age was significantly associated with higher scores on worrying and lack of energy (202). Finally, this study demonstrated that CRC patients had worse physical and mental QoL scores than the general population at all the time points, impaired physical QoL was significantly associated with psychological symptom burden and symptoms of CIPN, and impaired mental QoL was associated with physical symptom burden, being female, having younger age, and having problems with sexual interest (200).

A large German cohort study regularly assessed HRQoL for up to five years in 2314 patients with metastatic breast-, pancreatic-, lung- or CRC (207). The primary aim was to examine the association of disease progression with various HRQoL domains. The CRC group constituted 702 patients, and HRQoL was assessed with the QLQ-C30. The first disease progression was associated with a significant worsening of 37 of 45 HRQoL scales, whereas for 17 of the scales, the worsening was clinically meaningful. Irrespective of cancer type, the most affected domains were appetite loss, physical functioning and fatigue. An even larger decrease in HRQoL was associated with the second progression.

2. Aim of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to gain increased insights in the feasibility of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC, how patients experience PE during chemotherapy, and how chemotherapy affects HRQoL among patients with CRC.

More specifically, the following research questions were asked:

Paper I:

1. What is the feasibility of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC?

Paper II:

1. What are the expectations to and experiences with participating in an individually tailored and supervised PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC?

Paper III:

- With key focus on global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain, nausea and vomiting - How is HRQoL changing in older (> 70 years) compared with younger CRC patients the first year of palliative chemotherapy in a real-life population?
- 2. What is the impact of a chemo-break on HRQoL?

3. Material and methods

3.1. Methodological framework

Methods used in the present thesis are derived from two different scientific traditions; the quantitative and the qualitative paradigms. In the field of medicine and oncology, quantitative research methods have long traditions, with the RCT being held as the gold standard for measuring the effectiveness of a new treatment or intervention (208). Qualitative research has its roots in social science, but has in recent decades gained increased recognition in health science, realising that knowledge is more than what can be objectively weighed and measured; medical and healthcare knowledge encompasses people's experiences with disease, health and encounters with the health care system, among others, as well (209).

Different philosophical worldviews, or epistemologies and ontologies, frame the different research methods. Coming from a tradition of quantitative research, discussing which philosophical and theoretical assumptions are informing one's analysis, is not so common. This is more common (and expected) in the qualitative paradigms, as there are different assumptions that can underpin an analysis, of which some could be at odds with a specific method(ology) (210, 211). Quantitative research is typically based on a realist ontology and post-positivist epistemology: A world knowable through systematic observation and experimentation. (212). An ontological position of realism assumes the existence of objective reality. Positivism was the dominant epistemological framework underpinning scientific research for centuries, assuming an objective reality and the possibility of generating objective knowledge about this through the appropriate application of scientific methods. Post-positivism retains positivism's belief in the existence of an objective reality and objective knowledge remains the ideal, but observation is acknowledged to be imperfect and influenced by the researcher's values and culture (212).

Qualitative research methods encompass a wide range and diversity of theoretical frameworks and research approaches. It is not one single approach, but they share some common features, such as focusing on meaning – from understanding situated meaning to interrogating meaning-making practises (212). They are research strategies for description, analysis and interpretation of character traits and characteristics or qualities of the phenomena to be studied (209). The epistemology underpinning 'true' qualitative research is non-positivist (e.g.

43

contextualism, constructionism) (212). Contextualism views knowledge, and the humans who created it, as contextually situated, partial and perspectival, while constructionism is founded on the premise that research practices produce rather than reveal evidence, and is based on the assumption that that reality is subjective and changing, and dependent on its context (212).

Although the present thesis applies methods derived from different scientific traditions, our work is situated within the post-positivist worldview. Given the research question addressing the feasibility of a PE intervention in paper I, utilizing qualitative methods exploring participants' experiences from such an intervention seemed appropriate. Thematic Analysis (TA) is a qualitative method which we have employed in paper II. It is a method for analysing themes within data (213), with the data in the present work being transcripts from semi-structured interviews of CRC patients participating in a supervised PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy.

3.2. Study design and patient population

The analyses of this thesis are based on data from two different patient populations: CRC patients engaging in a supervised PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy and CRC patients during palliative chemotherapy.

Paper I is the primary publication of the FAKT feasibility study. This was a single-centre, non-randomized interventional study with a pre-post design evaluating the feasibility of a PE intervention and data collection among patients during adjuvant treatment for CRC (Additionally, one participant was recruited from Ålesund hospital in order to prepare this hospital for the upcoming RCT).

Paper II is a qualitative study exploring (in a longitudinal manner) the experiences of CRC patients participating in a supervised PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy.

Paper III is based on HRQoL data from subjects in the mCRC study the first year of palliative chemotherapy. The mCRC study was a prospective, longitudinal observational study of real-world patients with metastatic or inoperable CRC in the health region of Middle-Norway.

The FAKT feasibility study included CRC patients commencing adjuvant chemotherapy, and the main inclusion criteria were:

- Radical resection for stage II–IV CRC within the last 3 months and scheduled for adjuvant chemotherapy.
- Age 18–80 years.
- Performance status 0–2 according to the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.
- Ability to conduct the intervention based on the treating physician's assessment and ability to understand Norwegian language.
- No serious comorbidity contraindicating PE and no treatment for other invasive cancers during the five past years.

The mCRC study included patients with metastatic or inoperable CRC, and the main inclusion criteria were:

- Newly diagnosis of metastatic or non-resectable CRC.
- Age ≥ 18 years.
- Written informed consent.

FAKT feasibility study, 2016-2018, n=19

As a preparation for a future RCT, aiming to investigate whether a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC could reduce the development of CRF and CIPN, the FAKT feasibility study was performed at St. Olav's and Ålesund hospitals. The primary aim was to evaluate the feasibility of a PE intervention and data collection among patients during adjuvant treatment for CRC. The secondary aims were to explore post-intervention changes in CIPN and fatigue.

mCRC study, 2014-2018, n=354

The aim of the mCRC-study was to evaluate treatment and patient care given to unselected 'real life' patients during their disease trajectories.

Eligible patients were consecutively included from the seven hospitals in Mid-Norway. Patient- and tumour characteristics were recorded at baseline. All tumour directed treatment, response of treatment, toxicity and time of death were prospectively recorded. HRQoL was assessed with EORTC QLQ-C30. Questionnaires were filled in at inclusion and were sent with a pre-stamped return envelope every second month lifelong.

In our work in paper III, we focused on the patient population in the mCRC study who started first line palliative chemotherapy, aiming to investigate changes in HRQoL the first year of treatment. Only patients who had filled in the baseline questionnaire and were scheduled to start first line palliative chemotherapy were included in this work (n=214).

	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	
Enrolment period	Dec. 2016 – Nov. 2018 ¹	Jan. 2018 – Oct. 2020 ²	Sep. 2014 – Nov. 2018	
Number of centres	2	2	7	
Location	Mid-Norway	Mid-Norway	Mid-Norway	
Numbers included	19	15	214	
Age (years)				
Median	63	65	69	
Range	33-80	43-80	27-89	
Gender (%)				
Male	52,6	53,3	59,8	
Female	47,4	46,7	40,2	
PS (%)				
0	47,4	66,7	46,3	
1	47,4	33,3	41,6	
2	5,2	0	12,1	
Stage of disease (%)				
III	78,9	86,7	0	
IV	21,1	13,3	100	
Intent of treatment (%)				
Curative	100	100	0	
Palliative	0	0	100	

Table 2. Characteristics of patients included in papers I-III.

¹One participant was recruited from Ålesund hospital preparing for the upcoming RCT.

²Additional five participants were recruited from the upcoming FAKT RCT (76).

3.3. Treatments

In the FAKT- feasibility study, the patients received adjuvant combination- or monotherapy for three to six months according to general guidelines, irrespective of study participation. Similarly, patients in the mCRC study received first line palliative chemotherapy in line with general guidelines, clinical practice and at the discretion of the treating physician, irrespective of study participation.

3.3.1. Physical exercise intervention

The PE intervention was individually adjusted and supervised, and it comprised progressive aerobic endurance-, resistance-, and balance exercises. A physiotherapist, certified in giving PE for cancer patients, supervised the PE sessions twice a week at a specialized outpatient training facility for cancer patients located within the hospital area. Additionally, the participants were encouraged to perform one weekly, unsupervised PE session with endurance- and balance exercises. Duration of the PE program was 12-24 weeks, same as duration of the adjuvant chemotherapy.

Each session comprised 10 min warmup, 20 min aerobic endurance-, 15 min resistance-, and 15 min balance exercises. The warmup and endurance exercises were performed on a treadmill. Endurance exercise was standardized as a gradual approach to intervals of four min (Table 3). The Borg's scale (214) was used to instruct the participants regarding intensity and to map the participants' rate of perceived exertion (RPE). The physiotherapist recorded RPE after warmup and following each interval. On a scale from six (no effort) to 20 (maximal effort), the participants reported how strenuous the PE was (RPE). For progression, the intensity of the interval training was increased during the intervention period; from 12–14 ('somewhat hard') on Borg's scale in weeks 1-16 to 14–16 ('hard') from week 17.

The resistance exercises aimed at large muscle groups and followed a period plan that involved individually tailored progression according to standardized training principles (Table 3). During the first two weeks, the focus was adaptation, learning of technique, and intensity management. In weeks 3-8, participants performed the PEs with submaximal intensity (low resistance, up to 12 repetitions in three series) to account for any postoperative limitations (e.g. avoiding high abdominal pressure and pain provocation). In weeks 9-16, PE load was adjusted based on the weight the participant managed to lift a maximum 10 times and repeated in three series. In the last period (weeks 17-24), intensity was increased by reducing the number of repetitions (6-8) and increasing the number of series (3-4) to work up to maximum strength. In line with individually adapted progression, manual weights, elastic bands, and various exercise equipments were used.

Balance training consisted of a set of exercises, lasting 15-20 minutes, to be performed on various surfaces (floor, cushions, or bosu balls). Individual tailoring was based on the physiotherapist making a selection from a standardised pool of exercises with increasing difficulty from static to dynamic balance, and progress was monitored in the two weekly supervised sessions.

Aerobic endurance exercise							
Period/exercise	Duration	Borg's scale					
Week 1 – 2							
Walking on treadmill ¹	5 min	12 - 14					
Week 3 – 8							
Intervals of uphill walking	$4 - 6 \ge 2 \min$	12 - 14					
Week 9 – 16		10.11					
Intervals of uphill walking	$3 - 4 \times 3 \min$	12 - 14					
Week $17 - 24$	4 m 2 4 min	14 16					
Intervals of uphill walking $4 \times 3 - 4 \min 14 - 16$							
Kesista	lince exercise						
Period/exercise	Period	Repetitions (reps)					
Week 1 - 8	Week 1	1 x 12 reps					
Knee extension	Week 2	2 x 12 reps					
Sitting chest press	Week 3 - 8	3 x 12 reps					
Standing rowing		_					
Seat raise							
Week 9 - 24	Week 9 – 16	3 x 10 reps					
Leg press	Week 17 - 24	$3 \times 8 \text{ RM}^2 / 4 \times 6 \text{ RM}$					
Oblique Seated chest press with manuals							
Standing rowing							
Back lying one leg lowering							

Table 3. Endurance and resistance exercise.

¹Getting accustomed to the treadmill ${}^{2}RM =$ repetition maximum

The mCRC study was an observational study, and there was no study intervention.

3.4. Assessments and outcome measures

In paper I, the FAKT feasibility study, participants filled in questionnaires at baseline, after 3, 6, 9, and 12 months, and they performed physical tests at baseline, after 3, and after 6 months. The questionnaires used were the EORTC QLQ-C30, EORTC QLQ-CIPN20, and the Fatigue Questionnaire (FQ) (180, 215, 216). To assess self-reported PA level, a questionnaire for patient-reported PA developed for use in the North Trondelag Health Study (HUNT) was used (217). Physical tests were 'Modified Shuttle walk', 'Sit-to-stand', 'Tandem stance', and 'Unipedal stance' (218-221). Demographic variables, clinical characteristics, treatment given, and sick leave were also assessed.

In the qualitative study in paper II, individual, semi-structured interviews were performed at baseline, after three and six months, following an interview-guide.

In paper III, the EORTC QLQ-C30 was collected at baseline and every second month. Patient- and tumour characteristics and the different treatments given, with response, were prospectively recorded.

3.4.1. Quantitative measures

Feasibility outcomes

- Willingness to participate; the rate of consenting participants among those invited for participation.
- (2) Inclusion rate; the number of included participants among eligible participants identified.
- (3) Dropout rate; the number of participants who withdrew from the study among consenting participants. These were termed 'dropouts', while the rest were termed 'completers'.
- (4) Attendance to supervised PE; the rate of performed sessions compared to the number of planned sessions.
- (5) Adherence to supervised PE; the content of each session when a participant met was compared to the PE program according to protocol.

- (6) Attendance to unsupervised PE; the number of performed unsupervised PE sessions divided by the number of unsupervised PE sessions according to protocol.
- (7) Safety; any serious adverse events (SAEs), occurring from the participants started the intervention until 1 month after the end of the intervention were registered, and any adverse event occurring during supervised PE was noted.
- (8) Completion rate of questionnaires and physical testing

Reasons for declining study participation, dropping out or not attending PE sessions were recorded, if known.

Chemotherapy induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN)

The self-reported questionnaire, EORTC QLQ-CIPN 20, is a 20 questions QoL form, developed to reveal patients' experience of symptoms and functional limitations related to CIPN. It has three subscales; a sensory, motor and autonomous (181). Measuring changes in patient-reported CIPN between baseline and three months after inclusion, we used the 9-item sensory subscale, since the sensory peripheral neuropathy is the most pronounced induced by oxaliplatin. Each item is rated on a scale from 1 ('not at all') to 4 ('very much'). The raw score (RS) in CIPN is calculated by the sum of each item's score (1–4), divided by the number of items. The RS is then transformed into a scale from 0 to 100, as described in the EORTC scoring manual (222), resulting the score (S), where higher S indicates worse CIPN. For each participant, S at baseline was subtracted from S at month 3 after inclusion, to calculate the change in CIPN.

Fatigue

The self-reported Fatigue Questionnaire (FQ) contains 13 questions, is generic and has well documented psychometric properties (216). Each question is rated on a scale from 0 ('not at all' or 'less than usual') to 3 ('much worse than usual'). FQ measures physical fatigue (PF) (seven questions, scores 0–21) and mental fatigue (MF) (four questions, scores 0–12). All questions combined give total fatigue (TF) (scores 0-33). Higher score indicates more fatigue. For each participant, PF and MF scores at baseline were subtracted from PF and MF scores at month 3 after inclusion, to calculate the changes in PF and MF during the intervention period.

Physical activity (PA)

Assessing self-reported PA level, a questionnaire for patient-reported PA developed for use in the North Trondelag Health Study (HUNT) was utilized (217). This is a three-item questionnaire on leisure-time PA regarding frequency, intensity, and duration (three–five alternatives) giving rise to a PA index, placing the participants in three different levels of activity, from low to high. In paper II, PA level at baseline among participants in the qualitative study is presented.

HRQoL

The EORTC QLQ-C30 version 3.0 was used assessing HRQoL in paper III (180). This is a cancer-specific, self-reported questionnaire aggregating 30 items, constituting five functioning scales, three symptom scales, six single items and one overall QoL scale covering the past week. The two items assessing overall health and QoL are scored on a categorical scale from 1 to 7 giving rise to global QoL, and the rest of the items are scored from 1 ('not at all') to 4 ('very much'). Higher scores on the functioning and global QoL scales indicate better functioning, while higher scores on the symptom scales and single items indicate more symptoms.

HRQoL scores are transformed into a scale from 0 to 100, as described in the EORTC scoring manual (222). Changes or differences in QoL scores of >20, 10-20, and 5-10 points are considered to be of large, moderate, and small clinical magnitude, respectively (223). Comparing means of different QoL scores between groups or over time, a threshold of 5-10 is considered the minimally important difference (MID) (224). No imputation of missing data was performed.

At baseline and after 12 months, all domains from the QLQ-C30 are presented according to age group, comparing younger (<70 years) vs. older (\geq 70 years). Describing changes in HRQoL, the key six domains are global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain and nausea/vomiting. The domains were chosen based on what clinicians often experience is affected by cancer and its treatments, and thus often reflected in clinical studies in this patient population (225).

Impact on HRQoL of a chemo-break

To evaluate the impact of a chemo-break, the time period between months six and eight was chosen, since clinical guidelines often recommend to consider a chemo-break after six months of treatment (12, 226). To be eligible for this analysis, patients had to have returned questionnaires at both time points, and to be on treatment and not having progressive disease at month six.

3.4.2. Qualitative inquiry

Semi-structured interviews

To explore participants' expectations to and experiences with individually adjusted and supervised PE during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC, individual, semi-structured interviews were performed with a prospective longitudinal design, before, during and right after completion of the intervention period.

To best gain knowledge of the topic of the study aim, purposive sampling was used (227), meaning recruiting participants that were about to, or were participating in supervised PE during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. Consecutive participants entering PE interventions during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC were invited in a separate written information- and consent form to participate in the qualitative study between Jan. 2018 and Oct. 2020.

The interviews were held in a private room at the hospital and scheduled in concordance with the patients' other appointments. A semi-structured interview guide was used to ensure guidance to the aim of exploring patients' expectations to and experiences with engaging in a supervised PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. The interview guide covered topics based on results from previous studies regarding factors providing motivation and barriers to exercise during cancer treatment. Based on experiences from the first interviews, the interview guide was adjusted. The interviewers strived to use broad openended questions, allowing for pauses to facilitate sharing of information, and to use follow up questions to get deeper understandings. The interviews lasted 20-45 minutes, were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim.

Three researchers, none of which were involved in the medical treatment or supervising the PE intervention, conducted the different interviews. One was a physiotherapist (SAS) having long experience with cancer patients, the other an oncologist (IH) (the PhD candidate), and the third a psychologist and an experienced qualitative researcher (JAS), supervising the two others, considered as novices in the field of qualitative research. The first 15 interviews were performed by SAS as part of her master's project and the next four by IH in order to get familiar with the research method. Given the inexperience in qualitative research of the two first, the rest of the interviews were performed by JAS, aiming to provide more richness and depth to the data.

During the study period, 15 participants at St. Olav's University Hospital (n=14) and Aalesund Hospital (n=1) provided 29 interviews distributed over the three time points (baseline, after 3 and 6 months). Inclusion was stopped based on the research group's agreement that the collected data contained sufficient information to provide answers to the research question and provide new knowledge to the research field (228, 229).

Table 4 provides baseline characteristics of the participants included in the interview study.

No. of patients	15
Age, years, median [range]	65 [43-80]
Males	8
Females	7
Stoma	
Yes	2
No	13
Type of surgery	
Laparoscopy	7
Open	8
Stage ¹	
III	13
IV	2
Adjuvant treatment planned	
3 months Capox	4
6 months Capox	8
6 months Capecitabine	3
Marital status	
Living alone	7
Married/partner	8
Employment	
Working	7
Partly working/partly disabled	2
Retired	6
Education	
Elementary or high school	6
College/university	9
Self-reported physical activity	
Low levels of activity	7
Medium activity	4
High activity	4

Table 4. Patient characteristics in the interview study

¹Stage according to TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours, 8th edition

3.5. Analysis

3.5.1. Quantitative analysis

No formal sample size calculations were performed due to the feasibility- and observational designs of the FAKT and mCRC studies, respectively. For the FAKT study, it was estimated that 20 participants could be recruited within a year at St. Olav's hospital, and this number was considered to be sufficient in evaluating whether the intervention and test procedures were feasible and in estimating the sample size for the larger RCT. In the mCRC study, consecutive patients were included at the seven hospitals in Mid-Norway within a given time frame.

In paper I, feasibility outcomes are presented using descriptive statistics and simple arithmetic. Continuous variables are reported by median values, range, and standard deviation (SD). Also in paper III, statistical analyses performed are mainly descriptive, mean scores are compared between groups with the two-sample t-test, and for the survival analyses the Kaplan-Meier method is used. The Log Rank test is used comparing survival between groups. Patient baseline characteristics are described with median and range (continuous variables) or with numbers and percentages (categorical variables), and compared between groups with the Pearson's Chi-Square test, which also is used comparing individual changes from baseline to month four and twelve. A two-sided p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. The analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics versions 25 (paper I) and 28 (paper III).

3.5.2. Thematic Analysis

The interviews were analysed using TA as described by Braun and Clarke in 2006 (213). This is a method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns (themes) within data. Advantages with TA are its flexibility, its independence of theory and epistemology, and hence can be applied across a range of theoretical and epistemological approaches (213). A main reason for choosing TA, was that it was considered easily accessible to beginners in qualitative research. The analytic process is guided by six phases: 1. Familiarizing yourself with your data, 2. Generating initial codes, 3. Searching for themes, 4. Reviewing themes, 5. Defining and naming themes, and 6. Producing the report. In later work, Braun and Clarke have developed

and refined their method, and they have renamed it reflexive TA (210, 212, 230). Also, they have suggested dividing TA into three different clusters, named 'coding reliability', 'codebook' and 'reflexive' variations (210). Our analysis in paper II is based on the method described in the original article from 2006, not the codebook or coding reliability variants.

Given the explorative nature of our work, no theoretical framework was applied to guide our analysis, which was more data-driven and was approached in an inductive way. We took an experiential orientation centring the meanings and experiences articulated by participants, who were given the opportunity to tell about their experiences in their own words (212). Further, our work assumed and ontological position of critical realism and a post-positivist epistemology. Critical realism provides a position that retains a concept of truth and reality, but recognises that human practices always shape how we experience and know this (212).

The analytic process started by reading and re-reading all the transcribed interviews. The whole research team for paper II read the interviews, generated codes and suggested initial themes. Additionally, the PhD candidate (IH) listen through all the audio recorded interviews at least once. The research team had regular meetings, discussing initial findings, reflecting over what was in the data, discussing codes and initial themes. A code represents the most basic element of the raw data that can be assessed in a meaningful way. Examples of codes in our work could be 'loss of energy', 'desire to relax' and 'gratitude'.

All the interviews were coded systematically, and data extracts relevant to each code were collated. Two examples of data extracts corresponding to the code, 'gratitude', were: "I don't know, just hope all people in the whole world get the opportunity to do this, anytime really, but especially when you're sick and need some extra help...not to push you, but they're there in a way," and "I'm just so happy that I got to participate, very happy that I was selected."

The codes were then collated into potential themes. Codes that seemed to have something in common, were put together. We organized this by using tables in Microsoft Word. One column for the codes, and three columns for the three time points (baseline, after 3 and 6 months). Data extracts were sorted according to participant number, time point and corresponding code. JAS and IH were mainly involved in this process, which was a recursive one, discussing back and forth, moving codes between different themes. Re-reading the interviews was also done, making sure the themes worked in relation to the data set.

Initially, we generated six themes. Two of these where discarded, both because of word limits provided by the journal, but also because they were considered less relevant for the research question. These themes were 'disease experiences' and 'side-effect experiences'. Having agreed on the four themes, named them, and organized the collated data extracts for each theme, writing an analysis for each theme was done. We aimed to provide a concise, coherent, logical and non-repetitive account of the story the data told. Finally, quotations were supplied the analysis, as examples of the different issues. We chose quotations from a wide variety of the participants, avoiding using data extracts just from a few.

Our analysis was mostly on a semantic level, exploring meaning on the surface/explicit level, but also touching the more latent, exploring meaning at the more underlying or implicit level. The initial design was to explore relevant themes in a pre-post fashion, but the prolonged therapeutic period for a minority of the participants allowed for additional elements of a longitudinal analysis (231). Although JAS and IH were mainly involved in the last phases of the analysis, the whole research team participated in discussions regarding the analysis, read through, and approved the final report.

Braun and Clarke place their refined version of reflexive TA under Big Q qualitative research, with epistemologies underpinning 'true' qualitative research being non-positivist (212). Kidder and Fine used the term Big Q for 'fully qualitative' research in contrast to the use of qualitative data in a limited way, or with values more aligned to quantitative positivist research, which they designated 'small q' qualitative research (232). In the present work, our research should be categorized as small q, in line with other mainstream qualitative research in medicine. We considered the described approach being sufficient for the aim of our project.

3.6. Ethics

The FAKT feasibility study and the accompanying qualitative study were approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Northern Norway (Record no. 2015/1050/REK nord). After provided with both oral and written information, all participants gave their written consent. A separate written consent was obtained for the interview-study, and information regarding the qualitative study was repeated before starting the interviews.

The mCRC-study was approved by the Norwegian Data Protection Authority (Reference no. 36627 13 /01039-6 / CGN), and the work provided in paper III was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Middle Norway (Reference no. 216433). Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study after being provided oral and written information.

All participants were informed that they at any time, without providing any reason, and without any consequences for future treatment or care, could withdraw from the study. The studies were performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments.

4. Results of papers

4.1. Paper I

Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer—a nonrandomized feasibility study

Between December 2016 and November 2018, 52 potential participants were identified at the Cancer Clinic, St. Olav's hospital. In addition, one participant was identified and recruited from Ålesund hospital. Nine patients were found ineligible, and additionally 14 eligible patients were not asked for participation, mainly due to long travel distance to the hospital. With 19 consenting to participate among the 30 eligible patients asked, the willingness to participate was 63 %, and the inclusion rate was 43% (19 among 44 eligible).

Five of the 19 included never started the intervention; two because of serious complications after the first course of chemotherapy, and further adjuvant chemotherapy was stopped, two withdrew consent shortly after inclusion, reporting having 'too much going' and having transportation issues, and the fifth dropout was not contacted, due to misunderstanding. Further two participants dropped out after one and four PE sessions, respectively. One reported pre-existing back pain got worse, and the other did not show up after the first session despite repeated proposals of new appointments. Total dropout rate was 37% (7 of 19).

The median rate of attendance to supervised PE was 85% (range 33-100). The median adherence to supervised endurance, resistance, and balance exercises was 96, 95, and 100%, respectively. The planned increase in intensity of endurance exercise from the first to the second intervention period was not achieved, as the intensity of the endurance exercise was slightly lower in the second period (week 17–24) with a median of 13,5 on Borg's scale, opposed to 14 in the first period (week 1–16). Only four participants achieved the planned intervals of 4 times 3–4 min. (Table 5). Median attendance rate to unsupervised PE was 59% (42-88), but was systematically registered only in the second half of the completers.

During supervised PE, no adverse events were registered. The SAEs registered during the intervention period, none with a temporal relationship with the PE intervention, were most likely related to the adjuvant chemotherapy.

	According to	Ν	Median	Range	SD
	protocol				
Planned sessions (number)	48	12	44	[22, 46]	7.6
Performed sessions (number)		12	37.5	[12, 46]	11.1
Attendance to supervised exercise (%)		12	85.4	[33.3, 100]	19.9
Adherence to supervised endurance		12	95.8	[81.6, 100]	6.9
exercise (%) ¹					
Borg's scale week 1 - 16	12 - 14	12	14	[12, 16]	1.1
Borg's scale week 17 - 24	14 - 16	10	13.5	[12, 16]	1.5
Adherence to supervised resistance		12	94.5	[76.5, 100]	6.5
exercise (%) ¹					
Adherence to supervised balance		12	100	[86.5, 100]	4.3
exercise (%) ¹					
Did participants achieve 4 times 3-4	Ν				
minutes intervals?					
Yes	4				
No	6				
Not applicable ²	2				

Table 5. Attendance and adherence to supervised exercise

¹Adherence to the exercise programme when a participant met.

²Adjuvant chemotherapy and the intervention lasted less than 17 weeks.

The completion rate of questionnaires was close to 100%, and the completion rate of physical testing was 100%. Eighteen of 19 consenting participants completed the baseline questionnaires. At 3, 6, and 12 months, all 12 completers returned the questionnaires, with the QLQ-C30 missing in one participant at 12 months. At 9 months, 11 of 12 were completed, with the CIPN20 and FQ missing in one participant.

The symptoms of CIPN increased from baseline to three months after inclusion with a median increase of 14.8 on a scale from 0-100. Physical fatigue (PF) decreased one point on a scale from 0-21, and mental fatigue (MF) increased one point on a scale from 0-12 (Table 6).

		CIPN ¹			PF ²			MF ³		
	N	Median	Range	SD	Median	Range	SD	Median	Range	SD
T_0^4	10	0.5	[0, 33.3]	10.3	16.0	[6.0, 24.0]	6.3	4.5	[4.0, 8.0]	1.3
$T_1{}^5$	10	20.4	[0, 44.4]	13.0	15.0	[7.0, 25.0]	5.5	5.5	[4.0, 10.0]	2.1
$T_1 - T_0$	10	14.8	[-3.7, 25.9]	9.6	- 1.0	[-6.0, 13.0]	5.9	1.0	[0, 5.0]	1.6

Table 6. Individual changes in patient-reported chemotherapy induced peripheral neuropathy and fatigue.

¹European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Chemotherapy Induced Peripheral Neuropathy 20 sensory subscale (score 0-100)

²*Physical fatigue from Fatigue Questionnaire (score 0-21)*

³*Mental fatigue from Fatigue Questionnaire (score 0-12)*

⁴Baseline

⁵After 3 months

4.2. Paper II

Colorectal cancer patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy - A qualitative study

Paper II addresses patients' expectations to and experiences with participating in an individually tailored and supervised PE program while undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. Four main themes developed were 'structuring life with cancer', 'motivation to exercise', 'training experiences', and 'effects of exercise'.

'Structuring life with cancer' refers to patients seeing several potential benefits of being included in the study, as hoping for positive effects of exercise, but also an opportunity to structure their lives as cancer patients through scheduled appointments and commitments. The importance of filling the days when on sick leave, in addition to avoid isolation were recognized, as well as advantages from getting out instead of sitting indoors doing nothing. It gave them something to look forward to, and regular appointments contributed in getting up and out when feeling depressed or tired.

'Motivation to exercise' refers to patients' initial scepticism and insecurity towards participation, but also what provided motivation, such as the threat of losing strength. There was faith in exercise, both being good for your physical and mental health, including a hope that exercise might increase the efficacy of chemotherapy. Both external and internal sources for exercise motivation was demonstrated. Regular appointments with the physiotherapist reinforced motivation, making participants feel obliged to attend, as well as the guidance from a professional gave a sense of security, providing motivation to perform a little extra. Motivation could be threatened if a session for some reason was cancelled, if the exercises were found boring, and when the participants felt fatigued. Providing motivation could be earlier experiences of symptoms decreasing during and after exercise. With time, an ambition to continue exercising without supervision after the study period also emerged, reflecting a change from outer to inner motivation.

'Training experiences' describes the variations in previous experience with PE among the participants from almost nothing to regular exercising. A common feature was the appreciation of walking outdoors. Both in and between individuals, variations in physical fitness and how they responded to exercise, were observed. Starting chemotherapy after

recovering from surgery, would give a setback, and physical fitness could vary within each chemotherapy cycle. The main obstacle to attending a training session was intercurrent illness. A factor contributing to the high adherence was individual adjustments made by the staff to accommodate various complaints.

[•]Effects of exercise' refers both to the hopes of effects prior to entering the program and the experienced effects of PE. Participants hoped that PE would improve their endurance and strength, regaining their pre-cancerous physical status and resuming activities they had been capable of before. These hopes were paired with a belief that staying in good shape would make the treatment more tolerable, and possibly reduce long-term side effects from chemotherapy. Several positive effects of PE were perceived by the participants, such as feelings of increased energy and being in better shape right after a session, reduced symptoms of depression and feeling of joy during and after PE. Although tiredness was a regular experience after a PE session, it most often was in terms of feeling tired in a good way. Towards the end of the study period, the perceived physical fitness diverged, ranging from feeling in better shape than for a long time, to feeling major fatigued. To be able to keep in shape, increasing and keeping their strength, despite receiving chemotherapy, led to feelings of satisfaction. Additionally, symptoms from peripheral sensory neuropathy could often diminish after commencing PE, lasting for several hours.

4.3. Paper III

Do older patients with colorectal cancer experience more deterioration in health-related quality of life during the first year of palliative chemotherapy? – A prospective real-world observational study.

Among 354 patients in the mCRC-study, 214 patients were included in the present study. Major reasons for exclusion were, missing baseline form, curative treatment intent and never started palliative chemotherapy. The completion rate of QLQ-C30 among those alive to answer was 100, 88, 87, 84, 83, 80 and 78% from baseline to month 12, respectively. After one year, 146 of the originally 214 patients were still alive.

At baseline, younger patients had better PS, and a larger proportion had their primary tumour intact compared to the elderly (42% vs. 25%). A larger proportion of the elderly (73% vs. 62%) had not received earlier curative intended chemotherapy. Almost all of the younger, as opposed to 73% of the older patients were scheduled for combination chemotherapy. The addition of a monoclonal antibody was more often given to the younger (80% vs. 59%). Baseline scores among younger patients were significant worse for global QoL, pain and financial difficulties, but better for physical functioning, compared to older patients (Table 7). Except for pain, the differences between mean scores in the two age groups were of a small clinical magnitude, but above the threshold for MID. Mean score for pain was 11 points higher in the younger group.

Younger patients reported better physical functioning but more pain at all time points through the first year (Fig. 4). Both groups experienced a decline in physical functioning, increased fatigue, and less pain from baseline to four months after introduction of chemotherapy. The two groups underwent similar changes in the six selected HRQoL domains through the first year of palliative chemotherapy. Compared to baseline, mean scores for these domains were on the same level one year after initiation of chemotherapy, except for the younger experiencing improvement in pain. After 12 months, using a threshold of 5-10 for the MID, an improvement in role- and social functioning (younger), emotional functioning, insomnia and appetite loss (both groups), and a deterioration in cognitive functioning (younger) and dyspnoea (older) were reported. Except for financial difficulties, there was no significant difference between the groups after one year (Table 7).



Fig. 4. Mean scores of A) global quality of life, B) physical functioning, C) role functioning, D) fatigue, E) pain and F) nausea and vomiting, according to age group, from baseline through 12 months after start first line palliative chemotherapy. The error bars represent 95% confidence intervals. A higher score on the functioning scales indicates better function, while a higher score on the symptom scales reflects more symptoms.

	< 70 years	≥ 70 years	p **	< 70 years	≥ 70 years	p **
Time	Baseline			After 12 months		
	n = 110	n = 104		n = 58	n = 56	
Age (years)	62 (median)	75 (median)		60 (median)	76 (median)	
HRQoL	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)		Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)	
Functioning scales*						
Global QoL	57 (52-61)	64 (60-68)	0.026	59 (53-65)	63 (56-69)	0.460
Physical functioning	79 (76-83)	73 (69-77)	0.024	77 (72-83)	70 (64-76)	0.055
Role functioning	58 (51-64)	65 (58-71)	0.15	63 (56-71)	61 (53-69)	0.691
Emotional functioning	76 (73-80)	80 (76-84)	0.15	82 (76-87)	85 (80-90)	0.327
Cognitive functioning	84 (80-88)	85 (81-89)	0.679	78 (72-85)	81 (76-87)	0.695
Social functioning	61 (56-67)	69 (63-74)	0.051	66 (59-73)	69 (62-76)	0.540
Symptom scales and single	items*					
Fatigue	42 (37-47)	41 (36-46)	0.797	42 (36-48)	44 (38-51)	0.622
Nausea and vomiting	8 (5-11)	8 (5-11)	0.990	7 (4-9)	8 (3-12)	0.657
Pain	29 (23-35)	18 (13-23)	0.008	21 (14-28)	15 (9-21)	0.201
Dyspnoea	23 (18-28)	20 (15-25)	0.343	22 (14-31)	29 (21-37)	0.187
Insomnia	33 (28-39)	26 (20-31)	0.078	26 (19-34)	20 (12-28)	0.251
Appetite loss	29 (23-36)	26 (19-33)	0.470	21 (14-29)	19 (11-28)	0.852
Constipation	21 (15-26)	23 (17-29)	0.666	20 (13-27)	21 (13-28)	0.768
Diarrhoea	26 (20-31)	22 (18-28)	0.473	24 (19-30)	24 (17-31)	0.910
Financial difficulties	8 (5-12)	3 (0.4-5)	0.015	12 (6-18)	4 (1-8)	0.019

Table 7. HRQoL at baseline and after 12 months comparing younger and older patients.

CI, confidence interval; QoL, quality of life; HRQoL, health-related quality of life.

*Higher scores on the functioning scales indicate better function, while higher scores on the symptom scales and single items indicate more symptoms.

**Mean scores in age groups < and \geq 70 years compared with the two-sample t-test.

The worst mean scores for both fatigue and physical functioning were found four months after start of treatment. In this period, almost 40% of the patients in both groups experienced large deteriorations in fatigue, 25-30% experienced large deteriorations in physical- and role functioning, while on the other hand large improvements were seen in global QoL (16%), role functioning (19%) and pain (18%) (Fig. 5). There was no significant difference between the two age groups regarding individual changes from baseline to month four except for nausea and vomiting, where a larger proportion of the younger experienced a moderate deterioration.

After 12 months, 24% and 38% (not significant) of the younger and elderly, respectively, reported large deteriorations in fatigue. Otherwise, the majority of the patients belonged to the group with a small change in the selected domains one year after start of palliative chemotherapy.

Between month six and eight, 57 patients were evaluable for the impact of a chemo-break, of whom 33 and 24 patients respectively, had initiation of chemo-break or ongoing treatment from month 6. A larger proportion of females, those receiving irinotecan- and VEGFR antibody based therapy, and having RAS and BRAF wild type tumour, had initiation of a chemo-break. There was no significant difference in age between the groups. The group on continuous treatment had significant worsening of global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, nausea and vomiting from month six to eight, compared to those on a chemo-break, who demonstrated improvements in the same domains in this period (Table 8). The differences in scores between the groups ranged from 11-20 in these domains. There were no significant differences regarding change in pain in the same period or in median OS between the two groups.

Median OS in the whole population was 17.5 months [95% CI 14.4-20.5], with no significant difference between younger and older patients, being 17.4 [95% CI 12.6-22.2] vs. 18.1 months [95% CI 13.7-22.5], respectively (p=0.464).



Fig. 5. Individual changes in A) global quality of life, B) physical functioning, C) role functioning, D) fatigue, E) pain and F) nausea and vomiting from baseline to month four divided by age groups, and grouped according to the five categories; large and moderate deterioration, small change, moderate and large improvement. A difference in scores of > 20 is considered a large, from 10 - 20 a moderate deterioration/improvement, and < 10 points a small change. The y-axis represents the percentage for each age group.
Table 8. Effect on change in selected HRQoL domains and survival according to initiation of chemobreak or continued treatment from months 6 - 8 among patients not showing progressive disease at month 6.

	Ongoing treatment from month 6 – 8	Chemo-break from month 6 – 8	p**
Mean difference in HRQoL from month 6 – 8	n = 24	n = 33	
	Mean [95% CI]	Mean [95% CI]	
Change in functioning scales*			
Global QoL	-11.5 [-19.3 – -3.6]	8.3 [0.9 – 15.9]	<0.001
Physical functioning	-6.0 [-11.80.3]	4.8 [0.2 – 9.4]	0.003
Role functioning	-9.7 [-22.5 - 3.1]	4.5 [-4.0 – 13.1]	0.052
Change in symptom scales*			
Fatigue	5.8 [-3.8 – 15.4]	-13.5 [-22.5 – -4.5]	0.005
Pain	6.9 [-4.8 – 18.7]	0.0 [-6.8 – 6.8]	0.268
Nausea/vomiting	7.6 [1.8 – 13.5]	-4.5 [-7.6 – -1.5]	<0.001
Survival, months	Median [95% CI]	Median [95% CI]	
	20.8 [16.1 – 25.5]	23.6 [16.3 – 30.8]	0.730

CI, confidence interval; QoL, quality of life; HRQoL, health-related quality of life

*Positive difference on the functioning scales indicates improved function, while positive difference on the symptom scales indicates worsening of symptoms.

** Mean difference in HRQoL in the two groups compared with the two-sample t-test. Survival compared with the Log Rank test.

5. Discussion

The aim of the present thesis was to gain increased insight in the feasibility of a PE intervention during chemotherapy for CRC, how patients experience PE during chemotherapy, and how chemotherapy affects HRQoL among patients with CRC. The following sections present a discussion of the main findings from the three papers, methodological issues related to the study designs, sample sizes, choice of outcome measures and validity of the findings. Finally, conclusions of the thesis are presented before future research within the field is proposed.

5.1. Feasibility of exercise intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy

We found a high willingness to participate (63%). This is higher than in similar studies which have reported willingness of 33 - 49% (135-139). Possible reasons could be the non-randomized design and that the treating oncologists providing information had a positive attitude towards the study. The latter was not the case in one of the above mentioned studies, experiencing that the clinicians were hesitant to refer patients (139). In the present study, it was the physicians that recruited participants, possibly contributing to the higher willingness. The importance of clinicians referring patients to PE intervention has also been described in another non-randomized pilot study with supervised aerobic exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC, demonstrating a high willingness to participate of 64% (233). In that study, participants could choose their allocation to intervention or control, while in our study, all patients where to take part in the PE intervention.

Despite the high willingness to participate, the inclusion rate was only 43% among eligible patients. Long travel distance was a major barrier, as it made oncologists not asking for participation, and it made patients decline recruitment. This demonstrates the need to accommodate supervised PE closer to where patients live, especially in a country like Norway where people live scattered in more rural areas, often with long travel distances to the hospital.

The dropout rate in the present study was high with seven out of 19, although there were only four who chose to drop out; two before and two after the intervention started. Accounting only for these, the dropout rate was 21%, which is in line with similar studies, reporting

dropout rates between six and 30% (135, 136, 138, 233).

In the present study, high attendance and adherence to the supervised PE were demonstrated with median rates of 85 and 97% respectively. This is comparable to other studies reporting attendance rates of 61 – 89% (135, 138, 139, 233). One likely reason for the high attendance and even higher adherence when a participant first met to a session, was that the intervention was supervised in a one-to-one manner. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs with various cancer types have shown that supervised PE has a greater effect on several endpoints than unsupervised, and this could be explained by a higher compliance to supervised PE (79, 234). Scheduled appointments being crucial for both motivation, attendance and adherence to PE, was also found in our qualitative work (235).

Even though the high adherence to supervised PE, the planned increase in intensity of aerobic exercise did not seem feasible as the participants reported slightly lower RPE during the last intervention period (week 17–24), and the goal of achieving intervals of 4 times 3–4 min was only reached in one-third of the participants. During the course of adjuvant chemotherapy, patients will typically experience increased fatigue and decreased cardiorespiratory fitness (236, 237). Contrary to this, the above mentioned non-randomized pilot study by Zopf et al. from 2022 demonstrated a significant increase in cardiorespiratory fitness (relative VO2peak improved by 3.57 ml/kg/min [95% CI, 1.90–5.25; p < 0.001]) among CRC patients participating in a supervised aerobic exercise program lasting six months during the period of adjuvant chemotherapy (233). The intervention consisted of twice a week supervised 30 min of cycling on a stationary bicycle with an intensity similar to our study, corresponding to Borg 's RPE scale 13-15 ('Somewhat hard' – 'hard'), in addition to three session per week of home-based 15 min walking. In the present study, VO2peak has not been measured.

There was no temporal relationship between the SAEs and the PE intervention, and it is most likely that the SAEs reported were related to the chemotherapy, although this needs to be confirmed in an RCT. Though, in the literature so far, PE interventions during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC seem safe (125).

5.2. CRC patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy

Scheduled appointments with a physiotherapist gave an opportunity to structure life with cancer and served as an important external motivational factor. Additionally, participants perceived positive effects from exercising, such as improved muscle strength, reduction in sensory neuropathic symptoms, and improvement in mental health. Common hopes and expectations were improvement of endurance and strength, to achieve better tolerance and efficacy, and counteract negative effects of chemotherapy.

Structuring of life with cancer aligns with previous research, exploring women's experiences engaging in supervised PE during treatment for early-stage breast cancer (238, 239). Commitment to scheduled appointments, serving as an external motivational factor, is also described as part of palliative cancer patients' experiences of participation in a PE program (240).

To have supervised PE with regular appointments was crucial, as the participants could not see how they would have been able to perform the same amount of PE without this arrangement, which is in accordance with Backman et al. (239). The preference for supervised PE with individual attention from exercise staff has also been described by others (152, 153).

The participants experienced several positive effects from exercising during adjuvant chemotherapy, both physically and mentally. This has been demonstrated in other studies, but mainly in breast cancer, since most studies on PE interventions have been performed in this patient group (238, 239, 241, 242). There are noticeable differences between these two patient groups, as median age at diagnosis is approximately 10 years higher in CRC (9), and the surgical and adjuvant treatments are different. Our findings thus indicate that positive effects can be achieved in older patient groups as well.

The present study only explored the experiences of those willing to engage in a PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy, and we have no information of those who declined. A more negative attitude toward PE among patients declining participation in a PE study among colon cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy has been described (139). Further, it has been reported that adjuvant chemotherapy is a major barrier to PE among CRC patients (146). Also in the present study, barriers to PE were related to side effects from chemotherapy, but

these were overcome through the scheduled sessions, individual adjustments, and by an inner motivation developing from positive experiences participating in the PE intervention.

In a Danish study, 25 and 8 patients with breast- and colon cancer respectively, identified as inactive pre-diagnosis, and who had entered a randomized feasibility study of 12-week PA intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy, were interviewed at baseline and 12 weeks after enrolment. A change in attitude towards exercise was described, from being non-exercisers to exercisers. In line with our findings, patient perceptions of the bodily, emotional and social benefits of PE were also emphasized (152).

5.3. Changes in HRQoL during the first year of palliative chemotherapy

The present study demonstrates that older patients with mCRC did not experience more deterioration in the six selected HRQoL domains than their younger counterparts during the first year of palliative chemotherapy. However, almost 40% of both younger and older patients experienced a major deterioration in fatigue after four months of treatment. Displaying individual changes provides a more visual image of the great variance between individuals, as opposed to only displaying the changes in mean values over time. The latter method is often employed in similar studies (197, 199, 202, 225, 243). In addition, a significant part of the individual patients (both younger and older) experienced large deteriorations in physical- and role functioning after four months as well. These findings call for measures to mitigate the expected decline in HRQoL, for instance by early incorporation of tailored palliative rehabilitation and to closely monitor all patients and provide sufficient supportive care. A multimodal intervention consisting of for instance PE, nutritional, cognitive and psychosocial support, would need to be tested in a controlled study. Additionally, use of geriatric assessments in older patients could aid adjustments in treatment plans, and possibly contribute to less toxicity and improved HRQoL (244, 245). This was not (and still is not) routinely in use during the study period.

Several meta-analyses have compared efficacy and tolerability of drugs between younger and older, but rarely reported HRQoL data. The studies conducted conclude that the elderly have similar survival benefits and tolerability of various first line treatments, with the reservation that these studies only included the fittest elderly (246, 247). There are only a few studies exploring age differences in HRQoL during palliative chemotherapy for CRC. The

retrospective analysis of the CAIRO and CAIRO2 RCTs compared global QoL between age groups (248). In line with our results, they found no differences between younger and older patients. However, only fit patients with ECOG PS 0 and 1 were included in these studies, and global QoL was the only domain reported. Previously, it has been demonstrated that global QoL, in contrast to physical functioning, is little affected by toxicities of treatment (205, 249). Another study comparing fit older with younger CRC patients (PS 0-1) starting first-line chemotherapy plus cetuximab, did not find any difference in the younger and older patients' changes in the HRQoL domains from baseline to week eight or twelve (250).

Despite the elderly had generally lower PS at baseline and reported lower physical functioning, they did not experience more decline in the selected HRQoL domains than the younger patients. An explanation may be that the elderly more often received milder monotherapy regimens, and it is reasonable to believe that they more often had dose reductions, reflecting real-world clinical practice. Regardless the treatment regimens, survival was not different in the two age groups, though there were other differences between the groups that might affect survival in the younger negatively, such as non-resection of the primary, previous treatment and extent of disease.

Compared to baseline, small improvements in mean scores were observed in both groups for emotional functioning, insomnia and appetite loss one year after start of palliative chemotherapy. This is in line with other studies who found decreasing degree of worrying and anxiety among CRC patients, as time progressed after start of chemotherapy (202, 251). In the same period, both groups reported reduced cognitive functioning, a known side-effect of chemotherapy (252-254).

At all measurement points during the first year after start of palliative chemotherapy, younger patients reported more pain than older patients. This might be explained by a larger proportion of the younger having their primary tumour intact, or it could be more directly related to age. Some studies have demonstrated that younger cancer patients report more pain than older (255-257), while Bevilacqua et al. did not find any difference in pain among younger and older cancer survivors (258). In the general population normative data for the EORTC QLQ-C30, older males report less pain than the younger, but this is not seen among females (259). Males were in majority among the elderly in our study.

As expected, patients introduced to a two month chemo-break, compared to those on

continuous treatment from month six, experienced improvements in several HRQoL domains. Some studies have found more toxicity, but no difference in physical functioning and overall health with continuous vs. intermittent treatment (191, 195). The CAIRO3 trial reported statistically significant differences between the groups regarding several of the HRQoL domains, but in contrast to the present study, the differences described were too small to be considered clinically significant (194). In line with our findings, the COIN trial found significant benefits from intermittent- vs. continuous therapy for role- and social functioning, but unlike our study, not for physical functioning and global QoL (192). A possible explanation for the greater positive impact of a chemo-break seen in our study, is that in the real-life setting the patients are frailer and thus benefit more from a chemo-break compared to participants in an RCT.

5.4. Methodological considerations

This thesis is built upon studies from two different patient populations; CRC patients during adjuvant chemotherapy and CRC patients during palliative chemotherapy, using different study designs; interventional and observational, and using different research methods; quantitative and qualitative. In the present feasibility study, additional to quantitative measurements, qualitative methods were utilised in a selection of the patients to explore experiences of engaging in PE during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC. This between-method triangulation (260) was considered suitable to get a comprehensive understanding of PE for this patient group.

5.4.1. Study design

When preparing for the present feasibility study, the plan was to run a future RCT, investigating whether an individual and supervised PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC could reduce the anticipated development of CIPN and CRF. At that time, there were limited experience with this type of interventional study, and a pilot study seemed sensible to evaluate key feasibility aspects before taking on a full-scale RCT. The choice of a non-randomised feasibility study over a randomised pilot study was a pragmatic one, as our main aim was to test the feasibility of the intervention and test procedures, not the (preliminary) effect of PE, which would require more participants. Even so, the single arm study was performed as it could have been the interventional arm in an RCT, with all the test procedures performed before a potential randomization and before start of treatment. We did no attempt to have blinded, independent study personnel to perform physical tests, due to limited resources. The pre-post design was to explore changes in self-reported CIPN and fatigue during the intervention period.

The premises for the qualitative study in paper II were largely laid by the present feasibility study, as participation in the qualitative study was dependent on recruitment to the feasibility study. This was one of the reasons for choosing individual interviews instead of interviews in focus groups, even though the interaction between participants in the latter could provide insights of a different nature than what individual interviews offer (209). In the present study, focus groups would not be feasible, since there could be long time periods between inclusions of new participants, and there were a limited number of patients participating in the PE intervention at any given time. Additionally, individual interviews gave logistic advantages, in terms of interviews being held in concordance with the participants' other appointments at the hospital. The longitudinal design performing interviews before, during and after the intervention period, gave an opportunity to explore both expectations to and experiences with the PE intervention, and to evaluate potential changes over time.

The original idea for the mCRC study arose over a decade ago, and came (among others) from the concern that new, expensive treatments were implemented in general oncological practice based on results from RCTs with study populations not necessarily representative for the whole patient population, and that there was a lack of high quality research in relation to symptom relief, physical and psychological functioning and overall quality of life among patients with CRC in the palliative phase. An observational study design to assess HRQoL in a real-world population of patients with mCRC was considered highly relevant.

5.4.2. Sample size

Due to the feasibility design, no formal sample size calculation was performed for the FAKT feasibility study. It was planned to enrol 20 participants, as this was a number expected to be included within a year, and considered to be sufficient in evaluating feasibility and estimating sample size for a future RCT. It turned out inclusion took longer time, and a pragmatic choice

of closing further inclusion after 19 patients was made, after a long period of slow inclusion rate.

In our observational study, the sample size was given by the already collected data and restricted by the inclusion criteria chosen (commencing first line palliative chemotherapy for CRC, and having filled in the baseline questionnaire).

Discussing sample size in qualitative work is more complicated. Coming from a tradition of quantitative research, estimating or planning for sample size in advance of a project is the usual way to go, where power calculations determine which sample size is necessary to demonstrate effects of a certain magnitude from an intervention. This does not apply for qualitative interviews, and no similar standards for assessment of sample size exist (228). A commonly used concept for sample size in qualitative studies is 'saturation'. This concept has been criticised and found problematic by several (228, 229, 261). It has its origin in one specific methodology in Grounded Theory, but has been inconsistently applied in studies based on other analytic approaches, without clearly defining how saturation is accomplished (228, 229). Still, saturation has been identified as the most commonly used justification for sample size in qualitative health research (262), and it is often held as a criterion for quality in quality checklists (263-265).

The sample size in the present qualitative study was already given when the FAKT feasibility study closed further inclusion. However, the planned randomized FAKT study was commencing, and we chose to continue recruiting participants from the interventional arm in this RCT to our qualitative study, to increase depth and richness of the data set. Based on the research group's agreement that the collected data contained sufficient information to provide answers to the research question and provide new knowledge to the research field, inclusion was stopped. In dialog with editor of the journal the study was published in, we ended up stating that 'information redundancy had been achieved', which was considered an acceptable justification for sample size.

5.4.3. Outcome measures

Choice of the different PROMS and rationale for using PROMS have been covered in previous sections. Ideally, we could have measured changes in CIPN with objective measures

in addition to PROMS. In clinical practice, receiving referral of patients to adjuvant chemotherapy, we usually have a short time frame (1-2 weeks) until chemotherapy should commence, according to guidelines. After conferring with our colleagues at the neurological department, organizing objective measures would not be possible without postponing start of treatment, which would be unethical. Another issue is that quantitative neurological testing does not necessarily reflect the patients' symptoms (266).

The main purpose of the feasibility study was to inform the future RCT. Hence, the objectives in a pilot/feasibility study should differ from those in an RCT, by stipulating the issues of uncertainty to be addressed in the future trial (267). We have focused on reporting the feasibility measures, especially those related to the PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC as defined in the methods section, not the results of the various physical tests. The aim of exploring changes in selected outcome measures was mainly to estimate sample size for the future RCT.

5.4.4. Validity

Internal validity

When studying causal relationships, internal validity refers to which extent an observed result represents the truth in the studied population, and is not influenced by other factors or variables. Performing RCTs reduces many of the threats to internal validity. Internal validity can also be asking whether a study investigates what it is meant to (268). Neither of the three papers in the present thesis were designed for or meant to establish any causality. Threats to internal validity in observational studies exploring causality are (among others) related to confounding factors. These can be attenuated using different statistical methods (among others) and by various selection strategies. In the present observational study in paper III, the number of participants were too low to reliably establish any causality, and we focused on presenting the results descriptively. Paper III aimed to describe changes in HRQoL the first year of palliative chemotherapy for CRC. The choice of instrument measuring HRQoL is crucial for enhancing internal (and external) validity. The cancer specific EORTC QLQ-C30 used in the present study, has well documented psychometric properties and has been extensively evaluated and validated (168).

Missing data imposes a threat to internal (and external) validity, meaning there exists a meaningful data value which could have been, but was not recorded. In paper III, 59 participants from the mCRC study were not included in the present study, due to missing base line form. Additionally, questionnaires were missing on the following time points through the 12 months observation period, which is common in longitudinal HRQoL studies. This means that the results could have looked different, given that all questionnaires had been returned. Even so, the compliance rate of returning QLQ-C30 was high, and the drop-out rate in the two age groups was equal. Of those still alive after six and twelve months, 84 and 78%, respectively, returned the questionnaire. This is higher than other observational studies of patients with mCRC (199, 202, 207). After one year, only 53% of the original study population returned the QLQ-C30, and the main reason for not returning was death. This might bias the comparison with baseline, since the healthiest survive to answer the questionnaire after one year.

Unfortunately, adherence to unsupervised PE was only registered in half of the participants in paper I. Apart from that, missing data was not an issue in the feasibility study with nearly 100% completion rates of both the physical tests and questionnaires. Choosing appropriate feasibility measures is essential in order to assure we investigate what we intend to and necessary to inform a future RCT. These are defined and described in the methods sections in paper I and are in line with recommendations for feasibility studies for research on PE (269).

External validity

External validity asks whether the findings from a study will apply for similar patients outside the study setting, if they are generalizable to a broader population. Selection of patients and the specific study settings, are main threats to external validity (270). Broad inclusion criteria were employed in the present studies, aiming to have study populations representative for the whole population of interest. The feasibility study included participants between 18 and 80 years, whereas some other PE interventional studies have excluded older age (129, 138). The mCRC study aimed to include all newly diagnosed with metastatic or non-resectable CRC above 18 years of age in the health region of Mid-Norway in a given time-period.

In the feasibility study, 11 out of the 30 asked, declined participation, reporting having other plans, too much going on or long travel distance. Long travel distance was also the main reason for not asking for study participation among eligible patients. We have not registered

any clinical or demographic data of the non-included patients, as that would be outside what was given ethical approval of, and regardless, it would be unethical to record such data without patient consent. Hence, we do not know if the non-included differ from the included, which in turn could have altered the results given a larger inclusion rate. Given the nonrandomized design, we do not know if a randomized design will reduce the willingness to participate, also posing a threat to external validity. The PE intervention was designed to easily being implemented in clinical practise, aiming to enhance external validity.

To our knowledge, the present observational study is the first to compare changes in HRQoL between younger and older from a real-world unselected cohort of patients with mCRC the first year after start of first line palliative chemotherapy. This being a 'real-life' population is reflected by the six selected HRQoL domain scores being worse in both groups compared to similar patient populations in RCTs and in the general population (225, 243, 259).

A screening log over those not included in the mCRC study was only systematically registered in one of seven hospitals (St. Olav's hospital). This poses a threat to external validity. At St. Olav's hospital, approximately 85% of all potential patients (newly diagnosis of metastatic or non-resectable CRC) were included, which can be said to be fairly high. Major reasons for non-participation were declined inclusion, advanced disease and not able to consent or missed out. Another limitation is the timing of the questionnaires regarding administration of chemotherapy, as the HRQoL scores greatly can vary through a treatment cycle (202, 271). This was not standardized in the present study.

Are the findings from the observational study conducted between 2014 and 2018 still relevant today? I would say they definitely are, since the treatment of mCRC has not changed that much since that period. Still, combination chemotherapy is the preferred first line choice today, but EGFR antibody is more often added to the chemotherapy back bone than VEGR antibody, compared to the population from our observational study.

Can the findings from the adjuvant and the palliative settings be relevant for each other? Demonstrating that PE interventions are feasible in the adjuvant setting, might also apply in the palliative setting. As demonstrated in an observational study from Oslo, symptoms and complaints in a population in a palliative vs. adjuvant setting commencing chemotherapy, are similar (201). The chemotherapy given in the adjuvant and palliative settings are similar (12), and the increased symptom burden during the chemotherapy paths in both settings have been demonstrated in the mentioned Oslo study. Lack of energy was the most occurring symptom six months after commencing chemotherapy, and palliative patients scored significantly higher compared with curative patients (202). In the present feasibility study in paper I, physical fatigue slightly improved after three months of adjuvant chemotherapy and participation in the PE intervention, whereas a major proportion of the palliative population in paper III experienced a large deterioration in fatigue after four months of treatment. Naturally, these two populations are not comparable, but the findings from paper I and II hold promise that it is possible to mitigate the anticipated fatigue from chemotherapy.

Trustworthiness

In qualitative research, alternative standards for quality assurance have been proposed. Lincoln and Guba introduced the term trustworthiness in 1985, defined as the extent to which an inquirer can persuade audiences that his or her findings are 'worth paying attention to', and encompasses the four criteria of credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability (260, 272). Quantitative analogues to these four criteria are suggested to be internal validity, external validity, reliability and objectivity, respectively (260). Relevance, validity and reflexivity as overall standards for qualitative inquiry have been proposed by others (268). Some of these terms in relation to our work in paper II will be discussed below.

To achieve credibility, it is important to include patients who have experiences of the phenomenon under study, hence participants that were about to, or were participating in the supervised PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC were consecutively recruited to the present qualitative study. Being transparent by providing clarity regarding all stages of the study (who the participants were, how they were selected, how the data were collected and analysed, how the conclusions were derived) is also emphasized as one of the indicators of quality, both for qualitative and quantitative studies (260). Patient characteristics regarding age, sex, self-reported levels of PA, marital-, employment-, and educational status are provided in the paper, displaying a wide variety, and thus might contribute to transferability, though restricted to those actually willing to engage in PE during treatment.

Data collection consisted of interviews which were audio recorded and transcribed. Having three different interviewers, provided both potential advantages and disadvantages. Different backgrounds (physiotherapist, oncologist and psychologist) might entail that the interviewers focused on different aspects of the topic under research, contributing to a richer data set, but

also with a risk that important aspects were missed out. The interview guide would contribute to the most important topics being covered. Former experience with the research method might also have affected the richness of the collected data, and that was a reason for the experienced qualitative researcher in the research group doing a major part of the interviews. None of the interviewers were involved in supervising the PE intervention nor in the medical treatment given, and hopefully the participants did not feel obliged to give a skewed description of their experiences. There is a possibility that a positive attitude towards PE among the interviewers could have influenced the interviewees, but also important to bear in mind, is that the participants likely had a more positive attitude towards PE than those declining participation, as described by van Wart et al. (139). The interview guide was designed to reveal both positive and negative experiences from PE. Performing the interviews while participants still were under intervention, reduced the risk of recall bias (273). Half of the interviews were transcribed by a student outside the research group, a couple by the PhD candidate, and the rest by a secretary experienced in transcribing. The PhD candidate listened through all the recorded interviews and corrected obvious mistakes.

Describing the analytical method and process in sufficient detail, contributed to dependability. Having several researchers participating in the analytical process doing initial coding and participating in regular meetings discussing themes, might also contribute to enhance dependability and reflexivity (268). Members of the research group had different backgrounds and thus brought different perspectives to the discussions, strengthening the analysis. Bringing the transcribed interviews back to the participants to check for accuracy, or taking the final analysis back to the participants to check whether they felt the analysis represented their experiences (i.e. member-checking), were not performed. Views on, and practice of member-checking differ in the qualitative community (209, 212). For this project we found it inexpedient. Several of the participants wanted feedback on study results when the project was completed, which they will be provided.

6. Conclusions

This thesis has aimed to provide increased knowledge of the feasibility of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy, how patients experience such an intervention, and how HRQoL is affected during palliative chemotherapy for CRC patients. The thesis includes three papers answering the following research questions:

Paper I:

- 1. What is the feasibility of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC?
- Overall, we found that a combined supervised and home-based PE intervention in CRC patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy was feasible and safe, with a high willingness to participate, attendance and adherence to the PE intervention, and completion of study specific tests. The planned increase in intensity of aerobic exercise from the first to the second period seemed not feasible. The drop-out rate before entering intervention was high. There is a need to accommodate supervised PE intervention closer to patients' homes.

Paper II:

- 2. What are the expectations to and experiences with participating in an individually tailored and supervised PE program during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC?
- Common expectations were improvement of endurance and strength, and counteracting negative effects of chemotherapy. Scheduled appointments gave structure to daily life and served as an external motivational factor. The individual adjustments of PE gave a sense of security and helped improving adherence, especially when feeling depressed or fatigued. Experienced positive effects from exercising, both mentally and physically, contributed to inner motivation and inspired continued exercising after the study period. We recommend supervised and individually tailored PE during adjuvant chemotherapy for this patient group.

Paper III:

- 3. With key focus on global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain, nausea and vomiting - How is HRQoL changing in older (> 70 years) compared with younger CRC patients the first year of palliative chemotherapy in a real-life population?
- Older patients did not experience more deterioration in selected HRQoL domains than younger during the first year of palliative chemotherapy, but a major part of both younger and older patients experienced a large deterioration in fatigue and physical function four months after start of palliative chemotherapy. Self-reported HRQoL was mostly maintained or improved after one year, except for cognitive functioning.
- 4. What is the impact of a chemo-break on HRQoL?
- Patients introduced to a chemo-break, compared to those on continued treatment from month six, experienced significant improvements in global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, and nausea/vomiting after a two month treatment-free period. This positive impact of a chemo-break seems to be larger in a real-life population than in patients included in RCTs.

7. Future perspectives

Relative to the prevalence of CRC, PE interventions during both adjuvant and palliative chemotherapy in CRC patients have received little scientific attention, and more studies are warranted. PROMS have gained increased attention the last decades, both within the framework of an RCT, but also in the real-world setting.

The present feasibility study was conducted as a preparation for a future RCT, aiming to investigate the impact of a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy, consisting of both supervised and homebased combinations of aerobic endurance-, strength-, and balance training, on self-reported CIPN and fatigue. Based on experiences from the feasibility study, several adjustments were made in the upcoming RCT: Supervised PE has been organized closer to participants' homes engaging physiotherapists in the communities, there has not been planned for any increase in the intensity of aerobic endurance exercise, which has been kept on a moderate level, and a self-reported activity diary was employed for documentation of unsupervised PE, among others. The FAKT RCT, conducted as a National multicenter study, has completed inclusion, and results are awaiting.

As previously discussed, engaging patients with CRC in PE intervention has proven challenging for several investigators. In our qualitative interview study, only those willing to participate in PE during adjuvant chemotherapy were included. Hence, we know little of the perspectives of those not interested in such a PE intervention. Conducting a qualitative study among patients not interested in PE, could provide knowledge valuable for engaging more patients with CRC in physical activity in their different disease trajectories.

In our real-world observational study of mCRC patients receiving palliative chemotherapy, a major proportion of the patients experienced large deteriorations in several of the HRQoL domains a few months after commencing treatment. This is a major concern, since one of the main treatment goals with palliative chemotherapy is improved or preserved HRQoL in addition to prolongation of life. Measures to mitigate these deteriorations are warranted. Geriatric assessments are still not in routinely use, and individual treatment plans are based on clinical judgements. Implementing geriatric assessments, perhaps within the frame of a research project, might improve how we treat older, frail patients in the future. Additionally, digital surveillance of patients is a promising field, and research on this area could also

contribute to better adjust the balance between toxic treatments, often resulting in troubling side-effects, and the goal of disease control and prolonged time to progression.

There is increasing evidence that PE (both during and after chemotherapy) in the curative setting has positive impacts on several HRQoL outcomes (2, 75, 126, 127), and evidence in the palliative setting is evolving (82, 83, 274). We have demonstrated that a PE intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC is feasible, and a study on a PE intervention among the palliative CRC population might provide knowledge whether such an intervention could mitigate the anticipated decline in HRQoL after commencing palliative chemotherapy.

8. References

1. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep. 1985;100(2):126-31.

2. McGettigan M, Cardwell CR, Cantwell MM, Tully MA. Physical activity interventions for disease-related physical and mental health during and following treatment in people with non-advanced colorectal cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2020;5(5):Cd012864.

3. Tamburin S, Park SB, Schenone A, Mantovani E, Hamedani M, Alberti P, et al. Rehabilitation, exercise, and related non-pharmacological interventions for chemotherapy-induced peripheral neurotoxicity: Systematic review and evidence-based recommendations. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2022;171:103575.

4. Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, Bond CM, Hopewell S, Thabane L, Lancaster GA. CONSORT 2010 statement: extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. Bmj. 2016;355:i5239.

5. Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, Thabane L, Hopewell S, Coleman CL, Bond CM. Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework. PloS one. 2016;11(3):e0150205.

6. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2021;71(3):209-49.

7. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, Fedewa SA, Butterly LF, Anderson JC, et al. Colorectal cancer statistics, 2020. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2020;70(3):145-64.

8. Clinton SK, Giovannucci EL, Hursting SD. The World Cancer Research Fund/American Institute for Cancer Research Third Expert Report on Diet, Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Cancer: Impact and Future Directions. J Nutr. 2020;150(4):663-71.

9. Norway CRo. Cancer in Norway 2022 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway Oslo: Cancer Registry of Norway; 2023 [Available from:

https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/cancer-in-norway/2022/cin_report-2022.pdf.

10. Vuik FE, Nieuwenburg SA, Bardou M, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Bento MJ, et al. Increasing incidence of colorectal cancer in young adults in Europe over the last 25 years. Gut. 2019;68(10):1820-6.

11. Siegel RL, Torre LA, Soerjomataram I, Hayes RB, Bray F, Weber TK, Jemal A. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence in young adults. Gut. 2019;68(12):2179-85.

12. Norwegian guidelines for colorectal cancer 2022 Oslo: The Norwegian Directorate of Health; 2022 [updated May 20. 2022. Available from: www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/kreft-i-tykktarm-og-endetarm-handlingsprogram.

13. register NCq. Årsrapport 2022 med resultater og forbedringstiltak fra Nasjonalt kvalitetsregister for tykk- og endetarmskreft. Oslo: Norwegian Cancer Registry; 2023 [Available from: <u>https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/publikasjoner-og-rapporter/arsrapporter/publisert-</u> 2023/arsrapport-2022-nasjonalt-kvalitetsregister-for-tykk--og-endetarmskreft.pdf.

14. Brierley JD, Union for International Cancer C. TNM classification of malignant tumours. Chichester, England: Wiley Blackwell; 2017.

15. Francini G, Petrioli R, Lorenzini L, Mancini S, Armenio S, Tanzini G, et al. Folinic acid and 5-fluorouracil as adjuvant chemotherapy in colon cancer. Gastroenterology. 1994;106(4):899-906.

16. Efficacy of adjuvant fluorouracil and folinic acid in colon cancer. International Multicentre Pooled Analysis of Colon Cancer Trials (IMPACT) investigators. Lancet. 1995;345(8955):939-44.

17. O'Connell MJ, Mailliard JA, Kahn MJ, Macdonald JS, Haller DG, Mayer RJ, Wieand HS. Controlled trial of fluorouracil and low-dose leucovorin given for 6 months as postoperative adjuvant therapy for colon cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1997;15(1):246-50. 18. Glimelius B, Dahl O, Cedermark B, Jakobsen A, Bentzen SM, Starkhammar H, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy in colorectal cancer: a joint analysis of randomised trials by the Nordic Gastrointestinal Tumour Adjuvant Therapy Group. Acta oncologica. 2005;44(8):904-12.

19. Andre T, Boni C, Mounedji-Boudiaf L, Navarro M, Tabernero J, Hickish T, et al. Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;350(23):2343-51.

20. Schmoll HJ, Tabernero J, Maroun J, de Braud F, Price T, Van Cutsem E, et al. Capecitabine Plus Oxaliplatin Compared With Fluorouracil/Folinic Acid As Adjuvant Therapy for Stage III Colon Cancer: Final Results of the NO16968 Randomized Controlled Phase III Trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(32):3733-40.

21. Yothers G, O'Connell MJ, Allegra CJ, Kuebler JP, Colangelo LH, Petrelli NJ, Wolmark N. Oxaliplatin as adjuvant therapy for colon cancer: updated results of NSABP C-07 trial, including survival and subset analyses. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2011;29(28):3768-74.

22. André T, de Gramont A, Vernerey D, Chibaudel B, Bonnetain F, Tijeras-Raballand A, et al. Adjuvant Fluorouracil, Leucovorin, and Oxaliplatin in Stage II to III Colon Cancer: Updated 10-Year Survival and Outcomes According to BRAF Mutation and Mismatch Repair Status of the MOSAIC Study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(35):4176-87.

23. Grothey A, Sobrero AF, Shields AF, Yoshino T, Paul J, Taieb J, et al. Duration of Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Stage III Colon Cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2018;378(13):1177-88.

24. Glimelius B, Cavalli-Björkman N. Metastatic colorectal cancer: Current treatment and future options for improved survival Medical approach – present status. Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology. 2012;47(3):296-314.

25. Venook AP, Niedzwiecki D, Lenz HJ, Innocenti F, Fruth B, Meyerhardt JA, et al. Effect of First-Line Chemotherapy Combined With Cetuximab or Bevacizumab on Overall Survival in Patients With KRAS Wild-Type Advanced or Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Jama. 2017;317(23):2392-401.

26. Cremolini C, Antoniotti C, Stein A, Bendell J, Gruenberger T, Rossini D, et al. Individual Patient Data Meta-Analysis of FOLFOXIRI Plus Bevacizumab Versus Doublets Plus Bevacizumab as Initial Therapy of Unresectable Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2020:Jco2001225.

27. Heinemann V, von Weikersthal LF, Decker T, Kiani A, Kaiser F, Al-Batran SE, et al. FOLFIRI plus cetuximab or bevacizumab for advanced colorectal cancer: final survival and per-protocol analysis of FIRE-3, a randomised clinical trial. British journal of cancer. 2021;124(3):587-94.

28. Sørbye H, Braendengen M, Balteskard L. [Palliative chemotherapy and radiotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer]. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen. 2008;128(2):194-7.

29. Kopetz S, Grothey A, Yaeger R, Van Cutsem E, Desai J, Yoshino T, et al. Encorafenib, Binimetinib, and Cetuximab in BRAF V600E-Mutated Colorectal Cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2019;381(17):1632-43.

30. Overman MJ, McDermott R, Leach JL, Lonardi S, Lenz HJ, Morse MA, et al. Nivolumab in patients with metastatic DNA mismatch repair-deficient or microsatellite instability-high colorectal cancer (CheckMate 142): an open-label, multicentre, phase 2 study. The lancet oncology. 2017;18(9):1182-91.

31. André T, Shiu KK, Kim TW, Jensen BV, Jensen LH, Punt C, et al. Pembrolizumab in Microsatellite-Instability-High Advanced Colorectal Cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2020;383(23):2207-18.

32. Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, et al. Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;350(23):2335-42. 33. Saltz LB, Clarke S, Díaz-Rubio E, Scheithauer W, Figer A, Wong R, et al. Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy as first-line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized phase III study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2008;26(12):2013-9.

34. Winther SB, Liposits G, Skuladottir H, Hofsli E, Shah CH, Poulsen L, et al. Reduced-dose combination chemotherapy (S-1 plus oxaliplatin) versus full-dose monotherapy (S-1) in older vulnerable patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (NORDIC9): a randomised, open-label phase 2 trial. The lancet Gastroenterology & hepatology. 2019;4(5):376-88.

35. Van Cutsem E, Cervantes A, Adam R, Sobrero A, Van Krieken JH, Aderka D, et al. ESMO consensus guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2016;27(8):1386-422.

36. Dahl O, Lehne G, Christoffersen T, Universitetet i Oslo Avdeling for f. Medikamentell kreftbehandling : cytostatikaboken. 8. utg. ed. Oslo: Universitetet i Oslo, Det medisinske fakultet, Institutt for klinisk medisin, Avdeling for farmakologi; 2016.

37. Schirrmacher V. From chemotherapy to biological therapy: A review of novel concepts to reduce the side effects of systemic cancer treatment (Review). Int J Oncol. 2019;54(2):407-19.

38. Cabilan CJ, Hines S. The short-term impact of colorectal cancer treatment on physical activity, functional status and quality of life: a systematic review. JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep. 2017;15(2):517-66.

39. Bours MJ, van der Linden BW, Winkels RM, van Duijnhoven FJ, Mols F, van Roekel EH, et al. Candidate Predictors of Health-Related Quality of Life of Colorectal Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review. The oncologist. 2016;21(4):433-52.

Hausheer FH, Schilsky RL, Bain S, Berghorn EJ, Lieberman F. Diagnosis, management, and evaluation of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy. Semin Oncol. 2006;33(1):15-49.
Argyriou AA, Bruna J, Marmiroli P, Cavaletti G. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral

41. Argyriou AA, Bruna J, Marmiroli P, Cavaletti G. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neurotoxicity (CIPN): an update. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2012;82(1):51-77.

42. Stubblefield MD, Burstein HJ, Burton AW, Custodio CM, Deng GE, Ho M, et al. NCCN task force report: management of neuropathy in cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2009;7 Suppl 5:S1-S26; quiz S7-8.

43. Andre T, Boni C, Mounedji-Boudiaf L, Navarro M, Tabernero J, Hickish T, et al. Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;350(23):2343-51.

44. Zajączkowska R, Kocot-Kępska M, Leppert W, Wrzosek A, Mika J, Wordliczek J. Mechanisms of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(6).

45. Teng C, Cohen J, Egger S, Blinman PL, Vardy JL. Systematic review of long-term chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) following adjuvant oxaliplatin for colorectal cancer. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2022;30(1):33-47.

46. McCrary JM, Goldstein D, Trinh T, Timmins HC, Li T, Menant J, et al. Balance Deficits and Functional Disability in Cancer Survivors Exposed to Neurotoxic Cancer Treatments. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2019;17(8):949-55.

47. Tofthagen C, Donovan KA, Morgan MA, Shibata D, Yeh Y. Oxaliplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy's effects on health-related quality of life of colorectal cancer survivors. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2013;21(12):3307-13.

48. Mols F, Beijers T, Lemmens V, van den Hurk CJ, Vreugdenhil G, van de Poll-Franse LV. Chemotherapy-induced neuropathy and its association with quality of life among 2- to 11-year colorectal cancer survivors: results from the population-based PROFILES registry. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2013;31(21):2699-707.

49. Soveri LM, Lamminmäki A, Hänninen UA, Karhunen M, Bono P, Osterlund P. Long-term neuropathy and quality of life in colorectal cancer patients treated with oxaliplatin containing adjuvant chemotherapy. Acta oncologica. 2019;58(4):398-406.

50. Andre T, Boni C, Navarro M, Tabernero J, Hickish T, Topham C, et al. Improved overall survival with oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment in stage II or III colon cancer in the MOSAIC trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2009;27(19):3109-16.

51. Lee S, Ma C, Shi Q, Kumar P, Couture F, Kuebler P, et al. Potential Mediators of Oxaliplatin-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy From Adjuvant Therapy in Stage III Colon Cancer: Findings From CALGB (Alliance)/SWOG 80702. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2023;41(5):1079-91.

52. Klafke N, Bossert J, Kröger B, Neuberger P, Heyder U, Layer M, et al. Prevention and Treatment of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy (CIPN) with Non-Pharmacological Interventions: Clinical Recommendations from a Systematic Scoping Review and an Expert Consensus Process. Med Sci (Basel). 2023;11(1).

53. Bennett BK, Park SB, Lin CS, Friedlander ML, Kiernan MC, Goldstein D. Impact of oxaliplatininduced neuropathy: a patient perspective. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2012;20(11):2959-67.

54. Tan AC, McCrary JM, Park SB, Trinh T, Goldstein D. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy-patient-reported outcomes compared with NCI-CTCAE grade. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(12):4771-7.

55. Koornstra RH, Peters M, Donofrio S, van den Borne B, de Jong FA. Management of fatigue in patients with cancer - A practical overview. Cancer treatment reviews. 2014;40(6):791-9.

56. O'Higgins CM, Brady B, O'Connor B, Walsh D, Reilly RB. The pathophysiology of cancerrelated fatigue: current controversies. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018;26(10):3353-64.

57. Thong MSY, van Noorden CJF, Steindorf K, Arndt V. Cancer-Related Fatigue: Causes and Current Treatment Options. Curr Treat Options Oncol. 2020;21(2):17.

58. Berger AM, Mooney K, Alvarez-Perez A, Breitbart WS, Carpenter KM, Cella D, et al. Cancer-Related Fatigue, Version 2.2015. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2015;13(8):1012-39.

59. Vardy JL, Dhillon HM, Pond GR, Renton C, Dodd A, Zhang H, et al. Fatigue in people with localized colorectal cancer who do and do not receive chemotherapy: a longitudinal prospective study. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2016;27(9):1761-7.

60. Smet S, Pötter R, Haie-Meder C, Lindegaard JC, Schulz-Juergenliemk I, Mahantshetty U, et al. Fatigue, insomnia and hot flashes after definitive radiochemotherapy and image-guided adaptive brachytherapy for locally advanced cervical cancer: An analysis from the EMBRACE study. Radiotherapy and oncology : journal of the European Society for Therapeutic Radiology and Oncology. 2018;127(3):440-8.

61. Winningham ML, MacVicar MG. The effect of aerobic exercise on patient reports of nausea. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1988;15(4):447-50.

62. MacVicar MG, Winningham ML, Nickel JL. Effects of aerobic interval training on cancer patients' functional capacity. Nurs Res. 1989;38(6):348-51.

63. Winningham ML, MacVicar MG, Bondoc M, Anderson JI, Minton JP. Effect of aerobic exercise on body weight and composition in patients with breast cancer on adjuvant chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1989;16(5):683-9.

64. Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM. Framework PEACE: an organizational model for examining physical exercise across the cancer experience. Ann Behav Med. 2001;23(4):263-72.

65. Patel AV, Friedenreich CM, Moore SC, Hayes SC, Silver JK, Campbell KL, et al. American College of Sports Medicine Roundtable Report on Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, and Cancer Prevention and Control. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2019;51(11):2391-402.

66. Meyerhardt JA, Giovannucci EL, Holmes MD, Chan AT, Chan JA, Colditz GA, Fuchs CS. Physical activity and survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2006;24(22):3527-34.

67. Briggs LG, Reitblat C, Bain PA, Parke S, Lam NY, Wright J, et al. Prehabilitation Exercise Before Urologic Cancer Surgery: A Systematic and Interdisciplinary Review. Eur Urol. 2022;81(2):157-67.

68. Faithfull S, Turner L, Poole K, Joy M, Manders R, Weprin J, et al. Prehabilitation for adults diagnosed with cancer: A systematic review of long-term physical function, nutrition and patient-reported outcomes. European journal of cancer care. 2019;28(4):e13023.

69. Falz R, Bischoff C, Thieme R, Lässing J, Mehdorn M, Stelzner S, et al. Effects and duration of exercise-based prehabilitation in surgical therapy of colon and rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology. 2022;148(9):2187-213.

70. Molenaar CJ, van Rooijen SJ, Fokkenrood HJ, Roumen RM, Janssen L, Slooter GD. Prehabilitation versus no prehabilitation to improve functional capacity, reduce postoperative complications and improve quality of life in colorectal cancer surgery. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2022;5(5):Cd013259.

71. Toohey K, Hunter M, McKinnon K, Casey T, Turner M, Taylor S, Paterson C. A systematic review of multimodal prehabilitation in breast cancer. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2023;197(1):1-37.

72. Steffens D, Beckenkamp PR, Hancock M, Solomon M, Young J. Preoperative exercise halves the postoperative complication rate in patients with lung cancer: a systematic review of the effect of exercise on complications, length of stay and quality of life in patients with cancer. British journal of sports medicine. 2018;52(5):344.

73. Sebio Garcia R, Yáñez Brage MI, Giménez Moolhuyzen E, Granger CL, Denehy L. Functional and postoperative outcomes after preoperative exercise training in patients with lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2016;23(3):486-97.

74. Granger C, Cavalheri V. Preoperative exercise training for people with non-small cell lung cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2022;9(9):Cd012020.

75. Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, et al. Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors: Consensus Statement from International Multidisciplinary Roundtable. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2019;51(11):2375-90.

76. Dun L, Xian-Yi W, Xiao-Ying J. Effects of Moderate-To-Vigorous Physical Activity on Cancer-Related Fatigue in Patients With Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Archives of medical research. 2020.

77. Giallauria F, Testa C, Cuomo G, Di Lorenzo A, Venturini E, Lauretani F, et al. Exercise Training in Elderly Cancer Patients: A Systematic Review. Cancers. 2023;15(6).

78. Wilson TN, Nambiema A, Porro B, Descatha A, Aublet-Cuvelier A, Evanoff B, Roquelaure Y. Effectiveness of Physical Activity Interventions on Return to Work After a Cancer Diagnosis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. J Occup Rehabil. 2023;33(1):4-19.

79. Buffart LM, Kalter J, Sweegers MG, Courneya KS, Newton RU, Aaronson NK, et al. Effects and moderators of exercise on quality of life and physical function in patients with cancer: An individual patient data meta-analysis of 34 RCTs. Cancer treatment reviews. 2017;52:91-104.

80. Oldervoll LM, Loge JH, Paltiel H, Asp MB, Vidvei U, Hjermstad MJ, Kaasa S. Are palliative cancer patients willing and able to participate in a physical exercise program? Palliative & supportive care. 2005;3(4):281-7.

81. Jensen W, Baumann FT, Stein A, Bloch W, Bokemeyer C, de Wit M, Oechsle K. Exercise training in patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer undergoing palliative chemotherapy: a pilot study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2014.

82. Storck LJ, Uster A, Gafner L, Ruehlin M, Gaeumann S, Gisi D, et al. Effect of combined therapies including nutrition and physical exercise in advanced cancer patients: A pooled analysis. Front Nutr. 2023;10:1063279.

83. Rogers-Shepp I, Bhattacharya S, Mennillo HA, Kumar R, Hsieh B, Anandarajah G. Exercise interventions for advanced cancer palliative care patients: A systematic literature review and descriptive evidence synthesis of randomized controlled trials. Palliat Med. 2023:2692163231162888.

84. Mols F, Beijers AJ, Vreugdenhil G, Verhulst A, Schep G, Husson O. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, physical activity and health-related quality of life among colorectal cancer survivors from the PROFILES registry. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2015;9(3):512-22.

85. Streckmann F, Kneis S, Leifert JA, Baumann FT, Kleber M, Ihorst G, et al. Exercise program improves therapy-related side-effects and quality of life in lymphoma patients undergoing therapy. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2014;25(2):493-9.

86. Schwenk M, Grewal GS, Holloway D, Muchna A, Garland L, Najafi B. Interactive Sensor-Based Balance Training in Older Cancer Patients with Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Gerontology. 2016;62(5):553-63.

87. Schönsteiner SS, Bauder Mißbach H, Benner A, Mack S, Hamel T, Orth M, et al. A randomized exploratory phase 2 study in patients with chemotherapy-related peripheral neuropathy evaluating whole-body vibration training as adjunct to an integrated program including massage, passive mobilization and physical exercises. Exp Hematol Oncol. 2017;6:5.

88. Kleckner IR, Kamen C, Gewandter JS, Mohile NA, Heckler CE, Culakova E, et al. Effects of exercise during chemotherapy on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: a multicenter, randomized controlled trial. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018;26(4):1019-28.

89. Vollmers PL, Mundhenke C, Maass N, Bauerschlag D, Kratzenstein S, Rocken C, Schmidt T. Evaluation of the effects of sensorimotor exercise on physical and psychological parameters in breast cancer patients undergoing neurotoxic chemotherapy. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology. 2018;144(9):1785-92.

90. Zimmer P, Trebing S, Timmers-Trebing U, Schenk A, Paust R, Bloch W, et al. Eight-week, multimodal exercise counteracts a progress of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy and improves balance and strength in metastasized colorectal cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018;26(2):615-24.

91. Bland KA, Kirkham AA, Bovard J, Shenkier T, Zucker D, McKenzie DC, et al. Effect of Exercise on Taxane Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy in Women With Breast Cancer: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Breast Cancer. 2019;19(6):411-22.

92. Kneis S, Wehrle A, Muller J, Maurer C, Ihorst G, Gollhofer A, Bertz H. It's never too late balance and endurance training improves functional performance, quality of life, and alleviates neuropathic symptoms in cancer survivors suffering from chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: results of a randomized controlled trial. BMC cancer. 2019;19(1):414.

93. Streckmann F, Lehmann HC, Balke M, Schenk A, Oberste M, Heller A, et al. Sensorimotor training and whole-body vibration training have the potential to reduce motor and sensory symptoms of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy-a randomized controlled pilot trial. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(7):2471-8.

94. Stuecher K, Bolling C, Vogt L, Niederer D, Schmidt K, Dignaß A, Banzer W. Exercise improves functional capacity and lean body mass in patients with gastrointestinal cancer during chemotherapy: a single-blind RCT. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(6):2159-69.

95. Andersen Hammond E, Pitz M, Steinfeld K, Lambert P, Shay B. An Exploratory Randomized Trial of Physical Therapy for the Treatment of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2020;34(3):235-46.

96. Dhawan S, Andrews R, Kumar L, Wadhwa S, Shukla G. A Randomized Controlled Trial to Assess the Effectiveness of Muscle Strengthening and Balancing Exercises on Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathic Pain and Quality of Life Among Cancer Patients. Cancer nursing. 2020;43(4):269-80.

97. Müller J, Weiler M, Schneeweiss A, Haag GM, Steindorf K, Wick W, Wiskemann J. Preventive effect of sensorimotor exercise and resistance training on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: a randomised-controlled trial. British journal of cancer. 2021.

98. Saraboon C, Siriphorn A. Effects of foam pad balance exercises on cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: A randomized control trial. J Bodyw Mov Ther. 2021;28:164-71.

99. Şimşek NY, Demir A. Cold Application and Exercise on Development of Peripheral Neuropathy during Taxane Chemotherapy in Breast Cancer Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs. 2021;8(3):255-66.

100. Waibel S, Wehrle A, Müller J, Bertz H, Maurer C. Type of exercise may influence postural adaptations in chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy. Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2021;8(8):1680-94.

101. Ikio Y, Sagari A, Nakashima A, Matsuda D, Sawai T, Higashi T. Efficacy of combined hand exercise intervention in patients with chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2022;30(6):4981-92.

102. Cao A, Cartmel B, Li FY, Gottlieb LT, Harrigan M, Ligibel JA, et al. Effect of Exercise on Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy Among Patients Treated for Ovarian Cancer: A Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA network open. 2023;6(8):e2326463.

103. Park SB, Tamburin S, Schenone A, Kleckner IR, Velasco R, Alberti P, et al. Optimal outcome measures for assessing exercise and rehabilitation approaches in chemotherapy-induced peripheral-neurotoxicity: Systematic review and consensus expert opinion. Expert Rev Neurother. 2021.

104. Duregon F, Vendramin B, Bullo V, Gobbo S, Cugusi L, Di Blasio A, et al. Effects of exercise on cancer patients suffering chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy undergoing treatment: A systematic review. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2018;121:90-100.

 Kanzawa-Lee GA, Larson JL, Resnicow K, Smith EML. Exercise Effects on Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy: A Comprehensive Integrative Review. Cancer nursing. 2020.
 Lin WL, Wang RH, Chou FH, Feng IJ, Fang CJ, Wang HH. The effects of exercise on

chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy symptoms in cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2021;29(9):5303-11.

107. Tanay MAL, Armes J, Moss-Morris R, Rafferty AM, Robert G. A systematic review of behavioural and exercise interventions for the prevention and management of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy symptoms. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2021.

108. Guo S, Han W, Wang P, Wang X, Fang X. Effects of exercise on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy in cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2022.

109. Lopez-Garzon M, Cantarero-Villanueva I, Postigo-Martin P, González-Santos Á, Lozano-Lozano M, Galiano-Castillo N. Can Physical Exercise Prevent Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy in Patients With Cancer? A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2022;103(11):2197-208.

110. Streckmann F, Balke M, Cavaletti G, Toscanelli A, Bloch W, Décard BF, et al. Exercise and Neuropathy: Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis. Sports Med. 2022;52(5):1043-65.

111. Wang M, Pei Z, Molassiotis A. Recent advances in managing chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: A systematic review. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2022;58:102134.

112. Brownson-Smith R, Orange ST, Cresti N, Hunt K, Saxton J, Temesi J. Effect of exercise before and/or during taxane-containing chemotherapy treatment on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy symptoms in women with breast cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2023.

113. Nuñez de Arenas-Arroyo S, Cavero-Redondo I, Torres-Costoso A, Reina-Gutiérrez S, Lorenzo-García P, Martínez-Vizcaíno V. Effects of exercise interventions to reduce chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy severity: A meta-analysis. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2023;33(7):1040-53.

114. Seth NH, Qureshi I. Effectiveness of physiotherapy interventions on improving quality of life, total neuropathy score, strength and reducing pain in cancer survivors suffering from chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy - a systematic review. Acta oncologica. 2023:1-9.

115. Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM, Quinney HA, Fields AL, Jones LW, Fairey AS. A randomized trial of exercise and quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. European journal of cancer care. 2003;12(4):347-57.

116. Allgayer H, Nicolaus S, Schreiber S. Decreased interleukin-1 receptor antagonist response following moderate exercise in patients with colorectal carcinoma after primary treatment. Cancer detection and prevention. 2004;28(3):208-13.

117. Allgayer H, Owen RW, Nair J, Spiegelhalder B, Streit J, Reichel C, Bartsch H. Short-term moderate exercise programs reduce oxidative DNA damage as determined by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry in patients with colorectal carcinoma following primary treatment. Scandinavian journal of gastroenterology. 2008;43(8):971-8.

118. Bourke L, Thompson G, Gibson DJ, Daley A, Crank H, Adam I, et al. Pragmatic lifestyle intervention in patients recovering from colon cancer: a randomized controlled pilot study. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2011;92(5):749-55.

119. Pinto BM, Papandonatos GD, Goldstein MG, Marcus BH, Farrell N. Home-based physical activity intervention for colorectal cancer survivors. Psycho-oncology. 2013;22(1):54-64.

120. Cramer H, Lauche R, Klose P, Dobos G, Langhorst J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of exercise interventions for colorectal cancer patients. European journal of cancer care. 2014;23(1):3-14.

121. Brandenbarg D, Korsten J, Berger MY, Berendsen AJ. The effect of physical activity on fatigue among survivors of colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018;26(2):393-403.

122. van Rooijen SJ, Engelen MA, Scheede-Bergdahl C, Carli F, Roumen RMH, Slooter GD, Schep G. Systematic review of exercise training in colorectal cancer patients during treatment. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2018;28(2):360-70.

123. Gao R, Yu T, Liu L, Bi J, Zhao H, Tao Y, et al. Exercise intervention for post-treatment colorectal cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2020;14(6):878-93.

124. Lund CM, Dolin TG, Mikkelsen MK, Juhl CB, Vinther A, Nielsen DL. Effect of Exercise on Physical Function and Psychological Well-being in Older Patients With Colorectal Cancer Receiving Chemotherapy-A Systematic Review. Clinical colorectal cancer. 2020.

125. Singh B, Hayes SC, Spence RR, Steele ML, Millet GY, Gergele L. Exercise and colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of exercise safety, feasibility and effectiveness. The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity. 2020;17(1):122.

126. Machado P, Morgado M, Raposo J, Mendes M, Silva CG, Morais N. Effectiveness of exercise training on cancer-related fatigue in colorectal cancer survivors: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2022;30(7):5601-13. 127. Geng L, Li X, Guo L, Zhang R, Yue S. The content and effectiveness of physical activity for cancer-related fatigue among colorectal cancer survivors: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Nurs Open. 2023.

128. Jung Y, Chung J, Son H. Physical Activity Interventions for Colorectal Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Cancer nursing. 2021;44(6):E414-e28.

129. Adamsen L, Quist M, Andersen C, Møller T, Herrstedt J, Kronborg D, et al. Effect of a multimodal high intensity exercise intervention in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: randomised controlled trial. Bmj. 2009;339:b3410.

130. Schwartz AL, Winters-Stone K. Effects of a 12-month randomized controlled trial of aerobic or resistance exercise during and following cancer treatment in women. Phys Sportsmed. 2009;37(3):62-7.

131. Griffith K, Wenzel J, Shang J, Thompson C, Stewart K, Mock V. Impact of a walking intervention on cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical function, and pain in patients undergoing treatment for solid tumors. Cancer. 2009;115(20):4874-84.

132. Glass OK, Inman BA, Broadwater G, Courneya KS, Mackey JR, Goruk S, et al. Effect of aerobic training on the host systemic milieu in patients with solid tumours: an exploratory correlative study. British journal of cancer. 2015;112(5):825-31.

133. Schneider CM, Hsieh CC, Sprod LK, Carter SD, Hayward R. Exercise training manages cardiopulmonary function and fatigue during and following cancer treatment in male cancer survivors. Integr Cancer Ther. 2007;6(3):235-41.

134. Jensen W, Baumann FT, Stein A, Bloch W, Bokemeyer C, de Wit M, Oechsle K. Exercise training in patients with advanced gastrointestinal cancer undergoing palliative chemotherapy: a pilot study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2014;22(7):1797-806.

135. Lin KY, Shun SC, Lai YH, Liang JT, Tsauo JY. Comparison of the effects of a supervised exercise program and usual care in patients with colorectal cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Cancer nursing. 2014;37(2):E21-9.

136. Backman M, Wengstrom Y, Johansson B, Skoldengen I, Borjesson S, Tarnbro S, Berglund A. A randomized pilot study with daily walking during adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with breast and colorectal cancer. Acta oncologica. 2014.

137. Møller T, Lillelund C, Andersen C, Bloomquist K, Christensen KB, Ejlertsen B, et al. The challenge of preserving cardiorespiratory fitness in physically inactive patients with colon or breast cancer during adjuvant chemotherapy: a randomised feasibility study. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2015;1(1):e000021.

138. Van Vulpen JK, Velthuis MJ, Steins Bisschop CN, Travier N, Van Den Buijs BJ, Backx FJ, et al. Effects of an Exercise Program in Colon Cancer Patients undergoing Chemotherapy. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2016;48(5):767-75.

139. van Waart H, Stuiver MM, van Harten WH, Geleijn E, de Maaker-Berkhof M, Schrama J, et al. Recruitment to and pilot results of the PACES randomized trial of physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. International journal of colorectal disease. 2018;33(1):29-40.

140. Li J, Liu X. Incremental patient care program decreases anxiety, reduces depression and improves the quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer receiving adjuvant chemotherapy. Exp Ther Med. 2019;18(4):2789-98.

141. Lu Y, Qu HQ, Chen FY, Li XT, Cai L, Chen S, Sun YY. Effect of Baduanjin Qigong Exercise on Cancer-Related Fatigue in Patients with Colorectal Cancer Undergoing Chemotherapy: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Oncol Res Treat. 2019;42(9):431-9.

142. Moug SJ, Mutrie N, Barry SJE, Mackay G, Steele RJC, Boachie C, et al. Prehabilitation is feasible in patients with rectal cancer undergoing neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and may minimize physical deterioration: results from the REx trial. Colorectal Dis. 2019;21(5):548-62.

143. Ray AD, Twarozek AM, Williams BT, Erwin DO, Underwood W, 3rd, Mahoney MC. Exercise in African American and White Colorectal Cancer Survivors: A Mixed Methods Approach. Rehabilitation oncology (American Physical Therapy Association Oncology Section). 2018;36(4):188-97.

144. Demmelmaier I, Brooke HL, Henriksson A, Mazzoni AS, Bjørke ACH, Igelström H, et al. Does exercise intensity matter for fatigue during (neo-)adjuvant cancer treatment? The Phys-Can randomized clinical trial. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2021.

145. Hubbard G, O'Carroll R, Munro J, Mutrie N, Haw S, Mason H, Treweek S. The feasibility and acceptability of trial procedures for a pragmatic randomised controlled trial of a structured physical activity intervention for people diagnosed with colorectal cancer: findings from a pilot trial of cardiac rehabilitation versus usual care (no rehabilitation) with an embedded qualitative study. Pilot and feasibility studies. 2016;2:51.

146. Romero-Elías M, Beltrán-Carrillo VJ, González-Cutre D, Jiménez-Loaisa A. Barriers to physical activity participation in colorectal cancer patients during chemotherapy treatment: A qualitative study. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2020;46:101769.

147. Saunders S, Brunet J. A qualitative study exploring what it takes to be physically active with a stoma after surgery for rectal cancer. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(4):1481-9.

148. Agasi-Idenburg CS, Zuilen MK, Westerman MJ, Punt CJA, Aaronson NK, Stuiver MM. "I am busy surviving" - Views about physical exercise in older adults scheduled for colorectal cancer surgery. Journal of geriatric oncology. 2020;11(3):444-50.

149. Renman D, Strigård K, Palmqvist R, Näsvall P, Gunnarsson U, Edin-Liljegren A. Attitudes to and Experiences of Physical Activity After Colon Cancer Diagnosis Amongst Physically Active Individuals - A Qualitative Study. Cancer Control. 2022;29:10732748221119352.

150. Veal I, Peat N, Jones GD, Tsianakas V, Armes J. Missed opportunities for physical activity management at key points throughout the chemotherapy pathway for colorectal survivors: an observational interview study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(4):1215-22.

151. Burke SM, Brunet J, Sabiston CM, Jack S, Grocott MP, West MA. Patients' perceptions of quality of life during active treatment for locally advanced rectal cancer: the importance of preoperative exercise. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2013;21(12):3345-53.

152. Adamsen L, Andersen C, Lillelund C, Bloomquist K, Møller T. Rethinking exercise identity: a qualitative study of physically inactive cancer patients' transforming process while undergoing chemotherapy. BMJ open. 2017;7(8):e016689.

153. Spence RR, Heesch KC, Brown WJ. Colorectal cancer survivors' exercise experiences and preferences: qualitative findings from an exercise rehabilitation programme immediately after chemotherapy. European journal of cancer care. 2011;20(2):257-66.

154. Hubbard G, Adams R, Campbell A, Kidd L, Leslie SJ, Munro J, Watson A. Is referral of postsurgical colorectal cancer survivors to cardiac rehabilitation feasible and acceptable? A pragmatic pilot randomised controlled trial with embedded qualitative study. BMJ open. 2016;6(1):e009284.

155. Kaplan RM, Bush JW. Health-related quality of life measurement for evaluation research and policy analysis. Health Psychology. 1982;1:61-80.

156. Elkinton JR. Medicine and the quality of life. Ann Intern Med. 1966;64(3):711-4.

157. Karimi M, Brazier J. Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference? Pharmacoeconomics. 2016;34(7):645-9.

158. Costa DSJ, Mercieca-Bebber R, Rutherford C, Tait MA, King MT. How is quality of life defined and assessed in published research? Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2021;30(8):2109-21.

159. The World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Soc Sci Med. 1995;41(10):1403-9.

160. Rejeski WJ, Mihalko SL. Physical activity and quality of life in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2001;56 Spec No 2:23-35.

161. Felce D, Perry J. Quality of life: its definition and measurement. Res Dev Disabil. 1995;16(1):51-74.

162. The World Health Organization. Public Health Reports (1896-1970). 1946;61(35):1259-65.
163. Patrick DL, Bush JW, Chen MM. Toward an operational definition of health. J Health Soc Behav. 1973;14(1):6-23.

164. Hays R, Reeve BB. Measurement and Modeling of Health-Related Quality of Life. International Encyclopedia of Public Health. 2008:241-52.

165. Torrance GW. Utility approach to measuring health-related quality of life. J Chronic Dis. 1987;40(6):593-603.

166. Ebrahim S. Clinical and public health perspectives and applications of health-related quality of life measurement. Soc Sci Med. 1995;41(10):1383-94.

167. Cella DF, Bonomi AE. Measuring quality of life: 1995 update. Oncology (Williston Park, NY). 1995;9(11 Suppl):47-60.

168. Bottomley A, Reijneveld JC, Koller M, Flechtner H, Tomaszewski KA, Greimel E. Current state of quality of life and patient-reported outcomes research. European journal of cancer. 2019;121:55-63.

169. Brenner MH, Curbow B, Legro MW. The proximal-distal continuum of multiple health outcome measures: the case of cataract surgery. Med Care. 1995;33(4 Suppl):As236-44.

170. Rutherford C, Mercieca-Bebber R, King M. Health-Related Quality of Life in Cancer. Cham: Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2018. p. 109-25.

171. Guidance for industry: patient-reported outcome measures: use in medical product development to support labeling claims: draft guidance. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2006;4:79.

172. Churruca K, Pomare C, Ellis LA, Long JC, Henderson SB, Murphy LED, et al. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs): A review of generic and condition-specific measures and a discussion of trends and issues. Health Expect. 2021;24(4):1015-24.

173. Marshall S, Haywood K, Fitzpatrick R. Impact of patient-reported outcome measures on routine practice: a structured review. J Eval Clin Pract. 2006;12(5):559-68.

174. Agency EM. Appendix 2 to the guideline on the evaluation of anticancer medicinal products in man: the use of patient-reported outcome (PRO) measures in oncology studies. European Medicines Agency London, United Kingdom; 2016.

175. Fax D. Guidance for industry patient-reported outcome measures: use in medical product development to support labeling claims clinical/medical guidance for industry patient-reported outcome measures: use in medical product development to support. Labeling Claims. 2009:301-443.

176. Black N. Patient reported outcome measures could help transform healthcare. Bmj. 2013;346:f167.

177. Dawson J, Doll H, Fitzpatrick R, Jenkinson C, Carr AJ. The routine use of patient reported outcome measures in healthcare settings. Bmj. 2010;340:c186.

178. Chen J, Ou L, Hollis SJ. A systematic review of the impact of routine collection of patient reported outcome measures on patients, providers and health organisations in an oncologic setting. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:211.

179. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen M, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2011;20(10):1727-36.

180. Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 1993;85(5):365-76.

181. Postma TJ, Aaronson NK, Heimans JJ, Muller MJ, Hildebrand JG, Delattre JY, et al. The development of an EORTC quality of life questionnaire to assess chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: the QLQ-CIPN20. European journal of cancer. 2005;41(8):1135-9.

182. Streiner DL, Norman GR, Cairney J. Health measurement scales : a practical guide to their development and use. New York, New York: Oxford University Press; 2015.

183. Davidson M, Keating J. Patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs): how should I interpret reports of measurement properties? A practical guide for clinicians and researchers who are not biostatisticians. British journal of sports medicine. 2014;48(9):792-6.

184. Fayers PM, Machin D. Quality of Life: The Assessment, Analysis and Reporting of Patient-Reported Outcomes. Hoboken: Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated; 2016.

185. Lohr KN, Aaronson NK, Alonso J, Burnam MA, Patrick DL, Perrin EB, Roberts JS. Evaluating quality-of-life and health status instruments: development of scientific review criteria. Clin Ther. 1996;18(5):979-92.

186. Johnson JR, Temple R. Food and Drug Administration requirements for approval of new anticancer drugs. Cancer Treat Rep. 1985;69(10):1155-9.

187. Outcomes of cancer treatment for technology assessment and cancer treatment guidelines. American Society of Clinical Oncology. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1996;14(2):671-9.

188. Deshields TL, Potter P, Olsen S, Liu J. The persistence of symptom burden: symptom experience and quality of life of cancer patients across one year. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2014;22(4):1089-96.

189. Sorbye H, Köhne CH, Sargent DJ, Glimelius B. Patient characteristics and stratification in medical treatment studies for metastatic colorectal cancer: a proposal for standardization of patient characteristic reporting and stratification. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2007;18(10):1666-72.

190. Hurria A, Levit LA, Dale W, Mohile SG, Muss HB, Fehrenbacher L, et al. Improving the Evidence Base for Treating Older Adults With Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Statement. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2015;33(32):3826-33.

191. Maughan TS, James RD, Kerr DJ, Ledermann JA, Seymour MT, Topham C, et al. Comparison of intermittent and continuous palliative chemotherapy for advanced colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2003;361(9356):457-64.

192. Adams RA, Meade AM, Seymour MT, Wilson RH, Madi A, Fisher D, et al. Intermittent versus continuous oxaliplatin and fluoropyrimidine combination chemotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced colorectal cancer: results of the randomised phase 3 MRC COIN trial. The lancet oncology. 2011;12(7):642-53.

193. Labianca R, Sobrero A, Isa L, Cortesi E, Barni S, Nicolella D, et al. Intermittent versus continuous chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer: a randomised 'GISCAD' trial. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2011;22(5):1236-42.
194. Simkens LH, van Tinteren H, May A, ten Tije AJ, Creemers GJ, Loosveld OJ, et al. Maintenance

treatment with capecitabine and bevacizumab in metastatic colorectal cancer (CAIRO3): a phase 3 randomised controlled trial of the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group. Lancet. 2015;385(9980):1843-52.

195. Adams RA, Fisher DJ, Graham J, Seligmann JF, Seymour M, Kaplan R, et al. Capecitabine Versus Active Monitoring in Stable or Responding Metastatic Colorectal Cancer After 16 Weeks of First-Line Therapy: Results of the Randomized FOCUS4-N Trial. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2021;39(33):3693-704.

196. Sonbol MB, Mountjoy LJ, Firwana B, Liu AJ, Almader-Douglas D, Mody K, et al. The Role of Maintenance Strategies in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer: A Systematic Review and Network Metaanalysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. JAMA Oncol. 2020;6(3):e194489. 197. Hung HC, Chien TW, Tsay SL, Hang HM, Liang SY. Patient and clinical variables account for changes in health- related quality of life and symptom burden as treatment outcomes in colorectal cancer: a longitudinal study. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2013;14(3):1905-9.

198. Domati F, Luppi G, Reggiani-Bonetti L, Zironi S, Depenni R, Fontana A, et al. The perception of health-related quality of life in colon cancer patients during chemotherapy: differences between men and women. Intern Emerg Med. 2015;10(4):423-9.

199. Mayrbäurl B, Giesinger JM, Burgstaller S, Piringer G, Holzner B, Thaler J. Quality of life across chemotherapy lines in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: a prospective single-center observational study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2016;24(2):667-74.

200. Röhrl K, Guren MG, Astrup GL, Småstuen MC, Rustøen T. High symptom burden is associated with impaired quality of life in colorectal cancer patients during chemotherapy: A prospective longitudinal study. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2020;44:101679.

201. Røhrl K, Guren MG, Miaskowski C, Cooper BA, Diep LM, Rustøen T. No Differences in Symptom Burden Between Colorectal Cancer Patients Receiving Curative Versus Palliative Chemotherapy. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2016;52(4):539-47.

202. Röhrl K, Guren MG, Småstuen MC, Rustøen T. Symptoms during chemotherapy in colorectal cancer patients. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(8):3007-17.

203. Pinto C, Di Fabio F, Rosati G, Lolli IR, Ruggeri EM, Ciuffreda L, et al. Observational study on quality of life, safety, and effectiveness of first-line cetuximab plus chemotherapy in KRAS wild-type metastatic colorectal cancer patients: the ObservEr Study. Cancer medicine. 2016;5(11):3272-81.

204. Teker F, Demirag G, Erdem D, Kemal Y, Yucel I. Quality of life in colorectal cancer patients during chemotherapy in the era of monoclonal antibody therapies. Journal of BUON : official journal of the Balkan Union of Oncology. 2015;20(2):443-51.

205. Schuurhuizen CS, Verheul HM, Braamse AM, Buffart LM, Bloemendal HJ, Dekker J, Konings IR. The predictive value of cumulative toxicity for quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer during first-line palliative chemotherapy. Cancer management and research. 2018;10:3015-21.

206. Akin S, Kas Guner C. Investigation of the relationship among fatigue, self-efficacy and quality of life during chemotherapy in patients with breast, lung or gastrointestinal cancer. European journal of cancer care. 2019;28(1):e12898.

207. Marschner N, Zacharias S, Lordick F, Hegewisch-Becker S, Martens U, Welt A, et al. Association of Disease Progression With Health-Related Quality of Life Among Adults With Breast, Lung, Pancreatic, and Colorectal Cancer. JAMA network open. 2020;3(3):e200643.

208. Hariton E, Locascio JJ. Randomised controlled trials - the gold standard for effectiveness research: Study design: randomised controlled trials. Bjog. 2018;125(13):1716.

209. Malterud K. Kvalitative forskningsmetoder for medisin og helsefag. 4. utg. ed. Oslo: Universitetsforl.; 2017.

210. Braun V, Clarke V. One size fits all? What counts as quality practice in (reflexive) thematic analysis? Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2021;18(3):328-52.

211. Chamberlain K. Troubling methodology. Health Psychology Review. 2011;5(1):48-54.

212. Braun V, Clarke V, Braun V. Thematic analysis : a practical guide. Los Angeles, California: SAGE; 2022.

213. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2006;3(2):77-101.

214. Borg GA. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 1982;14(5):377-81.

215. Lavoie Smith EM, Barton DL, Qin R, Steen PD, Aaronson NK, Loprinzi CL. Assessing patientreported peripheral neuropathy: the reliability and validity of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-CIPN20 Questionnaire. Quality of life research : an international journal of quality of life aspects of treatment, care and rehabilitation. 2013;22(10):2787-99.

Chalder T, Berelowitz G, Pawlikowska T, Watts L, Wessely S, Wright D, Wallace EP.
 Development of a fatigue scale. Journal of psychosomatic research. 1993;37(2):147-53.
 Kurtze N, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE, Flanders WD. Reliability and validity of self-reported physical activity in the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study: HUNT 1. Scand J Public Health. 2008;36(1):52-

61.
218. Singh SJ, Morgan MD, Scott S, Walters D, Hardman AE. Development of a shuttle walking test of disability in patients with chronic airways obstruction. Thorax. 1992;47(12):1019-24.

219. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. Journal of gerontology. 1994;49(2):M85-94.

Hurvitz EA, Richardson JK, Werner RA. Unipedal stance testing in the assessment of peripheral neuropathy. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2001;82(2):198-204.
Jones CJ, Rikli RE, Beam WC. A 30-s chair-stand test as a measure of lower body strength in

community-residing older adults. Research quarterly for exercise and sport. 1999;70(2):113-9.

222. Fayers PM AN, Bjordal K, Groenvold M, Curran D, Bottomley A. The EORTC QLQ-C30 Scoring Manual (3rd Edition) Brussels: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer; 2001 [Available from: <u>https://www.eortc.org/app/uploads/sites/2/2018/02/SCmanual.pdf</u>.

223. Osoba D, Rodrigues G, Myles J, Zee B, Pater J. Interpreting the significance of changes in health-related quality-of-life scores. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 1998;16(1):139-44.

224. Musoro JZ, Sodergren SC, Coens C, Pochesci A, Terada M, King MT, et al. Minimally important differences for interpreting the EORTC QLQ-C30 in patients with advanced colorectal cancer treated with chemotherapy. Colorectal Dis. 2020;22(12):2278-87.

225. Liposits G, Eshøj HR, Möller S, Winther SB, Skuladottir H, Ryg J, et al. Quality of Life in Vulnerable Older Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Receiving Palliative Chemotherapy-The Randomized NORDIC9-Study. Cancers. 2021;13(11).

226. Nationellt vårdprogram tjock- och ändtarmscancer Stockholm: Regionala cancercentrum; 2016 [updated June 22. 2021. Available from:

https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/diagnoser/tjock-och-andtarmscancer/vardprogram/. 227. Kuzel AJ. Sampling in qualitative inquiry. Doing qualitative research. Research methods for primary care, Vol. 3. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc; 1992. p. 31-44.

228. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample Size in Qualitative Interview Studies: Guided by Information Power. Qualitative health research. 2015.

229. Braun V, Clarke V. To saturate or not to saturate? Questioning data saturation as a useful concept for thematic analysis and sample-size rationales. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health. 2021;13(2):201-16.

230. Braun V, Clarke V. Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health. 2019;11(4):589-97.

231. Saldaña J. Analyzing Change in Longitudinal Qualitative Data. Youth Theatre Journal. 2002;16(1):1-17.

232. Kidder LH, Fine M. Qualitative and Quantitative Methods: When Stories Converge. New Directions for Program Evaluation. 1987(35):57-75.

233. Zopf EM, Schulz H, Poeschko J, Aschenbroich K, Wilhelm T, Eypasch E, et al. Effects of supervised aerobic exercise on cardiorespiratory fitness and patient-reported health outcomes in colorectal cancer patients undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy-a pilot study. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2022;30(3):1945-55.

234. Sweegers MG, Buffart LM, van Veldhuizen WM, Geleijn E, Verheul HMW, Brug J, et al. How Does a Supervised Exercise Program Improve Quality of Life in Patients with Cancer? A Concept Mapping Study Examining Patients' Perspectives. The oncologist. 2019;24(6):e374-e83.

235. Hatlevoll I, Skolbekken JA, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Hofsli E. Colorectal cancer patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy-A qualitative study. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2021.

236. Hurria A, Jones L, Muss HB. Cancer Treatment as an Accelerated Aging Process: Assessment, Biomarkers, and Interventions. American Society of Clinical Oncology educational book American Society of Clinical Oncology Annual Meeting. 2016;35:e516-22.

237. Scott JM, Nilsen TS, Gupta D, Jones LW. Exercise Therapy and Cardiovascular Toxicity in Cancer. Circulation. 2018;137(11):1176-91.

238. Emslie C, Whyte F, Campbell A, Mutrie N, Lee L, Ritchie D, Kearney N. 'I wouldn't have been interested in just sitting round a table talking about cancer'; exploring the experiences of women with breast cancer in a group exercise trial. Health Educ Res. 2007;22(6):827-38.

239. Backman M, Browall M, Sundberg CJ, Wengström Y. Experiencing health - Physical activity during adjuvant chemotherapy treatment for women with breast cancer. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2016;21:160-7.

240. Paltiel H, Solvoll E, Loge JH, Kaasa S, Oldervoll L. "The healthy me appears": palliative cancer patients' experiences of participation in a physical group exercise program. Palliative & supportive care. 2009;7(4):459-67.

241. Ingram C, Wessel J, Courneya KS. Women's perceptions of home-based exercise performed during adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2010;14(3):238-43.

242. Husebø AM, Allan H, Karlsen B, Søreide JA, Bru E. Exercise: A Path to Wellness During Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer? Cancer nursing. 2015;38(5):E13-20.

243. Thomsen M, Guren MG, Skovlund E, Glimelius B, Hjermstad MJ, Johansen JS, et al. Healthrelated quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer, association with systemic inflammatory response and RAS and BRAF mutation status. European journal of cancer. 2017;81:26-35.

244. Soler-González G, Sastre-Valera J, Viana-Alonso A, Aparicio-Urtasun J, García-Escobar I, Gómez-España MA, et al. Update on the management of elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Clinical & translational oncology : official publication of the Federation of Spanish Oncology Societies and of the National Cancer Institute of Mexico. 2023.

245. Hamaker M, Lund C, Te Molder M, Soubeyran P, Wildiers H, van Huis L, Rostoft S. Geriatric assessment in the management of older patients with cancer - A systematic review (update). Journal of geriatric oncology. 2022;13(6):761-77.

246. Moth EB, Vardy J, Blinman P. Decision-making in geriatric oncology: systemic treatment considerations for older adults with colon cancer. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;10(12):1321-40.

247. McCleary NJ, Dotan E, Browner I. Refining the chemotherapy approach for older patients with colon cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2014;32(24):2570-80.

248. Venderbosch S, Doornebal J, Teerenstra S, Lemmens W, Punt CJ, Koopman M. Outcome of first line systemic treatment in elderly compared to younger patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective analysis of the CAIRO and CAIRO2 studies of the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG). Acta oncologica. 2012;51(7):831-9.

249. Schuurhuizen C, Braamse AMJ, Konings I, Sprangers MAG, Ket JCF, Dekker J, Verheul HMW. Does severe toxicity affect global quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer during palliative systemic treatment? A systematic review. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO. 2017;28(3):478-86.

250. Rosati G, Pinto C, Di Fabio F, Chiara S, Lolli IR, Ruggeri EM, et al. Quality of life, compliance, safety and effectiveness in fit older metastatic colorectal patients with cancer treated in first-line with chemotherapy plus cetuximab: A restrospective analysis from the ObservEr study. Journal of geriatric oncology. 2018;9(3):243-8.

251. Schneider A, Kotronoulas G, Papadopoulou C, McCann L, Miller M, McBride J, et al. Trajectories and predictors of state and trait anxiety in patients receiving chemotherapy for breast and colorectal cancer: Results from a longitudinal study. European journal of oncology nursing : the official journal of European Oncology Nursing Society. 2016;24:1-7.

252. Ahles TA, Root JC, Ryan EL. Cancer- and cancer treatment-associated cognitive change: an update on the state of the science. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2012;30(30):3675-86.

253. Asher A, Myers JS. The effect of cancer treatment on cognitive function. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2015;13(7):441-50.

254. Huang V, Mackin L, Kober KM, Paul SM, Cooper BA, Conley YP, et al. Distinct sleep disturbance and cognitive dysfunction profiles in oncology outpatients receiving chemotherapy. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2022.

255. Krok JL, Baker TA, McMillan SC. Age Differences in the Presence of Pain and Psychological Distress in Younger and Older Cancer Patients. Journal of Hospice & Palliative Nursing. 2013;15(2):107-13.

256. Yoon SL, Scarton L, Duckworth L, Yao Y, Ezenwa MO, Suarez ML, et al. Pain, symptom distress, and pain barriers by age among patients with cancer receiving hospice care: Comparison of baseline data. Journal of geriatric oncology. 2021;12(7):1068-75.

257. Gauthier LR, Dworkin RH, Warr D, Pillai Riddell R, Macpherson AK, Rodin G, et al. Age-Related Patterns in Cancer Pain and Its Psychosocial Impact: Investigating the Role of Variability in Physical and Mental Health Quality of Life. Pain medicine (Malden, Mass). 2018;19(4):658-76.

258. Bevilacqua LA, Dulak D, Schofield E, Starr TD, Nelson CJ, Roth AJ, et al. Prevalence and predictors of depression, pain, and fatigue in older- versus younger-adult cancer survivors. Psychooncology. 2018;27(3):900-7.

259. Nolte S, Liegl G, Petersen MA, Aaronson NK, Costantini A, Fayers PM, et al. General population normative data for the EORTC QLQ-C30 health-related quality of life questionnaire based on 15,386 persons across 13 European countries, Canada and the Unites States. European journal of cancer. 2019;107:153-63.

260. Teddlie C, Tashakkori A. Foundations of mixed methods research : integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches in the social and behavioral sciences. Los Angeles: SAGE; 2009.

261. Nelson J. Using conceptual depth criteria: addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. Qualitative research : QR. 2017;17(5):554-70.

262. Vasileiou K, Barnett J, Thorpe S, Young T. Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2018;18(1):148.

263. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care. 2007;19(6):349-57.

264. Critical Appraisal Skills Programme Qualitative Studies Checklist [Internet]. CASP. 2018. Available from: <u>https://casp-uk.net/images/checklist/documents/CASP-Qualitative-Studies-Checklist/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018.pdf</u>.

265. Levitt HM, Bamberg M, Creswell JW, Frost DM, Josselson R, Suárez-Orozco C. Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. Am Psychol. 2018;73(1):26-46.

266. Huang HW, Wu PY, Su PF, Li CI, Yeh YM, Lin PC, et al. A Simplified Diagnostic Classification Scheme of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy. Dis Markers. 2020;2020:3402108.
267. Lancaster GA. Pilot and feasibility studies come of age! Pilot and feasibility studies. 2015;1(1):1.

268. Malterud K. Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines. Lancet. 2001;358(9280):483-8.

269. El-Kotob R, Giangregorio LM. Pilot and feasibility studies in exercise, physical activity, or rehabilitation research. Pilot and feasibility studies. 2018;4:137.

270. Creswell JW, Creswell JD, Creswell JW. Research design : qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sixth edition.; International student edition. ed. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage; 2023.

271. Kristensen A, Solheim TS, Amundsen T, Hjelde HH, Kaasa S, Sørhaug S, Grønberg BH. Measurement of health-related quality of life during chemotherapy - the importance of timing. Acta oncologica. 2017;56(5):737-45.

272. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic inquiry. Beverly Hills, Calif: Sage; 1985.

273. Vetter TR, Mascha EJ. Bias, Confounding, and Interaction: Lions and Tigers, and Bears, Oh My! Anesth Analg. 2017;125(3):1042-8.

274. De Lazzari N, Niels T, Tewes M, Götte M. A Systematic Review of the Safety, Feasibility and Benefits of Exercise for Patients with Advanced Cancer. Cancers. 2021;13(17).

9. Appendix

Contents

- 1. Borg's scale
- 2. EORTC QLQ-CIPN 20
- 3. Fatigue questionnaire
- 4. HUNT PA level
- 5. EORTC QLQ-C30
- 6. Interview guide
- 7. Paper I
- 8. Paper II
- 9. Paper III

"Borg-skala"

Borg	Nivå	Opplevelsen	Økt-type
20	"Svært anstrengende"	Det er få minutter til du	
19		må stoppe.	
18			
17	"Meget anstrengende"	Du puster kraftig, og kan	Hard økt
16	, j	kun svare med	
	"Snakkegrensen"	enkeltord.	
15		Du kan snakke, men må ta pauser	Medium økt
	"Anstrengende"	for å trekke	
14		Du kan synge,	
		men det høres ikke spesielt pent ut	
13	"Litt anstrengende"	Du kan snakke relativt uanstrengt,	Lett økt
12	"Ganske lett"	men det er litt slitsomt å	
11		synge.	
10	"Meget lett"	Du kan snakke helt uanstrengt, og du	Oppvarming Nedtrapping
9		kan synge med.	
8			
7			
6	"Hvile"	Før og ette	r trening





Endel pasienter opplever av og til at de har noen av følgende symptomer eller problemer. Vær vennlig å angi i hvilken grad du har hatt disse symptomene eller problemene i løpet av den siste uka. Sett kryss for det svaret som best beskriver din tilstand.

l lø	pet av den siste uka:	lkke i det hele tatt	Litt	En del	Svært mye
31.	Har du hatt kribling i fingre eller hender?				
32.	Har du hatt kribling i tær eller føtter?				
33.	Har du hatt nummenhet i fingre eller hender?				
34.	Har du hatt nummenhet i tær eller føtter?				
35.	Har du hatt ilende eller brennende smerte i dine fing eller hender?	re			
36.	Har du hatt ilende eller brennende smerte i dine tær eller føtter?				
37.	Har du hatt kramper i dine hender?				
38.	Har du hatt kramper i dine føtter?				
39.	Har du hatt problemer med å stå eller gå p.g.a. vanskeligheter med å føle bakken under dine føtter?	?			
40.	Har du hatt vanskelig for å skille mellom varmt og ka vann?	aldt			
41.	Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å skrive p.g.a.at du har hatt problemer med å holde en penn?				
42.	Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å håndtere små gjenstander med fingrene (f. eks. kneppe små knapper)?				
43.	Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å åpne et glass med skrukork eller en flaske p.g.a. kraftløshet i hendene?	d □ ?			
44.	Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å gå p.g.a. at føtten dine falt nedover (droppfot)?	e 🗌			
45.	Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å gå i trapper eller r deg fra en stol p.g.a. kraftløshet i bena?	eise			
46.	Har du blitt svimmel når du har reist deg fra en sitter eller liggende stilling?	nde 🗌			
47.	Har du hatt uklart syn?				
48.	Har du hatt vanskelig for å høre?				





PID:

I løpet av den siste uka:

Vennligst svar på følgende spørsmål kun dersom du kjører bil

49 Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å bruke pedalene?	lkke i det hele tatt □	Litt	En del	Svært mye
Vennligst svar på følgende spørsmål kun dersom d	u er mann			
	lkke i det hele tatt	Litt	En del	Svært mye
50. Har du hatt vanskeligheter med å få eller oppretthol en ereksjon?	de 🗌			





d: | |

Fatigue



Vi vil gjerne vite om du har følt deg sliten, svak eller i mangel av overskudd den siste måned. Vennligst besvar alle spørsmålene ved å krysse av for det svaret du synes passer best for deg. Vi ønsker at du besvarer alle spørsmålene selv om du ikke har hatt slike problemer. Vi spør om hvordan du har følt deg i det siste og ikke hvordan du følte deg for lenge siden. Hvis du har følt deg sliten lenge, ber vi om at du sammenligner deg med hvordan du følte deg sist du var bra. Sett kun ett kryss for hvert spørsmål.

Har du problemer med at du føler deg sliten?	Mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Trenger du mer hvile?	Nei, mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Føler du deg søvnig eller døsig?	Mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Har du problemer med å komme i gang med ting?	Mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Mangler du overskudd?	Ikke i det hele tatt	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Har du redusert styrke i musklene dine?	Ikke i det hele tatt	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Føler du deg svak?	Mindre enn vanlig	Som vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Har du vansker med å konsentrere deg?	Mindre enn vanlig	Som vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Forsnakker du deg i samtaler?	Mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Er det vanskeligere å finne det rette ordet?	Mindre enn vanlig	Ikke mer enn vanlig	Mer enn vanlig	Mye mer enn vanlig
Hvordan er hukommelsen din?	Bedre enn vanlig	Ikke verre enn vanlig	Verre enn vanlig	Mye verre enn vanlig

Hvis du føler deg sliten for tiden, om lenge har det vart? (ett kryss)	trent hvor	Hvis du føler deg sliten for t mye av tiden kjenner du det	iden, omtrent hvor ? (ett kryss)
Mindre enn en uke		25% av tiden	
Mindre enn tre måneder		50% av tiden	
Mellom tre og seks måneder		75% av tiden	
Seks måneder eller mer		Hele tiden	
		I	

Vennligst kontroller at du har besvart alle spørsmålene





- Mnd:
- 1. Under arbeid (lønnet eller ulønnet) eller vanlige daglige gjøremål- Hvordan vil du beskrive aktivitetsnivået ditt de siste 7 dagene?
 - For det meste stillesittende aktiviteter
 - Aktiviteter som krever at du går mye
 - Aktiviteter hvor du går og løfter mye
 - Tungt kroppsarbeid

Med mosjon mener vi at du for eksempel går tur, går på ski, svømmer eller driver trening/idrett.

- 2. Hvor ofte mosjonerte du de siste 7 dagene? (Ta et gjennomsnitt)
 - 🗌 Aldri
 - Sjeldnere enn en gang i uka

🗌 En gang i uka

2-3 ganger i uka

- Omtrent hver dag
- **3. Hvor lenge holder du på hver gang?** (*Ta et gjennomsnitt av de siste 7 dagene*)
 - Mindre enn 15 minutter
 - 15 29 minutes
 - 30 minutter til en time
 - 🗌 Mer enn en time
- 4. På en skala fra 6-20, hvor hard var aktivitetene du vanligvis utførte når du mosjonerte/trente (tenk på de siste 7 dagene)?
 - 6
 7 Meget, meget lett
 8
 9 Meget lett
 10
 11 Ganske lett
 13 Litt anstrengende
 14
 15 Anstrengende
 16
 17 Meget anstrengende
 18
 19 Svært anstrengene
 20



Mnd: EORTC QLQ-C: (Versjon 3.0)	30	F	PID:	
Dine initialer: Dato for Vi er interessert i forhold vedrørende deg og din helse. spørsmål ved å sette et kryss x i den boksen som best «riktige» eller «gale» svar. Alle opplysningene vil bli be	utfylling: Vær så venn beskriver din handlet konfid	lig å besva tilstand. E densielt.	. 2 0 are hvert Det er ingen	
 Har du vanskeligheter med å utføre anstrengende aktiviteter, slik som å bære en tung handlekurv eller en koffert? 	Ikke i det hele tatt	Litt	En del	Svært mye
2. Har du vanskeligheter med å gå en <u>lang</u> tur?				
 Har du vanskeligheter med å gå en <u>kort</u> tur utendørs? 				
 Er du nødt til å ligge til sengs eller sitte i en stol i løpet av dagen? 				
 Trenger du hjelp til å spise, kle på deg, vaske deg eller gå på toalettet? 				
<u>I løpet av den siste uken:</u>	lkke i det hele tatt	Litt	En del	Svært mye
6. Har du hatt redusert evne til å arbeide eller utføre andre daglige aktiviteter?				
 Har du hatt redusert evne til å utføre dine hobbyer eller andre fritidsaktiviteter? 				
8. Har du vært tung i pusten?				
9. Har du hatt smerter?				
10. Har du hatt behov for å hvile?				
11. Har du hatt søvnproblemer?				
12. Har du følt deg slapp?				
13. Har du hatt dårlig matlyst?				
14.Har du vært kvalm?				

30529

<u>Bla om til neste side</u>

Mnd:		F	PID:	
l løpet av den siste uken:	lkke i det hele tatt	Litt	En del	Svært mye
15.Har du kastet opp?				
16. Har du hatt treg mage?				
17.Har du hatt løs mage?				
18.Har du følt deg trett?				
19. Har smerter påvirket dine daglige aktiviteter?				
20. Har du hatt problemer med å konsentrere deg, f.eks. med å lese en avis eller se på TV?				
21. Har du følt deg anspent?				
22.Har du vært engstelig?				
23. Har du følt deg irritabel?				
24. Har du følt deg deprimert?				
25. Har du hatt problemer med å huske ting?				
26. Har din fysiske tilstand eller medisinske behandling påvirket ditt <u>familieliv</u> ?				
27. Har din fysiske tilstand eller medisinske behandling påvirket dine <u>sosiale aktiviteter</u> ?				
28. Har din fysiske tilstand eller medisinske behandling gitt deg økonomiske problemer?				

Som svar på de neste spørsmålene, sett et kryss i den boksen fra 1 til 7 som best beskriver din tilstand.

din <u>helse</u>	vært i lø	pet av de	en siste ι	ıka?		
2	3	4	5	6	7	
ig					Helt utmerket	
IIVSKValite	<u>eten</u> ain v	ært i løp	et av der	1 SISTE UK	a?	
2	3	4	5	6	7	
ig					Helt utmerket	
	din <u>helse</u> 2 ig <u>livskvalite</u> 2 ig	din <u>helse</u> vært i lø 2] 3 ig <u>livskvaliteten</u> din v 2] 3 ig	din <u>helse</u> vært i løpet av de 2 3 4 ig <u>livskvaliteten</u> din vært i løp 2 3 4 ig	din <u>helse</u> vært i løpet av den siste u 2 3 4 5 ig <u>livskvaliteten</u> din vært i løpet av der 2 3 4 5 ig	din <u>helse</u> vært i løpet av den siste uka? 2 3 4 5 6 ig <u>livskvaliteten</u> din vært i løpet av den siste uk 2 3 4 5 6 ig	

Versjon 3.0 1995©Copyright EORTC Study Group on Quality of Life. All rights reserved.



Intervjuguide for semistrukturert intervju med deltagere i FAKT-studien

- Innledning med bakgrunn for studien.
- Informasjon om gjennomføring av intervjuet og hvordan det blir behandlet i etterkant
- Bekreftelse på samtykkeerklæring
- Dokumentasjon av informantens kjønn, alder, jobb/student/sykemeldt
- Varighet: 30-60 minutter

Intervjuguide, før oppstart

Intervjuguiden tar utgangspunkt i deltagernes erfaringer rundt disse områdene:

- Tidligere erfaring med trening
- Andre personers erfaringer, anbefalinger, historier ift cellegiftbehandling
- Egen motivasjon for å skulle trene (fysisk form, velvære, psykisk helse, normalitet)
- Symptomer, plager og bivirkninger
- Logistikk
- ➢ Hva er din tidligere erfaring med trening?
- > Hva tror du dette kan gi deg av fordeler og/eller ulemper i tiden som kommer?
- > Hvilket inntrykk har du fra før om hvordan man har det under cellegiftbehandling?
- > Kan du si noe om hvordan du tror dette påvirker deg i fasen du er i nå?
- > Hva er det du ønsker å oppnå med treningen?
- Hva tenker du om det å trene også om du har plager, symptomer og/eller bivirkninger?
- > Har du noen tanker om hvordan du skal håndtere disse eventuelle utfordringene?
- > Hva tenker du om det praktiske rundt å delta? Tid, sted osv.

Intervjuguide, midtveis

Intervjuguiden tar utgangspunkt i deltagernes erfaringer rundt disse områdene:

- Egen motivasjon for å skulle trene fram til nå (fysisk form, velvære, psykisk helse, normalitet) Endret seg fra oppstart
- Symptomer, plager og bivirkninger
- Treningen: type trening, individuelt, intensitet, dose, fysioterapeutens rolle
- Logistikk

- ➢ Hva har vært motivasjonen for å delta fram til nå?
- > Har motivasjonen for å delta endret seg siden oppstart? Eventuelt hvordan?
- Hvilke opplevelser har du så langt i forhold til å trene med eventuelle plager, symptomer og bivirkninger som har oppstått?
- > Hvis bivirkninger har vært tilstede, hva har vært din strategi for å trene likevel?
- Hva synes du om treningene så langt?
- ▶ Hva ved treningen tenker du burde endres for at du skulle være 100% fornøyd?
- Hvordan har det praktiske rundt treningen fungert for deg med tanke på tidspunkt, sted osv.?

Intervjuguide, sluttfase

Intervjuguiden tar utgangspunkt i deltagernes erfaringer rundt disse områdene:

- Egen motivasjon for å skulle trene siste halvdel (fysisk form, velvære, psykisk helse, normalitet) Endret seg underveis
- Symptomer, plager og bivirkninger
- Treningen: type trening, individuelt, intensitet, dose, fysioterapeutens rolle
- Logistikk
- > Hva har vært motivasjonen for å delta på treningen i behandlingsperioden?
- > Har motivasjonen for å delta endret seg underveis? Eventuelt hvordan?
- Hvilke opplevelser har du i forhold til å trene med eventuelle plager, symptomer og bivirkninger som har oppstått?
- > Hvis bivirkninger har vært tilstede, hva har vært din strategi for å trene likevel?
- ➢ Hva synes du om treningene?
- ▶ Hva ved treningen tenker du burde endres for at du skulle være 100% fornøyd?
- Hvordan har det praktiske rundt treningen fungert for deg med tanke på tidspunkt, sted osv.?

Paper I

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer—a non-randomized feasibility study

I. Hatlevoll^{1,2} · L. M. Oldervoll^{3,4} · A. Wibe^{2,5} · G. B. Stene^{1,6} · S. N. Stafne^{3,7} · E. Hofsli^{1,2}

Received: 8 July 2020 / Accepted: 16 September 2020 / Published online: 8 October 2020 \odot The Author(s) 2020

Abstract

Background Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer worldwide, and a large proportion of the patients receive adjuvant oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy. Most of these experience chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN), affecting quality of life. Evidence to advise exercise to reduce CIPN is limited. The primary aim of this study was to investigate the feasibility of an exercise intervention and data collection among CRC patients during adjuvant chemotherapy.

Material and methods This non-randomized feasibility study included CRC patients admitted to adjuvant chemotherapy to an intervention consisting of supervised aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises twice a week at the hospital in addition to home-based exercise once a week. A physiotherapist supervised the patients, and the intervention lasted throughout the period of adjuvant chemotherapy (12–24 weeks). Participants performed physical tests and filled in questionnaires at baseline, 3, 6, 9, and 12 months.

Results and conclusion Nineteen (63%) of 30 invited patients consented. A major barrier to recruit or consent to participation was long travel distance to the hospital. The completion rate of questionnaires and physical tests were near 100%. Seven participants dropped out, five before the intervention started. Median attendance to supervised exercise was 85%. There were no serious adverse events related to the intervention. Except for a planned higher intensity of endurance exercise, we found the intervention feasible and safe. Based on experiences in this study, some adjustments have been made for an upcoming randomized trial, including the supervised exercise taking place close to participants' homes.

Trial registration NCT03885817, March 22, 2019, retrospectively registered.

Keywords Colorectal cancer · Physical exercise · Adjuvant chemotherapy · Neuropathy · Oxaliplatin

I. Hatlevoll ingunn.hatlevoll@stolav.no

- ¹ Department of Oncology, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway
- ² Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway
- ³ Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway
- ⁴ LHL-clinics, Trondheim, Norway
- ⁵ Department of surgery, St. Olav's Hospital, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim, Norway
- ⁶ Department of Neuromedicine and Human Movement Science, The Faculty of Medicine and Health, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway
- ⁷ Department of Clinical Services, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer worldwide with 1.8 million new cases each year [1]. Adjuvant chemotherapy is a standard treatment for stage III and some high-risk stage II colon cancer [2]. In addition, postoperative chemotherapy is considered after surgery for stage IV CRC and after resection of locally advanced rectal cancer. Chemotherapy can cause several short- and long-term side effects, which may have major negative impacts on patients' quality of life [3–5]. Chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy (CIPN) is a frequent side effect from oxaliplatin, which is used in the adjuvant treatment of CRC, with more than 90% of the patients exposed to the compound experiencing CIPN [6].

According to recent guidelines, there is strong evidence to advise cancer patients to carry out aerobic exercise alone or in combination with resistance training at moderate intensity,

both during and after treatment, to improve several cancerrelated health outcomes [7]. Also, there are exercise guidelines for cancer survivors based on guidelines for the general population with both moderate-intensity and vigorous physical activities [8]. Notably, current recommendations are mainly based on evidence from clinical trials conducted in breast or prostate cancer patients. Less is known about the effects of higher-intensity aerobic exercise during cancer treatment, and studies on this topic are scarce. Independent of outcomes, few randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have investigated the effects of exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy among CRC patients, and in available studies, the sample sizes are small [9]. To our knowledge, there are no trials exploring the effects of a combination of supervised and home-based aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises for this patient group. For the outcome CIPN, there is less knowledge concerning the effect of exercise, and recently published consensus statements and reviews conclude that the evidence is still insufficient [7, 10, 11].

Before the performance of a full-scale RCT to evaluate the effects of an exercise intervention during adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC, issues of recruitment and retention need to be properly addressed. In addition, exploration of preliminary efficacy (changes) in patient-reported CIPN and fatigue is necessary for the estimation of sample size in the future RCT. On this background, the primary aim of the current study was to evaluate the feasibility of an exercise intervention and data collection among patients during adjuvant treatment for CRC by tracking willingness to participate, inclusion and dropout rate, attendance and adherence to the intervention, safety, and completion rate of questionnaires and physical testing. The secondary aim was to explore post-intervention changes in CIPN and fatigue.

Material and methods

Trial design

This was as a single-centre, non-randomized interventional feasibility study with a pre-post design performed at St. Olav's hospital in Trondheim, Norway. Fourteen months after commencement of the trial, a collaborative hospital (alesund hospital) was invited to participate in the study to prepare this hospital for the future RCT.

Participants

The eligibility criteria were radical resection for stage II–IV CRC within the last 3 months and scheduled for adjuvant chemotherapy (Resection for synchronous metastases was allowed.), age 18–80 years, performance status 0–2 according to the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group [12], ability to conduct the intervention based on the treating physician's assessment, and ability to understand Norwegian language. The exclusion criteria were serious comorbidity contraindicating physical exercise and treatment for other cancers during the 5 past years, except for basal cell carcinoma of the skin and cervical carcinoma in situ.

During the recruitment period, the consulting oncologists screened all patients referred to adjuvant chemotherapy after surgery for CRC for eligibility. The treating oncologist provided oral and written information at the first consultation, and a study coordinator obtained written informed consent within a few days.

Intervention

The intervention was an individually tailored and supervised exercise programme including progressive aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises. A physiotherapist, certified in giving exercise for cancer patients, supervised the exercise sessions twice a week at a specialized outpatient training facility for cancer patients located within the hospital area. In addition, the participants were encouraged to perform one weekly, unsupervised exercise session with endurance and balance exercises in their home setting. The exercise intervention lasted throughout the period of adjuvant treatment.

Each exercise session consisted of 10-min warm-up, 20min aerobic endurance, 15-min resistance, and 15-min balance exercises. Participants performed the warm-up and endurance exercise on a treadmill. Endurance exercise was standardized as a gradual approach to intervals of 4 min (Table 1). The Borg's scale [13] was used to instruct the participants regarding intensity of the endurance exercise and to map the participants' rate of perceived exertion (RPE). The physiotherapist recorded RPE after warm-up and following each interval. On a scale from 6 (no effort) to 20 (maximal effort), the participants reported how strenuous the exercise was (RPE). For progression, the intensity of the interval training was increased during the intervention period; from 12–14 ('somewhat hard') on Borg's scale in weeks 1–16 to 14–16 ('hard') from week 17.

The resistance exercises were aimed at large muscle groups and followed a period plan that involved individually tailored progression according to standardized training principles (Table 1). During the first 2 weeks, the focus was adaptation, learning of technique, and intensity management. In weeks 3– 8, participants performed the exercises with submaximal intensity (low resistance, up to 12 repetitions in three series) to account for any postoperative limitations (e.g., avoiding high abdominal pressure and pain provocation). In weeks 9–16, exercise load was adjusted based on the weight the participant managed to lift a maximum of 10 times and repeated in three series. In the last period (weeks 17–24), intensity was increased by reducing the number of repetitions (6–8) and

Table 1 Endurance and	resistance	exercise
-------------------------------	------------	----------

Aerobic endurance exercise		
Period/exercise	Duration	Borg's scale
Week 1–2		
Walking on treadmill ¹	$1 \times 5 \min$	12-14
Week 3–8		
Intervals of uphill walking	$4-6 \times 2 \min$	12-14
Week 9–16		
Intervals of uphill walking	$3-4 \times 3 \min$	12–14
Week 17–24		
Intervals of uphill walking	$4 \times 3-4 \min$	14–16
Resistance exercise		
Period/exercise	Period	Repetitions (reps)
Week 1-8	Week 1	1 × 12 reps
Knee extension	Week 2	2×12 reps
Sitting chest press	Week 3-8	3×12 reps
Standing rowing		
Seat raise		
Week 9–24	Week 9–16	3×10 reps
Leg press	Week	$3 \times 8 \text{ RM}^2/4 \times$
Oblique seated chest press with manuals	17–24	6 RM
Standing rowing		
Lying on back, one leg alternately		
lowering		

¹ Getting accustomed to the treadmill

 2 RM = repetition maximum

increasing the number of series (3–4) to work up to maximum strength. In line with individually adapted progression, manual weights, elastic bands, and various exercise equipment were used.

Balance training consisted of a set of exercises, lasting 15– 20 min, to be performed on various surfaces (floor, cushions, or Bosu balls). Individual tailoring was based on the physiotherapist making a selection from a standardized pool of exercises with increasing difficulty from static to dynamic balance, and progress was monitored in the two weekly supervised sessions.

Outcomes

Primary outcomes

The rate of consenting participants among those invited for participation defined the feasibility outcome *willingness to participate. Inclusion rate* was defined as the number of included participants among eligible participants identified, and *dropout rate* was defined as the number of participants who withdrew from the study among consenting participants. This latter group was termed 'dropouts', and the rest were termed 'completers'.

Attendance to supervised exercise was calculated as the number of performed sessions divided by the number of planned sessions. The physiotherapist registered whether the participant met and why he/she did not meet. Adherence to supervised exercise was analysed by comparing the content of each session when a participant met with the exercise programme according to protocol. The physiotherapist registered the duration of the warm-up and the endurance exercise, the number and duration of each interval and intensity, the different resistance exercises and number of repetitions, and whether the participant performed the balance exercise. Looking at each component, adherence to endurance, resistance, and balance exercises was analysed, respectively. Attendance to unsupervised exercise was calculated by dividing the number of performed unsupervised exercise sessions with the number of unsupervised exercise sessions according to protocol, and it was the physiotherapist that registered whether the home training was done.

Safety, recorded as all serious adverse events (SAEs), was registered from the participants who started the intervention until 1 month after the end of the intervention. In addition, any adverse event occurring *during* supervised exercise was noted.

The feasibility of the data collection was measured by the *completion rate of questionnaires and physical testing*. The participants filled in questionnaires at baseline, after 3, 6, 9, and 12 months, and they performed the physical tests at baseline, after 3 and after 6 months. The questionnaires used were The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire C30 (EORTC QLQ-C30) [14], EORTC QLQ—Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy 20 (CIPN20) [15], and The Fatigue Questionnaire (FQ) [16]. Physical tests were 'Modified Shuttle walk', 'Sit-to-stand', 'Tandem stance', and 'Unipedal stance' [17–20]. Demographic variables, clinical characteristics, patient-reported physical activity, and sick leave were also assessed.

Secondary outcomes

Secondary outcomes were changes in patient-reported CIPN and fatigue between baseline (T_0) and 3 months after inclusion (T_1). CIPN was assessed by the 9-item EORTC QLQ-CIPN20 sensory subscale [15]. Each item is rated on a scale from 1 ('not at all') to 4 ('very much'). Fatigue was assessed by FQ which contains 13 questions. Each question is rated on a scale from 0 ('not at all' or 'less than usual') to 3 ('much worse than usual').

Adjuvant chemotherapy and change in assessments

According to the national guidelines at the time this study started, adjuvant chemotherapy for CRC should start within 4–8 weeks postoperatively and last for 24 weeks [2]. Younger patients (< 70 years) should receive combination chemotherapy with intravenous (IV) fluorouracil/calcium folinate or oral capecitabine in combination with IV oxaliplatin. The same guidelines recommended monotherapy with capecitabine or IV fluorouracil/calcium folinate to the elderly patients (> 70 years) [2]. After commencing this study, new recommendations regarding duration of adjuvant chemotherapy was published [21]. As a result, some participants received 12, not 24 weeks of adjuvant treatment. These participants performed physical tests at baseline and after 3 months.

Sample size

It was estimated that 20 participants could be recruited within a year at St. Olav's hospital, and this number was considered to be sufficient in evaluating whether the intervention and test procedures were feasible and in estimating the sample size for the larger randomized trial.

Analytical methods

To estimate adherence to supervised endurance exercise, the total number of minutes of warm-up plus intervals performed for every session was divided by the minimum number of minutes of warm-up and intervals according to the protocol. Similarly, adherence to supervised resistance exercise was estimated by looking at the number of resistance exercises and repetitions performed for every session compared with the protocol. Adherence to supervised balance exercise was estimated by dividing the number of performed supervised balance training by the number of performed supervised sessions.

The raw score (*RS*) in CIPN was calculated by the sum of each item's score (1–4) divided by the number of items. $RS = (I_1 + I_2 + ... + In)/n$. A linear transformation of the *RS* to 0–100 gives the score (*S*), where higher *S* indicates worse CIPN. $S = ((RS-1)/3) \times 100$ [22]. For each participant, *S* at T_0 is subtracted from *S* at T_1 to calculate the change in CIPN.

FQ measures physical fatigue (PF) (scores 0–21) and mental fatigue (MF) (scores 0–12). Higher score indicates more fatigue [16]. For each participant, PF and MF scores at T_0 are subtracted from PF and MF scores at T_1 to calculate the changes in PF and MF.

Continuous variables are reported by median values, range, and standard deviation (SD). The statistical analyses performed were descriptive statistics using the IBM SPSS Statistics, version 25.

Numbers analysed

Exploring attendance and adherence to the intervention and completion rate of physical tests and questionnaires after baseline, only completers were included. All consenting participants were included when analysing completion rates for baseline testing and questionnaires. Only participants who filled in in CIPN20 and FQ at T_0 and T_1 were included in analysing changes in patient-reported CIPN and fatigue.

Results

Recruitment

From December 2016 to November 2018, 52 potential participants were identified at the Cancer Clinic, St. Olav's hospital. One participant was identified and recruited from alesund hospital. Nine patients did not fulfil the inclusion criteria for reasons described in Fig. 1. Fourteen patients were identified as eligible, but not asked to participate. The major reason for not asking was long travel distance to the hospital. After including 19 of the planned 20 participants, the study was closed due to a long period of slow recruitment, and the planned RCT was commencing.

Baseline data

Table 2 presents baseline demographics and clinical characteristics. Participants received adjuvant chemotherapy for a period of 12 to 24 weeks, with median starting 6 weeks after surgery.

The completers had a lower median age than the dropouts (58 vs. 69 years). A higher proportion of the completers were married or had a partner (9 of 12 vs. 2 of 7) and had higher education than the dropouts (10 of 12 vs. 1 of 7).

Outcomes

Willingness to participate and inclusion and dropout rates

Nineteen among the 30 eligible participants that were invited to take part consented, giving a willingness to participate of 63%. Figure 1 lists reasons for declining participation. With 19 included among 44 eligible participants, the inclusion rate was 43%. Five of the 19 participants never started the intervention. Two participants were hospitalized shortly after the first course of chemotherapy with serious complications, and further adjuvant chemotherapy was stopped. Two participants withdrew consent shortly after inclusion, reporting having 'too much going' and having transportation issues, respectively. The fifth dropout was not contacted. Two of 14 participants dropped out after one and four exercise sessions, respectively. One reported pre-existing back pain got worse, and the other did not show up after the first session despite repeated proposals of new appointments. Total dropout rate was 37% (7 of 19).



Attendance and adherence to the intervention

Table 3 summarizes attendance and adherence to the supervised exercise. The median rate of attendance to supervised exercise was 85%. Attendance rate was above 77% in 10 of 12 completers. For the two remaining participants, the rate was 33% and 54%, respectively. Reasons for not meeting to a

session were that the participant was not feeling well (33%), being hospitalized (15%), being out of town (8%), and other reasons (4%). In 40% of the cases, the reason was unknown, and the participant with the lowest rate of performed sessions accounted for two-thirds of these cases. The median adherence to supervised endurance, resistance, and balance exercises was 96, 95, and 100%, respectively.

	Completers	Dropouts
No. of patients	12	7
Age, years, median [range]	57.5 [33, 78]	69 [43, 80]
Males	7	3
Females	5	4
ECOG PS		
0	7	2
1	4	5
2	1	0
Comorbidity (Charlson comorbidity)		
None	9	5
Cerebrovascular disease (prior TIA or stroke)	2	1
Prior peptic ulcer	1	0
Connective tissue disease	0	1
Stoma		
Yes	0	2
No	12	5
Type of surgery		
Laparoscopy	8	2
Open	4	5
Stage		
Ш	10	5
IV	2	2
Adjuvant treatment planned		
Combination chemotherapy	11	4
Monotherapy	1	3
Time from surgery to start chemotherapy, days, median [range] Marital status	42 [32, 58]	45 [36, 57]
Living alone	3	5
Married/partner	9	2
Employment		
Working	9	1
Partly working/partly disabled	0	1
Retired	3	5
Education		
Elementary or high school	2	6
College/university	10	1

Table 2	Baseline	demographics	and	clinical	characteristics	for
completers	and the dr	opouts				

The intensity of the endurance exercise was slightly lower in the second period (week 17–24) with a median of 14 in the first (week 1–16), and a median of 13.5 in the second period. Only four participants achieved intervals of 4 times 3–4 min.

Attendance to the unsupervised exercise was systematically registered only in the second half of the completers. Median attendance rate to unsupervised exercise among these six participants was 59% (41.7–87.5).

Safety

No adverse events were registered *during* supervised exercise sessions. Two thromboembolic events occurred, where one was a deep vein thrombosis of the lower leg shortly after hospitalization due to an infection. The participant had not been to any supervised exercise the past 10 days before this incident. The other was an incident of pulmonary embolism. The participant received combination chemotherapy 6 days before the first symptoms of pulmonary embolism and did the last supervised exercise 10 days before diagnosis. Both participants were successfully treated ambulatory with anticoagulation and resumed exercise.

Six of 14 participants had one or two admissions to hospital. There were four admissions due to infection, with one due to neutropenic fever. Two admissions were because of chemotherapy-induced enterocolitis, one was with generalized cramps after administration of chemotherapy, and one was because of painful and disabling cramps of the legs after administration of oxaliplatin.

Completion rate of questionnaires and physical testing

All 19 participants completed the physical tests according to protocol at baseline. Eighteen of 19 completed the baseline questionnaires, in which one was filled in 2 days after commencing chemotherapy. At 3, 6, and 12 months, all 12 completers returned the questionnaires, with the QLQ-C30 missing in one participant at 12 months. At 9 months, 11 of 12 were completed, with the CIPN20 and FQ missing in one participant. The 12 completers performed all physical tests.

Changes in patient-reported CIPN and fatigue

Table 4 reports changes in CIPN, PF, and MF from T_0 to T_1 . The symptoms of CIPN increased from T_0 to T_1 with a median increase of 14.8 on a scale from 0 to 100. PF decreased one point on a scale from 0 to 21, and MF increased one point on a scale from 0 to 12.

Discussion

This study investigated the feasibility of a combined supervised and home-based exercise intervention in CRC patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy. We found a high willingness to participate, attendance and adherence to the exercise intervention, and completion rate of study specific tests. A

 Table 3
 Attendance and

 adherence to supervised exercise

	According to protocol	Ν	Median	Range	SD
Planned sessions (number)	48	12	44	[22, 46]	7.6
Performed sessions (number)		12	37.5	[12, 46]	11.1
Attendance to supervised exercise (%)		12	85.4	[33.3, 100]	19.9
Adherence to supervised endurance exercise $(\%)^1$		12	95.8	[81.6, 100]	6.9
Borg's scale week 1-16	12–14	12	14	[12, 16]	1.1
Borg's scale week 17-24	14-16	10	13.5	[12, 16]	1.5
Adherence to supervised resistance exercise (%) ¹		12	94.5	[76.5, 100]	6.5
Adherence to supervised balance		12	100	[86.5, 100]	4.3
exercise $(\%)^1$ Did participants achieve 4 times 3.4 min intervals?	N				
Did participants achieve 4 times 5–4-min intervals:	1				
Yes	4				
No	6				
Not applicable ²	2				

¹Adherence to the exercise programme when a participant met

² Adjuvant chemotherapy and the intervention lasted less than 17 weeks

high proportion dropped out before the start of intervention, and a major barrier for inclusion was long travel distance to participate in supervised exercise.

A high fraction (63%) of the patients were willing to participate. This is higher than in similar studies which have reported willingness to participate between 37% and 49% [23–26]. One possible reason for the high willingness could be the non-randomized design, where all participants could take part in physical exercise. Also the fact that the treating oncologists providing information had a positive attitude towards the study may have contributed to the high willingness. Contrary to our findings, Waart et al. reported difficulties in recruiting patients with colon cancer to an exercise study during adjuvant chemotherapy, experiencing that the clinicians were hesitant to refer patients [26].

Despite the high willingness demonstrated, the inclusion rate was only 43% among eligible patients. Long travel distance was a major barrier, as it made oncologists not asking for participation and patients to decline recruitment. In retrospect, long travel distance should have deemed a potential participant ineligible. However, this was not defined pre-trial, but left to be decided upon by the treating oncologist.

More than one-third of the participants dropped out after inclusion, a higher dropout rate than similar studies, reporting between 6% and 22% [23–25]. However, the majority of the dropouts happened before the start of intervention, mainly due to conditions not controlled by the participants. With the low sample size in this study, small numbers may have large impact on percentage and not necessarily reflecting the expected dropout rate in a larger study.

The attendance and adherence to the supervised exercise were high. A median attendance rate to supervised exercise of 85% is comparable to other studies reporting between 61% and 89% [23, 24, 26]. One likely reason for the high attendance was that the exercise intervention was supervised. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of RCTs with various cancer types have shown that supervised exercise has a greater effect on several endpoints than unsupervised, and this could be explained by a higher compliance to supervised exercise [27, 28]. When a participant met, adherence to the exercise intervention in our study was close to 100%. A physiotherapist, experienced with patients with cancer, supervised the exercise in a one-to-one manner, and this has likely contributed to the high attendance and adherence.

According to protocol, the intensity of the aerobic endurance exercise should gradually increase during the intervention period. This seemed not feasible as the participants reported slightly lower RPE during the last intervention period (week 17–24). The goal of achieving intervals of 4 times 3–4 min was only reached in one-third of the participants. During the course of adjuvant chemotherapy, patients will typically experience increased fatigue and decreased cardiorespiratory fitness [29, 30]. According to the experience of the present feasibility study, we believe that interval training with increasing intensity is not feasible for the majority of the patients during adjuvant treatment.

One limitation of the present study is the lack of systematically reporting of the unsupervised exercise. Based on the available data, compliance to the unsupervised exercise could be interpreted as lower than the supervised. In a future RCT, a self-reported activity diary will be preferred for documentation of unsupervised exercise. Another limitation is the non-

	CIPN ¹			PF^2			MF ³			
	Ν	Median	Range	SD	Median	Range	SD	Median	Range	SD
$T_0^{\ 4}$	10	0.5	[0, 33.3]	10.3	16.0	[6.0, 24.0]	6.3	4.5	[4.0, 8.0]	1.3
T_1^{5}	10	20.4	[0, 44.4]	13.0	15.0	[7.0, 25.0]	5.5	5.5	[4.0, 10.0]	2.1
$T_1 - T_0$	10	14.8	[-3.7, 25.9]	9.6	- 1.0	[-6.0, 13.0]	5.9	1.0	[0, 5.0]	1.6

 Table 4
 Individual changes in patient-reported chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy and fatigue

¹European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire–Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy 20 sensory subscale (score 0–100)

² Physical fatigue from Fatigue Questionnaire (score 0-21)

³ Mental fatigue from Fatigue Questionnaire (score 0–12)

⁴ Baseline

⁵ After 3 months

randomized design. We do not know if a randomized design would reduce the willingness to participate. The participants in this study were a selective group willing to attend the exercise intervention. It is reasonable to believe that those willing to participate had a more positive attitude towards exercise than those declining, like Waaet et al. found in their study [26]. Strategies to improve recruitment to interventional studies are needed, and this study did not address that. Because of the higher dropout rate than anticipated, a larger sample size could have strengthened the study. Regarding data collection, we have demonstrated that this was feasible with nearly 100% completion rates of both the physical tests and questionnaires.

There was no temporal relationship between the SAEs and the exercise intervention, and it is most likely that the SAEs reported were related to the chemotherapy, although this needs to be confirmed in an RCT. There were two (14%) thromboembolic events among the 14 participants. In comparison, an adjuvant study comparing two different chemotherapy regimens in CRC reported an incidence rate of thromboembolism of around 6% [6]. With the small sample size in our study, a higher rate of thromboembolism might just be by chance, and no conclusion can be drawn.

As expected, we found that symptoms of CIPN increased from baseline to 3 months after inclusion, as we do not expect exercise to fully prevent development of CIPN. It remains to be established in an RCT if the degree of CIPN developed can be reduced among those randomized to an exercise intervention compared with a control group. Zimmer et al. found that worsening of CIPN could be prevented among metastatic CRC patients receiving palliative chemotherapy randomized to a multimodal exercise programme in a small RCT [31].

To conclude, this study has demonstrated that a combination of supervised and home-based aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises in CRC patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy was feasible and safe, with the exception of a planned increased intensity of the aerobic endurance exercise which was not feasible for the majority. Based on our experiences from this feasibility study, we have made some adjustments in the ongoing RCT regarding the intervention and data collection, including physiotherapists supervise participants in their local community close to their homes [32], and the endurance exercise is kept on a moderate intensity and with a duration according to general recommendations [33].

Authors' contributions All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation, data collection, and analysis were performed by Line Merethe Oldervoll, Arne Wibe, Guro Birgitte Stene, Signe Nilssen Stafne, Eva Hofsli, and Ingunn Hatlevoll. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Ingunn Hatlevoll, and all authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding Open access funding provided by NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology (incl St. Olavs Hospital -Trondheim University Hospital). This work was funded by the Dam Foundation (grant number 18201619001).

Data availability Data can be provided at request.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflicts of interest The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Ethics approval This study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Northern Norway (Record no. 2015/1050/REK nord) and was performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments.

Consent to participate Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Consent for publication Not applicable.

Code availability Not applicable.

Appendix. Illustrations of balance and resistance exercises, with permission from ExorLive

Balanseprogram nivå 1

Øvelse	Illustrasjon	Treningsfokus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
Balansepute: knebøy			3 set x 10 rep	Stå på balanseputen. Bøy ned til ca. 90 grader i knærne og press opp igjen. Hold ryggen rett og blikket fram. Alternativt kan sittestillingen holdes i noen sekunder før du presser opp igjen.
Stå på ett ben			4 rep	Stå på ett ben, med lett bøy i kneet og rett rygg. Forestill deg at det blåser og at du svaier som et strå i vinden. Forsøk å stå slik til du blir trøtt i benet. Øvelsen kan gjøres vanskeligere ved at du lukker øynene. Bytt til motsatt ben og gjenta.
Tåhev			3 set x 10 rep	Stå på gulvet med ca hoftebreddes avstand mellom føttene. Løft hælene og press opp til tåstående. Vend tilbake til utgangsstillingen og gjenta. Øvelsen kan gjøres med eller uten støtte.
Ettbensståen de balanse			10 rep	Stå på ett ben med hendene i siden. Løft motsatt ben opp ved å bøye i hoften. Beveg det deretter strakt bakover og strekk i hoften, og beveg deretter strakt ben ut til siden. Kom rolig tilbake til utgangsstilling og gjenta. Hold deg stabil i overkropp og bekken slik at det kun er benet som beveger seg. 10 repetisjoner på hvert ben, eller
Hinking sidelengs			10 rep	Stå på venstre fot. Ta ett hink til venstre og ett hink til høyre side. Bytt fot.
Klemme en ball			10 rep	Hold en liten myk ball i hånden. Klem rundt ballen slik at du bøyer fingrene. Hold spenningen litt og strekk deretter fingrene ut igjen.

🖄 Springer

Balanseprogram nivå 2

Øvelse	Illustrasjon	Treningsfokus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
BOSU: Knebøy			3 set x 10 rep	Stå med parallelle føtter med litt avstand på toppen av BOSU-en. Bøy i knær og hofter og sving armene fram foran kroppen. Pass på å holde ryggen rett og at nakken er i en naturlig forlengelse av ryggen. Se på skrå ned og framover. Pass også på å ha kne over tå. Før armene tilbake samtidig som du strekker deg
Skriv navn med foten			4 rep	Stå på ett bein. Skriv navnet ditt med foten i luften. Gjenta på motsatt bein.
Balansepute: tåhev			3 set x 10 rep	Stå på balanseputen og hold balansen. Løft hælene og press opp til tåstående. Senk tilbake og gjenta øvelsen. Støtt deg gjerne mot noe i starten.
Ettbens balanse m/strikk			10 rep	Stå på ett ben med hendene i siden og fest en strikk rundt ankelen på benet du ikke står på. Beveg benet strakt vekselvis foran og bak standbenet.
Sideveis hink fremover			10 rep	Hink fra side til side vekselsvis fot, tre skritt av gangen. Pass på at kne og tå peker samme retning.

Balanseprogram nivå 3

Øvelse	Illustrasjon		Treningsfo	kus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
Knebøy på BOSU opp ned					3 set x 10 rep	Snu BOSU-en opp ned. Stell deg på BOSU`en med cirka hoftebreddes avstand mellom bena og hoftetak med hendene. Gjør en knebøy ned til 90 grader og returner til startstilling.
Kne mot albue-gange frem	CHA-			See Logic	3 set x 10 rep	Gå fremover på en rett linje. Når du tar et steg fremover, løfter du vekselvis knærne opp mot motsatt sides albue.
BOSU: Utfall i 4 tellinger					10 rep	Stå et lite steg bak BOSU-en. Plasser en fot på toppen. Ta en dyp knebøy mot BOSU-en, ved at du bøyer i knærne og senker kroppen ned og litt framover. Pass på at du har knær over tær og rett rygg. Strekk opp igjen og skyv deg tilbake til utgangsstillingen. Foten skal være på BOSU-en under hele øvelsen.
Ettbens tåhev				AND	10 rep	Stå på ett ben. Løft hælen og press opp til tåstående. Hold stillingen i 10-15 sek. Hold blikket framover og unngå å kikke ned mens du gjør øvelsen. Øvelsen kan gjøres vanskeligere ved at du lukker øynene. Bytt ben og gjenta.
Balansepute: stående benspark m/strikk		E A		State of the state	10 rep	Stå på balanseputen med strikken festet rundt den ene ankelen. Hold balansen mens du bøyer i både kne og hofte på det aktive benet. Utfør et benspark slik at du strekker kneet maksimalt. Gjenta øvelsen med det andre benet.

Balanseprogram nivå 4

Øvelse	Illustrasjon	Treningsfokus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
BOSU: Knebøy m/vektball			10 rep	Stå med parallelle føtter på toppen av BOSU-en. Bøy i kne og hofter. Pass på å holde ryggen rett og at nakken er i en naturlig forlengelse av ryggen. Bli i knebøy og kast ballen fra den ene hånden til den andre. Strekk tilbake til utgangsstillingen. Gjenta annenhver side. Gjør det vanskeligere med å følge ballen
Vippebrett: kast en ball			3 set x 10 rep	Stå på vippebrettet og forsøk å holde balansen mens du kaster ballen mot en vegg eller til en annen person. Prøv å unngå at kanten av brettet berører gulvet. Øvelsen er enklere desto større avstand du har mellom føttene.
BOSU: Firfotstående diagonal arm- og benstrekk	B. P		3 set x 10 rep	Stå på alle fire på BOSU-en. Stabiliser mage- og korsryggregionen. Strekk vekselvis den ene armen og det motsatte benet til de er i forlengelse av kroppen. Hold noen sekunder før du vender tilbake til utgangsstillingen og gjentar til motsatt side. Pass på å holde korsryggen i nøytralstilling under

Styrkeøvelser - Periode 1

Øvelse	Illustrasjon	Treningsfokus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
Kne ekstensjon			Ryggstøtte: Ankelpute:	Sørg for å ha god støtte i korsryggen. Press anklene mot ankelputen og strekk benene maksimalt ut. Markér gjerne sluttstillingen og senk rolig tilbake.
Press: sittende brystpress				Sitt med lave skuldre, ta tak i håndtakene og hold dem i brysthøyde tett inntil kroppen. Press fram til armene er strake, og før noe langsommere tilbake til brystet.
Press: stående roing				Stå oppreist med en naturlig svai i ryggen med ansiktet mot apparatet. Ta tak i håndtakene med strake armer og slipp skuldrene frem. Start bevegelsen ved å trekke skuldrene nedover og bakover og trekk håndtakene mot brystet. Slipp armene rolig tilbake til utgangsstilling.
Liggende seteløft				Ligg på ryggen med bøyde knær. Knip setet sammen og løft bekkenet og nedre del av ryggen fra underlaget. Hold i 3-5 sek. Hvil tilsvarende.

Styrkeøvelser - Periode 2

Øvelse	Illustrasjon	Treningsfokus	Øvelsesdata	Kommentar
Skråsittende benpress			3 set x 10 rep	Plasser benene på fotbrettet i skulderbreddes avstand. Ha ca. 90 grader i knærne. Stram opp i mage- og korsryggregionen og press opp til benene er nesten strake. Vend tilbake til startstillingen og gjenta.
Skrå brystpress			3 set x 10 rep	Ligg på ryggen med føttene i gulvet og hold hantlene på strake armer over brystet. Senk hantlene i en svak bue mot utsiden av skuldrene og press tilbake til startstillingen med noe større hastighet. Unngå å svaie for mye i korsryggen.
Low Pull: stående roing			3 set x 10 rep	Stå oppreist med en naturlig svai i ryggen med ansiktet mot apparatet. Ta tak i håndtakene på apparatet med strake armer og slipp skuldrene frem. Start bevegelsen ved å trekke skuldrene nedover og bakover og beveg håndtakene ned mot brystet. Slipp armene rolig tilbake til utgangsstilling.
Ryggliggende ettbens senk	The Abe		3 set x 10 rep	Ligg på ryggen med 90° i hofte og knær. Plassér fingrene på innsiden av hoftekammen. Trekk navlen inn. Pust ut, senk høyre fot og strekk benet ut. Trekk inn navlen så mye som mulig. Pust inn og bøy og hev benet opp til utgangsstillingen igjen. Unngå økt svai i korsryggen. Ikke senk benet lenger ned enn at du klarer å holde

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 68(6):394–424. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac. 21492
- Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av kreft i tykktarm og endetarm (2019) The Norwegian Directorate of Health. https://helsedirektoratet.no/ retningslinjer/nasjonalt-handlingsprogram-med-retningslinjer-fordiagnostikk-behandling-og-oppfolging-av-kreft-i-tykktarm-ogendetarm. Accessed 28.05 2020
- Tofthagen C, Donovan KA, Morgan MA, Shibata D, Yeh Y (2013) Oxaliplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy's effects on healthrelated quality of life of colorectal cancer survivors. Support Care Cancer 21(12):3307–3313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-013-1905-5
- Mols F, Beijers T, Lemmens V, van den Hurk CJ, Vreugdenhil G, van de Poll-Franse LV (2013) Chemotherapy-induced neuropathy and its association with quality of life among 2- to 11-year colorectal cancer survivors: results from the population-based PROFILES registry. J Clin Oncol 31(21):2699–2707. https://doi.org/10.1200/ JCO.2013.49.1514
- Koornstra RH, Peters M, Donofrio S, van den Borne B, de Jong FA (2014) Management of fatigue in patients with cancer – a practical overview. Cancer Treat Rev 40(6):791–799. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ctrv.2014.01.004
- Andre T, Boni C, Mounedji-Boudiaf L, Navarro M, Tabernero J, Hickish T, Topham C, Zaninelli M, Clingan P, Bridgewater J, Tabah-Fisch I, de Gramont A, Multicenter International Study of Oxaliplatin/5-Fluorouracil/Leucovorin in the Adjuvant Treatment of Colon Cancer I (2004) Oxaliplatin, fluorouracil, and leucovorin as adjuvant treatment for colon cancer. N Engl J Med 350(23): 2343–2351. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa032709
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, Zucker DS, Matthews CE, Ligibel JA, Gerber LH, Morris GS, Patel AV, Hue TF, Perna FM, Schmitz KH (2019) Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors: Consensus Statement from International Multidisciplinary Roundtable. Med Sci Sports Exerc 51(11):2375–2390. https://doi. org/10.1249/mss.00000000002116
- Wolin KY, Schwartz AL, Matthews CE, Courneya KS, Schmitz KH (2012) Implementing the exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. J Support Oncol 10(5):171–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. suponc.2012.02.001
- Dun L, Xian-Yi W, Xiao-Ying J (2020) Effects of moderate-tovigorous physical activity on cancer-related fatigue in patients with

3007

colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Med Res 51:173–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2019.12.015

- Duregon F, Vendramin B, Bullo V, Gobbo S, Cugusi L, Di Blasio A, Neunhaeuserer D, Zaccaria M, Bergamin M, Ermolao A (2018) Effects of exercise on cancer patients suffering chemotherapyinduced peripheral neuropathy undergoing treatment: a systematic review. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 121:90–100. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.critrevonc.2017.11.002
- Kanzawa-Lee GA, Larson JL, Resnicow K, Smith EML (2020) Exercise effects on chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy: a comprehensive integrative review. Cancer Nurs 43:E172–E185. https://doi.org/10.1097/ncc.000000000000801
- Oken MM, Creech RH, Tormey DC, Horton J, Davis TE, McFadden ET, Carbone PP (1982) Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. Am J Clin Oncol 5(6):649–655
- Borg GA (1982) Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Med Sci Sports Exerc 14(5):377–381
- Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, Filiberti A, Flechtner H, Fleishman SB, de Haes JC et al (1993) The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 85(5):365–376. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/85.5.365
- Lavoie Smith EM, Barton DL, Qin R, Steen PD, Aaronson NK, Loprinzi CL (2013) Assessing patient-reported peripheral neuropathy: the reliability and validity of the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-CIPN20 Questionnaire. Qual Life Res 22(10):2787–2799. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-013-0379-8
- Chalder T, Berelowitz G, Pawlikowska T, Watts L, Wessely S, Wright D, Wallace EP (1993) Development of a fatigue scale. J Psychosom Res 37(2):147–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(93)90081-p
- Singh SJ, Morgan MD, Scott S, Walters D, Hardman AE (1992) Development of a shuttle walking test of disability in patients with chronic airways obstruction. Thorax 47(12):1019–1024. https://doi. org/10.1136/thx.47.12.1019
- Jones CJ, Rikli RE, Beam WC (1999) A 30-s chair-stand test as a measure of lower body strength in community-residing older adults. Res Q Exerc Sport 70(2):113–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02701367.1999.10608028
- Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, Scherr PA, Wallace RB (1994) A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol 49(2):M85–M94. https://doi.org/10. 1093/geronj/49.2.m85
- Hurvitz EA, Richardson JK, Werner RA (2001) Unipedal stance testing in the assessment of peripheral neuropathy. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 82(2):198–204. https://doi.org/10.1053/apmr.2001.17830
- 21. Grothey A, Sobrero AF, Shields AF, Yoshino T, Paul J, Taieb J, Souglakos J, Shi Q, Kerr R, Labianca R, Meyerhardt JA, Vernerey D, Yamanaka T, Boukovinas I, Meyers JP, Renfro LA, Niedzwiecki D, Watanabe T, Torri V, Saunders M, Sargent DJ, Andre T, Iveson T (2018) Duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. N Engl J Med 378(13):1177–1188. https:// doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1713709
- Fayers PMAN, Bjordal K, Groenvold M, Curran D, Bottomley A (2001) The EORTC QLQ-C30 Scoring Manual (3rd Edition). European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer. https://www.eortc.org/app/uploads/sites/2/2018/02/SCmanual.pdf
- Lin KY, Shun SC, Lai YH, Liang JT, Tsauo JY (2014) Comparison of the effects of a supervised exercise program and usual care in patients with colorectal cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Cancer

Nurs 37(2):E21-E29. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC. 0b013e3182791097

- 24. Van Vulpen JK, Velthuis MJ, Steins Bisschop CN, Travier N, Van Den Buijs BJ, Backx FJ, Los M, Erdkamp FL, Bloemendal HJ, Koopman M, De Roos MA, Verhaar MJ, Ten Bokkel-Huinink D, Van Der Wall E, Peeters PH, May AM (2016) Effects of an exercise program in colon cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. Med Sci Sports Exerc 48(5):767–775. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss. 00000000000855
- Backman M, Wengstrom Y, Johansson B, Skoldengen I, Borjesson S, Tarnbro S, Berglund A (2014) A randomized pilot study with daily walking during adjuvant chemotherapy for patients with breast and colorectal cancer. Acta Oncol 53:510–520. https://doi. org/10.3109/0284186X.2013.873820
- 26. van Waart H, Stuiver MM, van Harten WH, Geleijn E, de Maaker-Berkhof M, Schrama J, Geenen MM, Meerum Terwogt JM, van den Heiligenberg SM, Hellendoorn-van Vreeswijk J, Sonke GS, Aaronson NK (2018) Recruitment to and pilot results of the PACES randomized trial of physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. Int J Color Dis 33(1):29–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-017-2921-6
- 27. Buffart LM, Kalter J, Sweegers MG, Courneya KS, Newton RU, Aaronson NK, Jacobsen PB, May AM, Galvao DA, Chinapaw MJ, Steindorf K, Irwin ML, Stuiver MM, Hayes S, Griffith KA, Lucia A, Mesters I, van Weert E, Knoop H, Goedendorp MM, Mutrie N, Daley AJ, McConnachie A, Bohus M, Thorsen L, Schulz KH, Short CE, James EL, Plotnikoff RC, Arbane G, Schmidt ME, Potthoff K, van Beurden M, Oldenburg HS, Sonke GS, van Harten WH, Garrod R, Schmitz KH, Winters-Stone KM, Velthuis MJ, Taaffe DR, van Mechelen W, Kersten MJ, Nollet F, Wenzel J, Wiskemann J, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Brug J (2017) Effects and moderators of exercise on quality of life and physical function in patients with cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 34 RCTs. Cancer Treat Rev 52:91–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv. 2016.11.010

- Sweegers MG, Altenburg TM, Chinapaw MJ, Kalter J, Verdonckde Leeuw IM, Courneya KS, Newton RU, Aaronson NK, Jacobsen PB, Brug J, Buffart LM (2018) Which exercise prescriptions improve quality of life and physical function in patients with cancer during and following treatment? A systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. Br J Sports Med 52(8): 505–513. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097891
- Hurria A, Jones L, Muss HB (2016) Cancer treatment as an accelerated aging process: assessment, biomarkers, and interventions. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book Am Soc Clin Oncol Ann Meet 35:e516–522. https://doi.org/10.14694/edbk_156160. https://doi. org/10.1200/edbk 156160
- Scott JM, Nilsen TS, Gupta D, Jones LW (2018) Exercise therapy and cardiovascular toxicity in cancer. Circulation 137(11):1176– 1191. https://doi.org/10.1161/circulationaha.117.024671
- 31. Zimmer P, Trebing S, Timmers-Trebing U, Schenk A, Paust R, Bloch W, Rudolph R, Streckmann F, Baumann FT (2018) Eightweek, multimodal exercise counteracts a progress of chemotherapyinduced peripheral neuropathy and improves balance and strength in metastasized colorectal cancer patients: a randomized controlled trial. Support Care Cancer 26(2):615–624. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00520-017-3875-5
- Physically Active During Cancer Treatment (FAKT) (2019) ClinicalTrials.gov.https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/ NCT03885817?view=results. Accessed 29.05 2020
- 33. Fysisk aktivitet for barn, unge, voksne, eldre og gravide (2019) The Norwegian Directorate of Health https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/ faglige-rad/fysisk-aktivitet-for-barn-unge-voksne-eldre-og-gravide. Accessed 29.05 2020

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Paper II

DOI: 10.1111/sms.14048

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

WILEY

Colorectal cancer patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy—A qualitative study

Ingunn Hatlevoll^{1,2} | John-Arne Skolbekken³ | Line Merethe Oldervoll^{3,4} | Arne Wibe^{2,5} | Eva Hofsli^{1,2}

¹Department of Oncology, St. Olav's University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

²Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

³Department of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

⁴Center for Crisis Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

⁵Department of Surgery, St. Olav's University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

Correspondence

Ingunn Hatlevoll, Department of Oncology, St. Olav's University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway. Email: ingunn.hatlevoll@stolav.no

Funding information

This work was funded by the Dam Foundation (grant number 18201619001) **Background:** Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a common cancer worldwide, with increasing numbers surviving and living with long-term side effects from treatment. Physical exercise during or after treatment may have several beneficial effects, but knowledge of CRC patients' reflections on exercising during adjuvant therapy is limited. The aim of this study was to explore the experiences of CRC patients participating in a supervised exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy.

Methods: This study included CRC patients participating in two intervention studies with individually tailored and supervised combinations of endurance, resistance, and balance exercises during adjuvant chemotherapy. Semi-structured interviews performed at the beginning, during, and immediately after the intervention period from 15 participants were analyzed using thematic analysis.

Results: Four main themes identified were "structuring life with cancer," "motivation to exercise," "training experiences," and "effects of exercise." Scheduled appointments gave structure to daily life and served as an external motivational factor. The individual adjustments of exercise gave a sense of security and helped improving adherence, especially when feeling depressed or fatigued. Common expectations were improvement of endurance and strength and counteracting negative effects of chemotherapy. Experienced positive effects from exercising, both mentally and physically, contributed to inner motivation and inspired continued exercising after the study period.

Conclusion: This study offers important insights into CRC patients' experiences of participating in a physical exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy. Based on our findings, we recommend supervised and individually tailored physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy to this patient group.

KEYWORDS

adjuvant chemotherapy, colorectal cancer, physical exercise, qualitative study, supervised exercise

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2021 The Authors. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science In Sports published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Scand J Med Sci Sports. 2021;31:2300-2309.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a growing health burden worldwide, as the incidence rates are expected to increase 60% by 2030.¹ During recent years, modern treatment principles for CRC have become more complex with improved surgical techniques, radiotherapy, and systemic therapies, and thus, more people are surviving their cancer.² However, such comprehensive toxic regimens are followed by complications and long-term side effects. Fatigue and chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy are common side effects of oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy used in adjuvant treatment for CRC. These and other side effects have major negative impact on patients' quality of life.³⁻⁵

Physical activity (PA) is associated with reduced risk of developing colon cancer and improved survival from CRC.^{6,7} Furthermore, it has been demonstrated beneficial effects of physical exercise both during and after cancer treatment on cancer-related health outcomes, but this has mainly been studied in breast- and prostate cancer.⁸ Since the first randomized controlled trial (RCT) studying the effects of physical exercise on quality of life in CRC survivors was published in 2003,⁹ only a few studies have included patients with CRC receiving adjuvant chemotherapy in physical exercise interventions.^{10,11} Recruiting patients with CRC to PA seems difficult,^{12,13} and information about CRC patients' expectations and reflections of undergoing a physical exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy is limited.^{14,15} The aim of this study was to explore the experiences of patients with CRC participating in an individually tailored and supervised exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy.

2 | MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 | Study design

This was an explorative qualitative study using individual, semi-structured interviews at different time-points during adjuvant chemotherapy among CRC patients who participated in physical exercise interventions during treatment.

2.2 | Participants

Fifteen participants were recruited from our nonrandomized feasibility study and our ongoing RCT, "Physically Active during Cancer Treatment".^{16,17}

The major eligibility criteria were radical resection for stage II–IV CRC and scheduled for adjuvant chemotherapy

(resection for synchronous metastases was allowed.), age 18–80 years, ability to conduct the intervention based on the treating physician's assessment, and ability to understand Norwegian language. Exclusion criteria were medical conditions contraindicating physical exercise and treatment for other invasive cancers during the five past years.

All CRC patients referred to adjuvant chemotherapy were screened for eligibility by the consulting oncologists. At the first consultation, the treating oncologist provided oral and written information to the patient, and a study coordinator obtained written informed consent the following days. Information about the qualitative study was repeated before starting the interviews. The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Northern Norway (Record no. 2015/1050/REK nord).

2.3 Physical exercise intervention

The intervention started when commencing adjuvant chemotherapy and lasted throughout the treatment period (ie, 12–24 weeks). It consisted of an individually tailored combination of supervised and home-based aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises built on results from exercise tests and earlier experience with physical exercise. The resistance exercises were supervised, while the endurance- and balance exercises were both supervised and unsupervised. Choice of exercises and dosage was individually adjusted based on progression. A detailed description of the intervention can be found in our previous work.¹⁶

The participants met with a physiotherapist at the hospital the same week or the week after starting the first course of chemotherapy and were introduced to the exercise program. Written information with illustrations of the exercises to be performed at home was handed out. Participants in the RCT were equipped with a heart rate monitor to guide the intensity and duration of the aerobic endurance exercise. A physiotherapist, located either at a specialized outpatient training facility for cancer patients, or in the municipal health service, supervised the participants twice a week through the whole intervention period.

To assess self-reported PA level, a questionnaire for patient-reported PA developed for use in the North Trondelag Health Study (HUNT) was used.¹⁸ This is a three-item questionnaire on leisure-time PA regarding frequency, intensity, and duration (three–five alternatives) giving rise to a PA index, placing the participants in three different levels of activity, from low to high¹⁸ (Table 1).
FABLE 1 Patient characteristics	ГA	BLE	1	Patient characteristics	
--	----	-----	---	-------------------------	--

No. of patients	15
Age, years, median [range]	65 [43-80]
Males	8
Females	7
Stoma	
Yes	2
No	13
Type of surgery	
Laparoscopy	7
Open	8
Stage ^a	
III	13
IV	2
Adjuvant treatment planned	
3 months oxaliplatin-capecitabine	4
6 months oxaliplatin-capecitabine	8
6 months capecitabine	3
Marital status	
Living alone	7
Married/partner	8
Employment	
Working	7
Partly working/partly disabled	2
Retired	6
Education	
Elementary or high school	6
College/university	9
Self-reported physical activity	
Low level of activity	7
Medium level of activity	4
High level of activity	4

^aStage according to TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours, 8th edition.

2.4 | Adjuvant chemotherapy

Adjuvant chemotherapy consisted of oral capecitabine alone or in combination with intravenous oxaliplatin, depending on patients' age, and with start 4–8 weeks postoperatively. Duration of adjuvant treatment was 24 weeks for monotherapy and 12–24 weeks for combination chemotherapy.¹⁹

2.5 | Data collection

Interviews took place at study start (n = 13) and after 12 (n = 10) and 24 (n = 6) weeks. Participants only receiving 12 weeks of intervention were not interviewed

at 24 weeks, participants dropping out of the intervention had only baseline interviews, and those entering the qualitative study later did not have baseline interviews. The interviews were scheduled in concordance with the patients' other appointments and held in a private room at the hospital.

Semi-structured interviews were used to explore participants' expectations to and experiences with participation in the physical exercise program, based on interview guides (Table 2). The interviews lasted 20–45 min, were audio recorded, and transcribed verbatim. Three researchers conducted the interviews. One physiotherapist having long experience with cancer patients (SAS), one oncologist (IH), and one being an experienced qualitative researcher (JAS). JAS supervised the two other interviewers, considered as novices in the field of qualitative research. None of the interviewers were involved in supervising the exercise intervention or the medical treatment.

From January 2018 to October 2020, 29 interviews distributed among 15 participants at St. Olav's University

TABLE 2 Interview guide

At baseline

What is your previous experience with exercise? What do you think this can give you in terms of advantages and/or disadvantages in the future? What is your impression on how people experience chemotherapy? Can you say something about how you think this affects you in the phase you are in now? What do you wish to achieve with the exercise? What do you think about exercising even if you have ailments, symptoms, and/or side effects? Do you have any thoughts on how to deal with these possible challenges? What do you think about the practicalities of participating? Time, place, etc. At 12 and 24 weeks What has been your motivation for participating in the exercise until now? /during the treatment period? Has the motivation to participate changed since the start? / along the way? Possibly how? What experiences have you had in relation to exercising with any ailments, symptoms, and side effects that have occurred? If side effects have been present, what has been your strategy for exercising anyway? What do you think about the training (so far)? Is there anything about the exercise program you think should be different in order to be 100% satisfied?

How has the practicality of the training worked for you in terms of time, place, etc.?

Hospital, Trondheim (n = 14) and Aalesund Hospital (n = 1) were performed. Patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Five patients from the feasibility study dropped out shortly after inclusion due to medical (n = 2) and administrative (n = 1) reasons or their changed minds (n = 2). Five patients from the feasibility study and five from the RCT followed the intervention and provided interviews at 12 and 24 weeks.

2.6 | Analytical methods

Thematic analysis with an inductive approach, as described by Braun and Clarke, was used.²⁰ It consists of six phases: 1. Familiarizing yourself with your data, 2. Generating initial codes, 3. Searching for themes, 4. Reviewing themes, 5. Defining and naming themes, and 6. Producing the report. All authors read all the interviews. In addition, the first author listened through all the interviews at least once. All authors contributed in phase 1-3. In phase 4-6, the first and second authors were mainly involved, all authors took part in discussions regarding the analysis, read through, and approved the final report. Codes and themes were generated during the research process, in line with the explorative nature of the study. Although the initial design was to explore relevant themes in a pre-post fashion, the prolonged therapeutic period for a minority of the participants also allowed for elements of a longitudinal analysis, as described by Saldaña.21 Inclusion was stopped after 15 participants, based on the research group's agreement that information redundancy had been achieved, and no new codes were generated through continued interviewing.

3 | RESULTS

Patients with CRC experienced that an individually tailored and supervised exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy provided structure to life with cancer, motivation to exercise, training experiences, and effects of exercise.

3.1 | Structuring life with cancer

Overall, the patients saw inclusion in the study as being offered a number of benefits. In addition to hoping for positive effects of physical exercise, study participation represented an opportunity to structure their lives as cancer patients through scheduled appointments and commitments to themselves and other people.

> "But I'm pretty sure that if you're a little down, and you might be that when you get a serious

diagnosis, then I think it's <u>so</u> important to have regular appointments, in that way you have to do things." (Female, 65)

Being on sick leave, the need to and importance of filling the days was recognized.

"If I'm not going to work I need something to fill the days. It's been OK during the Olympics, but that won't last. ...Otherwise I think it will be a bit dismal to sit and wait for the rest of the people to return at four or five." (Male, 57)

Similar statements were emphasized repeatedly throughout the study. It helped them to structure their day and gave them something to look forward to. To become isolated was a concern, and signing up for the study represented a good opportunity to avoid this. Advantages from getting out instead of sitting indoors doing nothing was another benefit.

"The fine thing is that you are getting out of the house no matter how bad you feel." (Female, 65)

Having appointments helped them to get up and out when feeling depressed or tired. This was acknowledged as critical at times when exercising by themselves was found challenging and was particularly important toward the end of the treatment period.

> "In particular now towards the end, if I hadn't had this commitment it would have been heavier to get this done on my own. As I say it is difficult to get out of the chair and get started, and in this way it is important to have a steady appointment." (Male, 78)

Getting the chance to participate in the study led to feelings of gratitude, accompanied by a wish that more patients would be offered the same opportunity.

> "Well, it's the total package, and I'm grateful for that, to be part of this.....No, it has been positive [to participate in the study], it has. If I hadn't, I would probably just sit at home, and probably been in a lot more pain than I am now." (Male, 67)

3.2 | Motivation to exercise

Although all participants demonstrated a motivation for exercise by joining the study, both skepticism and insecurity toward participation were revealed initially. There

WILEY

WILEY

was skepticism as to whether the program was too oriented and focused on disease, hence serving as a reminder of the diagnosis, whether the body could handle it if one exercised too much, but also having to meet with a physiotherapist. The insecurity was about not knowing how one would react to the treatment and whether daily commitments would be manageable.

> "So I was a little skeptical having to show up and see a physiotherapist, but I clearly see the need to exercise your muscles after an operation and during such a serious treatment course." (Male, 62)

To exercise intuitively made sense, as a realization of the necessity of keeping both body strength and flexibility. The threat of losing strength during the treatment period gave a motivation to potentially rebuild what was lost. Exercise was also a way to counteract the anticipated breakdown of the body due to chemotherapy.

> "But I see that exercising might be good for your body while you break it down, because it's kind of breaking down the body to heal, isn't it? And if you exercise, you then manage to weigh up a bit of that, the breakdown, I think." (Male, 71)

Faith in exercise was expressed, as being good for both physical and mental health, including a hope that exercise may increase the efficacy of chemotherapy.

> "It is as if I have this picture that exercise and chemotherapy...it is important to get the chemotherapy into action" (Female, 61)

Exercise motivation came from both external and internal sources, and there were factors bolstering motivation while others threatened it. An inner motivation was demonstrated through a strong desire to exercise and not skip out when tired.

> "I've felt very strongly that I should do the training. Skipping the training because I've been tired was not relevant for me." (Male. 68)

A crucial external motivation for exercising both regularly and efficiently came through the appointments with the physiotherapist. It made the participants feel obliged to attend even when feeling sick and weak from chemotherapy.

> "It must be some of the best things that has happened, it's kind of something that has kept me going ... towards ... you know? I am, I think I'm pretty good at structuring myself, but when you

get tired and lazy, it's okay to have someone outside yourself, who sort of is with you and, yes ... " (Female, 53)

If an exercise session was canceled for some reason, and participants were supposed to exercise by themselves, postponing or skipping parts of the program presented a temptation that not all were able to resist.

> "There was one time when the physiotherapist was absent, so I had to do the exercises by myself. It then came right away: It started with me feeling out of shape, thinking like - Maybe I'll rather do it tomorrow "(Female. 61)

Motivation was also threatened by exercises they did not like or found boring, and when they felt fatigued. An inner struggle between going to the gym and the desire to rest was experienced, especially at times when even simple activities of daily living was a struggle.

> "Yes, resistance exercising is really boring. It can't be denied, but it kind of has to be done. I'm still doing it. I feel it does me good, but it is not fun." (Female, 61)

It could take a huge effort to get to the gym, but a motivation in such instances would be earlier experience of symptoms decreasing during and after exercise. Knowing that they could rest with a clear conscience afterward bolstered motivation further.

> «...and the feeling that you're actually getting weaker and weaker, and things are getting heavier and heavier, it's a bit hard. At the same time, physically, I see that I have progress in my exercises, I'm actually getting stronger, the balance actually gets a little better, and it gives a positive experience....but I think maybe I'm sitting more in my recliner, but with a better conscience in a way." (Male, 57)

Supervision by a physiotherapist provided motivation to perform a little extra, and to complete all the exercises, even the boring ones. Guidance from a physiotherapist to adjust the exercising according to variations in their physical function also gave a sense of security.

> "I think it's important there are professionals who have ..., you feel confident in what they instruct, and..., do not push me a lot, but I feel that they help me exert more than I might do on my own." (Female, 58)

A desire to contribute to research, to prove that exercise works, was a motivational factor for one.

«...and I say to M [the physiotherapist] that now, M, I'm not only running for me, I'm running for your project, so you get more means [laughing], so people can realize that this works." (Female, 53)

With time, an ambition to continue exercising without supervision after the study period also emerged reflecting a change from outer to inner motivation.

> "One day when one of the instructors were ill, I noticed that I was really lazy, so it is important for me that there is somebody there. (Female, 53, week 12)

> "But the last time she was absent I did it all by myself.... I realized that in June she is not going to be there anymore, so I was starting to realize that I have to this on my own." (Female, 53, week 24)

3.3 | Training experiences

Previous experience with physical exercise varied among participants from training at a fitness center several times a week, to hardly having done any physical activity except sporadic outdoor walks. Training intensity varied across the lifespan; often originating in organized sports in childhood, while family life and work took time away from training in adulthood. A common feature was their appreciation of walking outdoors, to and from the workplace, or in the nature in their leisure time.

> "Tve always been in activity. Do a lot of walking in the country side...Used to do aerobics three times a week, and climbing hilltops, and I had a dog I used to walk twice a day...." (Female, 71)

> "I have exercised very little, exercised a bit in the 90's, but otherwise it has been some walks and stuff." (Male, 68)

Variations in both physical fitness and in how they responded to exercise were observed regularly, in and between individuals. After recovering from surgery, chemotherapy could give a setback. Their physical fitness could also vary within each chemotherapy cycle, as an activity mastered with ease one day felt impossible another. Generally, exercising felt harder toward the end of the treatment period.

> "So I didn't realize, that the Monday after [the last tablet], I didn't realize it was then I was most tired, and the next Friday I could climb the ceiling, if you know what I mean." (Female, 53)

Participants exercised regularly, as prescribed. Concerns for health-related obstacles to exercise, as well as nonhealth-related obstacles like family logistics or slippery ground during wintertime, were mentioned prior to commencing the study, but did to little extent influence the exercising. The only major obstacle to turning up for a training session was intercurrent illness with infection. A factor contributing to this high exercise fulfillment was individual adjustments made by the staff to accommodate orthopedic complaints or when a participant was not feeling well.

> "Yes, they certainly did [adjust the exercise according to variations in shape]. They were very sensitive to that. It was facilitated, and I tried, of course, to stretch myself a bit, as far as possible, but they were considerate." (Female, 58)

Use of a heart rate monitor was introduced as a motivational factor for exercise, with varied success. Experiences differed from sporadic use of the watch and just learning the basics (start, stop, and monitoring heart rate) to carefully monitoring each exercise session and going through them on the smart phone afterward. In one case, it also inspired one participant to exercise beyond what was considered beneficial under the circumstances.

> "I have gotten a lot out of it [the heart rate monitor]. I have an app on my smart phone, so every time I exercise, I read the results from the app, because there is some motivation in it...Sometimes I have been too eager and trained too hard. I am pleased there and then, but the day after I have a minor backlash." (Male, 62)

3.4 | Effects of exercise

Prior to entering the program, participants hoped that the exercise would improve their endurance and strength, and to regain their pre-cancerous physical status. Being able to resume activities they had been capable of before, and to

WILEY

be able to return to work after the treatment period, were also among their hopes. These hopes were paired with a belief that staying in good shape would make the treatment more tolerable, and possibly reduce long-term side effects from the chemotherapy.

> "I'm actually in the situation that I look forward to this, because I've felt that my shape has gotten worse when I have done nothing, so I will try to roughly get back in shape, even though I've had cancer, because I think that's possible if you believe in it." (Male, 64)

Despite the fluctuant setbacks described above, continued improvements were a common effect from the program. Feelings of increased energy, and of being in better shape right after a workout than before, were often described. Still, for others, insecurity persisted as to whether endurance had improved. Tiredness was a regular experience after a training session, but most often in terms of feeling tired in a good way. Toward the end of the study period, the perceived physical fitness diverged, ranging from feeling in better shape than for a long time, to feeling major fatigued.

> "I then noticed that when I started exercising, I got better. I felt better when I left, in a way." (Female, 58)

Being physically active and exercising affected the participants' mental health positively. Reported effects ranged from reducing symptoms of depression to a feeling of joy or happiness during and after exercise. Losing weight while engaging in the exercise program was described as a bonus by a participant considering himself as overweight.

"To be honest, I think it helps you mentally as well. It definitely does. Because getting out and being in movement; that helps a lot." (Female, 65)

Symptoms from peripheral sensory neuropathy often diminished after commencing exercise and getting warm, and this could last for several hours after the session. Increased muscle strength was experienced both through being able to increase the load during strength exercise, and the feeling of regaining lost muscle mass. Being able to keep in shape and keeping their strength, despite receiving chemotherapy, led to feelings of satisfaction.

> "It's like I get paid for it when I finish the intervals, feels like I've gotten something out, it doesn't tingle so much anymore, and the burning in my hands can suddenly completely disappear,..." (Male, 57)

4 DISCUSSION

This study offers important insights into CRC patients' experiences of participating in an individually tailored and supervised physical exercise program during adjuvant chemotherapy. Scheduled appointments with a physiotherapist gave an opportunity to structure life with cancer and served as an important external motivational factor. Furthermore, participants perceived positive effects from exercising, as improved muscle strength, reduction in sensory neuropathic symptoms, and improvement in mental health. Common expectations and hopes were improvement of endurance and strength, to achieve better tolerance and efficacy, and counteract negative effects of chemotherapy.

Structuring of life with cancer aligns with previous research, exploring women's experiences engaging in supervised exercise during treatment for early-stage breast cancer.^{22,23} Commitment to scheduled appointments, serving as an external motivational factor, is also described as part of palliative cancer patients' experiences of participation in a physical exercise program.²⁴

To have supervised exercise with regular appointments was crucial, as the participants could not see how they would have been able to perform the same amount of exercise without this arrangement, which is in accordance with Backman et al.²³ The preference for supervised exercise with individual attention from exercise staff was also found among CRC survivors participating in an exercise rehabilitation program performed after chemotherapy, and among physically inactive breast and colon cancer patients initiating PA while undergoing adjuvant chemotherapy.15,25

Our participants experienced several positive effects from exercising during adjuvant chemotherapy, both physically and mentally. This has been demonstrated in other studies, but mainly in breast cancer.15,22,23,26,27 There are noticeable differences between these two patient groups, however, as median age at diagnosis is approximately 10 years higher in CRC,²⁸ and the surgical and adjuvant treatments are different. Our findings thus indicate that positive effects can be achieved in older patient groups as well.

Generally, the participants were positive toward exercise. This might not be surprising, as they chose to participate in the study. We did not explore the experience of those declining participation, but Wart et al. found a more negative attitude toward exercise among patients declining participation in a physical exercise study among colon cancer patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy.¹³ It has been reported that adjuvant chemotherapy is a major barrier to PA among CRC patients.²⁹ In the present study, barriers were related to side effects from chemotherapy, but these were overcome through the scheduled sessions, individual adjustments, and by an inner motivation developing from positive experiences participating in the exercise intervention.

A strength of our study was that the interviews were performed both at the beginning, during and right after the intervention, allowing to explore both expectations to and experiences with the exercise intervention, and to evaluate potential individual changes over time in a longitudinal manner.²¹ Performing the interviews while participants still were under intervention, reduced the risk of recall bias.³⁰ Contributions by the whole research team doing initial coding and participating in regular meetings discussing themes have strengthened the quality of our data analysis.

Given the explorative nature of this study, no theoretical framework was applied to guide our analysis, which was more data-driven. The participants were given the opportunity to tell about their experiences in their own words, providing insights to the experiences of performing physical exercise after major surgery and receiving toxic chemotherapy. Social cognitive theory-based PA behavior change interventions seem promising in improving PA level among cancer survivors, but that was beyond the scope of the present study.³¹

The inclusion of participants both willing and unwilling to engage in physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy would have broadened the scope of our study. An expansion of this scope, to also encompass patients refraining from training, should be encouraged in the future research. Though we would argue that our study population represents a wide variety regarding age, sex, marital-, employment-, and educational status, levels of PA, and former experience with PA, and hence, most likely our results are representative for patients with CRC commencing adjuvant chemotherapy and being willing to engage in supervised exercise.

PERSPECTIVES 5

The literature is scarce on effects of exercise during treatment for patients with CRC.11 In our previous work, we have demonstrated the feasibility of an exercise intervention during adjuvant treatment for CRC.¹⁶ To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study reporting CRC patients' experiences participating in an individually tailored combination of supervised and home-based aerobic endurance, resistance, and balance exercises during adjuvant chemotherapy.

Based on our findings, we recommend supervised and individually tailored physical exercise when prescribing exercise to this patient group during adjuvant chemotherapy. This is also supported by a meta-analysis demonstrating that the effects on quality of life and physical function were significantly larger for supervised than unsupervised exercise.32

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the study participants, the clinicians involved in recruitment, and the physiotherapists supervising the participants. We are also grateful to Siri Alstad Svestad for her contribution with interviews and transcriptions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. SAS, JAS, and IH did the interviews. During data analysis, all authors contributed in phase 1-3. JAS and IH were mainly involved in phase 4-6. All authors took part in discussions regarding the analysis, read through, and approved the final analysis. IH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript, and read and approved the final manuscript.

ETHICS APPROVAL

This study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Northern Norway (Record no. 2015/1050/REK nord) and was performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

DISCLOSURE OF POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflicting interests.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to privacy or ethical restrictions.

ORCID

Ingunn Hatlevoll D https://orcid. org/0000-0001-9717-4995

REFERENCES

- 1. Arnold M, Sierra MS, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Gut. 2017;66(4):683-691. https://doi. org/10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310912.
- 2. Collaborators GCC. The global, regional, and national burden of colorectal cancer and its attributable risk factors in 195

16008, 32, 021, 12, Downolodd from https://ondinitarus/wiley.com/doi/10.1111/snt.4048 by Nowegian Institute of Public Health, Wiley Online Library on [10/10/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/no.1) of Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles as governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

2308 WILEY

countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol.* 2019;4(12):913-933. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468 -1253(19)30345-0.

- Tofthagen C, Donovan KA, Morgan MA, Shibata D, Yeh Y. Oxaliplatin-induced peripheral neuropathy's effects on healthrelated quality of life of colorectal cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer*. 2013;21(12):3307-3313. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00520-013-1905-5.
- Mols F, Beijers T, Lemmens V, van den Hurk CJ, Vreugdenhil G, van de Poll-Franse LV. Chemotherapy-induced neuropathy and its association with quality of life among 2- to 11-year colorectal cancer survivors: results from the population-based PROFILES registry. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31(21):2699-2707. https://doi. org/10.1200/JCO.2013.49.1514.
- Koornstra RH, Peters M, Donofrio S, van den Borne B, de Jong FA. Management of fatigue in patients with cancer – a practical overview. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 2014;40(6):791-799. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2014.01.004.
- Patel AV, Friedenreich CM, Moore SC, et al. American College of sports medicine roundtable report on physical activity, sedentary behavior, and cancer prevention and control. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2019;51(11):2391-2402. https://doi.org/10.1249/ mss.000000000002117.
- Meyerhardt JA, Giovannucci EL, Holmes MD, et al. Physical activity and survival after colorectal cancer diagnosis. J Clin Oncol. 2006;24(22):3527-3534. https://doi.org/10.1200/ jco.2006.06.0855.
- Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, et al. Exercise Guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* 2019;51(11):2375-2390. https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.00000 00000002116.
- Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM, Quinney HA, Fields AL, Jones LW, Fairey AS. A randomized trial of exercise and quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. *Eur J Cancer Care*. 2003;12(4):347-357.
- Dun L, Xian-Yi W, Xiao-Ying J. Effects of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity on cancer-related fatigue in patients with colorectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Med Res.* 2020;51(2):173-179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. arcmed.2019.12.015.
- van Rooijen SJ, Engelen MA, Scheede-Bergdahl C, et al. Systematic review of exercise training in colorectal cancer patients during treatment. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2018;28(2):360-370. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12907.
- Griffith K, Wenzel J, Shang J, Thompson C, Stewart K, Mock V. Impact of a walking intervention on cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical function, and pain in patients undergoing treatment for solid tumors. *Cancer*. 2009;115(20):4874-4884. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.24551.
- van Waart H, Stuiver MM, van Harten WH, et al. Recruitment to and pilot results of the PACES randomized trial of physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* 2018;33(1):29-40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s0038 4-017-2921-6.
- Burke S, Wurz A, Bradshaw A, Saunders S, West MA, Brunet J. Physical activity and quality of life in cancer survivors: a metasynthesis of qualitative research. *Cancers*. 2017;9(5):53. https:// doi.org/10.3390/cancers9050053.

- Adamsen L, Andersen C, Lillelund C, Bloomquist K, Møller T. Rethinking exercise identity: a qualitative study of physically inactive cancer patients' transforming process while undergoing chemotherapy. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(8):e016689. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016689.
- Hatlevoll I, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Stene GB, Stafne SN, Hofsli E. Physical exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy for colorectal cancer—a non-randomized feasibility study. *Support Care Cancer*. 2021;29(6):2993-3008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-020-05789-z.
- Physically Active During Cancer Treatment (FAKT). ClinicalTrials.gov. 08.04., 2021. Accessed 08.04., 2021. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/results/NCT0388581 7?view=results
- Kurtze N, Rangul V, Hustvedt BE, Flanders WD. Reliability and validity of self-reported physical activity in the Nord-Trøndelag Health Study: HUNT 1. Scand J Public Health. 2008;36(1):52-61. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494807085373.
- Grothey A, Sobrero AF, Shields AF, et al. Duration of adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer. *New Engl J Med.* 2018;378(13):1177-1188. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMo a1713709.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psychol.* 2006;3(2):77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/14780 88706qp0630a.
- Saldaña J. Analyzing change in longitudinal qualitative data. *Youth Theatre J.* 2002;16(1):1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/08929 092.2002.10012536.
- 22. Emslie C, Whyte F, Campbell A, et al. 'I wouldn't have been interested in just sitting round a table talking about cancer'; exploring the experiences of women with breast cancer in a group exercise trial. *Health Educ Res.* 2007;22(6):827-838. https://doi. org/10.1093/her/cyl159.
- Backman M, Browall M, Sundberg CJ, Wengström Y. Experiencing health - physical activity during adjuvant chemotherapy treatment for women with breast cancer. *Eur J Oncol Nurs.* 2016;21:160-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejon.2015.09.007.
- Paltiel H, Solvoll E, Loge JH, Kaasa S, Oldervoll L. "The healthy me appears": palliative cancer patients' experiences of participation in a physical group exercise program. *Palliat Support Care.* 2009;7(4):459-467. https://doi.org/10.1017/s147895150 9990460.
- Spence RR, Heesch KC, Brown WJ. Colorectal cancer survivors' exercise experiences and preferences: qualitative findings from an exercise rehabilitation programme immediately after chemotherapy. *Eur J Cancer Care*. 2011;20(2):257-266. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2354.2010.01214.x.
- Ingram C, Wessel J, Courneya KS. Women's perceptions of home-based exercise performed during adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Eur J Oncol Nurs*. 2010;14(3):238-243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2010.01.027.
- Husebø AM, Allan H, Karlsen B, Søreide JA, Bru E. Exercise: a path to wellness during adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer? *Cancer Nurs.* 2015;38(5):E13-20. https://doi.org/10.1097/ ncc.00000000000205.
- Cancer in Norway 2019 Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. Cancer Registry of Norway. 08.04., 2021. Accessed 08.04., 2021. https://www.kreftregisteret.no/ globalassets/cancer-in-norway/2019/cin_report.pdf

- Romero-Elías M, Beltrán-Carrillo VJ, González-Cutre D, Jiménez-Loaisa A. Barriers to physical activity participation in colorectal cancer patients during chemotherapy treatment: a qualitative study. *Eur J Oncol Nurs*. 2020;46:101769. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejon.2020.101769.
- Vetter TR, Mascha EJ. Bias, confounding, and interaction: lions and tigers, and bears, oh my! *Anesth Analg.* 2017;125(3):1042-1048. https://doi.org/10.1213/ane.00000000002332.
- Stacey FG, James EL, Chapman K, Courneya KS, Lubans DR. A systematic review and meta-analysis of social cognitive theory-based physical activity and/or nutrition behavior change interventions for cancer survivors. J Cancer Surviv. 2015;9(2):305-338. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-014-0413-z.
- 32. Buffart LM, Kalter J, Sweegers MG, et al. Effects and moderators of exercise on quality of life and physical function in

patients with cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis of 34 RCTs. *Cancer Treat Rev.* 2017;52:91-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2016.11.010.

How to cite this article: Hatlevoll I, Skolbekken J-A, Oldervoll LM, Wibe A, Hofsli E. Colorectal cancer patients' experiences with supervised exercise during adjuvant chemotherapy—A qualitative study. *Scand J Med Sci Sports.* 2021;31:2300–2309. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/</u> sms.14048

Paper III

Do older patients with colorectal cancer experience more deterioration in health-related quality of life during the first year of palliative chemotherapy? - A prospective real-world observational study.

Hatlevoll I^{ab*}, Kristensen AK^b, Solheim TS^{ab}, Elvebakken H^{af}, Salvesen Ø^a, Oldervoll LM^{cd}, Wibe A^{ae}, Hofsli E^{ab}

^aDepartment of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

^bDepartment of Oncology, St. Olav's hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^cDepartment of Public Health and Nursing, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

^dCenter for Crisis Psychology, Faculty of Psychology, University of Bergen, Norway

eDepartment of Surgery, St. Olav's hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^fDepartment of Oncology, Ålesund Hospital, Møre og Romsdal Hospital Trust, Ålesund, Norway,

*Corresponding author: Ingunn Hatlevoll, e-mail: ingunn.hatlevoll@ntnu.no

ORCID

Ingunn Hatlevoll	0000-0001-9717-4995
Are Korsnes Kristensen	0000-0002-7367-4124
Tora Skeidsvoll Solheim	0000-0002-2565-8437
Hege Elvebakken	0000-0001-7458-4836
Øyvind Salvesen	0000-0002-6145-8109
Line Merethe Oldervoll	0000-0002-5562-5396
Arne Wibe	0000-0001-6813-4134
Eva Hofsli	0000-0001-9856-4880

Abstract

Purpose: The primary aim was to evaluate changes in health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in a real-life population among younger (< 70 years) and older patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (mCRC) the first year of palliative chemotherapy. The secondary aims were to assess the impact of chemo-break on HRQoL and to report overall survival (OS).

Methods: Patients with newly diagnosis of mCRC, ≥ 18 years, and scheduled for first line palliative chemotherapy, were included in this multicentre longitudinal observational study. The European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30 (0-100) was filled in at baseline and every second month, and >20 points change was considered to be of a large clinical magnitude. Treatments, patient- and tumour characteristics were prospectively registered.

Results: Totally 214 patients were included, and 146 were alive after one year. Four months after start of treatment, large deteriorations in fatigue and physical functioning were reported by 40% and 25% of the patients, respectively. Changes in global Qol, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain, and nausea/vomiting were not significantly different between the age groups and reached baseline levels after one year. Patients on chemo-break reported significant improvements in several HRQoL domains. Median OS was 17.5 months [95% CI 14.4-20.5] with no difference between younger and older patients.

Conclusion: Older patients did not experience more deterioration in HRQoL than younger patients during the first year of palliative chemotherapy. Measures to mitigate the deteriorations in fatigue and physical functioning observed during the first months of palliative treatment are warranted.

Trial registration: NCT02395224, March 23, 2015, retrospectively registered.

Keywords: Aged, colorectal neoplasms, Quality of life, treatment break, palliative care

Introduction

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second leading cause of cancer deaths worldwide [1]. In Norway, CRC is the second most common cancer, and approximately half of the patients develop metastatic disease, either upfront or later in their disease trajectory [2]. Most of these patients will be treated with palliative intent [3].

The main treatment goals of unresectable metastatic CRC (mCRC) are prolongation of life, symptom relief, and maintenance of quality of life (QoL). Knowledge of treatment effects from different regimens is mainly derived from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) which most often constitute highly selected patients who may not be representative for the whole patient population. Participants in RCTs are often younger and with better performance status (PS) [4]. Still, treatment guidelines are based on such trials. While median age at diagnosis of CRC is approximately 72 years [2], the median age of participants in RCTs for palliative chemotherapy in CRC typically is 10 years younger [5]. Since older patients are underrepresented in RCTs, there have been concerns whether these patients will tolerate palliative chemotherapy as good as younger patients.

When investigating new chemotherapy regimens for unresectable CRC in RCTs, the strategy often is treatment to progression or unacceptable toxicity [6-8]. Unlike this, the clinical practice in Northern Europe is to introduce a chemo-break in a stop-and-go manner or maintenance therapy with a milder regimen to let patients recover from side effects of treatment [9]. Without establishing a final consensus, several trials have explored whether maintenance or intermittent treatment is preferable regarding efficacy and tolerability [10-14]. Sonbol et al. concluded in a meta-analysis that there is no clear overall survival (OS) benefit with either strategy, but a maintenance strategy is preferred [15]. Norwegian guidelines recommend considering a chemo-break four to six months after start of first line palliative chemotherapy for mCRC [3].

Shared decision-making is advocated in situations where several rational choices exist [16,17]. However, more information from real-life populations regarding effects and side-effects from different treatment regimens is needed for patients to make well-informed choices on receiving chemotherapy, withholding treatment, or introducing a chemo-break. Information about long term health-related quality of life (HRQoL) will enable patients and physicians to make sensible treatment plans.

The primary aim of the present study was to describe changes in HRQoL in a real-life population of patients with mCRC the first year after introduction of palliative chemotherapy, comparing younger vs. older, with key focus on global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain, and nausea/vomiting. Secondary aims were to evaluate the impact of chemo-break on HRQoL and to report OS.

Material and methods

Trial design

The present study used data from a prospective observational study of newly diagnosed patients with mCRC in central Norway (mCRC-study) [18]. The aim of the mCRC-study was to evaluate treatment and patient care given to unselected "real-life" patients during their disease trajectories. Data regarding patient- and tumour characteristics, the different treatments with responses, and patient reported outcomes (PROMs) were prospectively collected.

Participants

To be eligible for inclusion in the mCRC-study, patients had to be newly diagnosed with metastatic or non-resectable CRC, \geq 18 years of age, and provide written informed consent. Eligible participants were identified when referred to the local oncological department. From September 2014 to November 2018, 354 patients were included from all seven hospitals in the health region of central Norway. Only patients who had filled in the baseline questionnaire and were scheduled to start first line palliative chemotherapy, were included in the present study.

Outcomes

Clinical data were registered by health personnel in an electronic case report form. Registered data relevant for the present study included patient demographics, chemotherapy regimen, primary tumor- and metastatic site, stage of disease, baseline blood tests (such as CRP, albumin and CEA), modified Glasgow Prognostic Score [19], and tumor mutational- and microsatellite instability (MSI) status. Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status (PS) was assessed by the treating clinician.

HRQoL

HRQoL was assessed using the cancer specific European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30 (QLQ-C30), version 3.0 [20]. This is a self-reported questionnaire aggregating 30 items, constituting five functioning scales, three symptom scales, six single items and one overall QoL scale covering the past week. The two items assessing overall health and QoL are scored on a categorical scale from 1 to 7 giving rise to global QoL, and the rest of the items are scored from 1 (not at all) to 4 (very much). Higher scores on the functioning and global QoL scales indicate better functioning, while higher scores on the symptom scales and single items indicate more symptoms.

Participants filled in the QLQ-C30 using pen and paper. Questionnaires were filled in at inclusion and every second month thereafter, indefinitely. The questionnaires were handed out to patients by study personnel at inclusion, and were mailed, with a prepaid return envelope, to the patients from the study office at all other time points.

Statistical considerations

HRQoL scores were transformed into a scale from 0 to 100, as described in the EORTC scoring manual [21]. Changes or differences in QoL scores of >20, 10-20, and 5-10 points were considered to be of large, moderate, and small clinical magnitude, respectively [22]. Comparing means of different QoL scores between groups or over time, a threshold of 5-10 was considered the minimally important difference (MID) [23]. No imputation of missing data was performed. A two-sided p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

At baseline and after 12 months, all domains from the QLQ-C30 are presented according to age group, comparing younger (<70 years) vs. older (≥70 years). Describing changes in HRQoL, the key six domains are global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, pain, and nausea/vomiting. The domains were chosen based on what clinicians often experience is affected by cancer and its treatments, and thus often reflected in clinical studies in this patient population [24].

To evaluate the impact of a chemo-break, the time period between months six and eight was chosen, since clinical guidelines often recommend to consider a chemo-break after six months of treatment [3,25]. To be eligible for this analysis, patients had to have returned questionnaires at both time points, and to be on treatment and not having progressive disease at month six.

OS was calculated from start of first line palliative chemotherapy to time of death of any cause or censored at cut-off date.

Statistical analyses performed were mainly descriptive, mean scores were compared between groups with the two-sample t-test, and for the survival analyses the Kaplan-Meier method was used. The Log Rank test was used comparing survival between groups. Patient baseline characteristics were described with median and range (continuous variables) or with numbers and percentages (categorical variables), and compared between groups with the Pearsons Chi-Square

test, which was also used comparing individual changes from baseline to month four and twelve. The analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 28.

Ethics

The mCRC-study was approved by the Norwegian Data Protection Authority (Reference no. 36627 13 / 01039-6 / CGN), and the present study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Middle Norway (Reference no. 216433). Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Results

Recruitment

Among the 354 patients in the mCRC-study, 214 patients were included in the present study. Reasons for exclusion were: 'treatment with curative intent' (n=39), 'never started palliative chemotherapy' (n=28), 'never returned any questionnaires or baseline form missing' (n=59), 'included after chemotherapy was given' (n=6) and 'withdrew consent' (n=8).

Baseline data

Younger patients had better PS, and a larger proportion had their primary tumour intact compared to the older patients (42% vs. 25%). A larger proportion of the older patients (73% vs. 62%) had not received earlier curative intended chemotherapy. Ninety-eight percent of the younger, compared to 73% of the older patients were scheduled for combination chemotherapy. The addition of a monoclonal antibody was more often given to the younger patients (80% vs. 59%). Mutational- and MSI status were evenly distributed between the groups, as well as sex, tumour location, and other socio-demographic factors (Table 1).

Return of HRQoL-questionnaire at different time points

The completion rate of QLQ-C30 among those alive to answer was 100, 88, 87, 84, 83, 80 and 78% from baseline to month 12, respectively. There were no difference in completion rates between the two age groups. Major reasons for not returning a form were death, dropping out of returning, or missed time points. After one year, 146 of the originally 214 patients were still alive. Detailed information on number of patients with completed EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaires at different time points and reasons for not returning a questionnaire is presented in figure 1.

Baseline HRQoL in younger and older patients

At baseline, younger patients reported significant worse global QoL, more pain and financial difficulties, but better physical functioning than older patients. Younger patients had numerical worse scores for insomnia, role- and social functioning, but these scores were not significantly different between the two groups (Table 2). Except for pain, the differences between mean scores in the two age groups were of a small clinical magnitude, but above the threshold for MID. Mean score for pain was 11 points higher in the younger group.

Changes in HRQoL the first year after start of first line palliative chemotherapy

Younger patients reported better physical functioning but more pain at all time points through the first year (Figure 2). Both groups experienced a decline in physical functioning, increased fatigue, and less pain from baseline to four months after introduction of chemotherapy. The two groups underwent similar changes in the six selected HRQoL domains through the first year of palliative chemotherapy. Compared to baseline, mean scores for these domains were on the same level one year after initiation of chemotherapy, except for the younger patients experiencing improvement in pain (Table 2).

After 12 months, using a threshold of 5-10 for the MID, an improvement in role- and social functioning (younger), emotional functioning, insomnia and appetite loss (both groups), and a deterioration in cognitive functioning (younger) and dyspnoea (older) were reported. Except for financial difficulties, there was no significant difference between the groups after one year (Table 2).

The worst mean scores for both fatigue and physical functioning were found four months after start of treatment. In this period, almost 40% of the patients in both groups experienced large deteriorations in fatigue, 25-30% experienced large deteriorations in physical- and role functioning, while on the other hand, large improvements were seen in global QoL (16%), role functioning (19%), and pain (18%) (Figure 3). There was no significant difference between the two age groups regarding individual changes from baseline to month four except for nausea/vomiting, where a larger proportion of the younger patients experienced a moderate deterioration (31 vs. 11%, p=0.035).

Except for fatigue, the majority of the patients belonged to the group with a small change in the selected domains after 12 months (Supplementary Figure 1). Notably, 24 and 38% (not significant) of the younger and older patients, respectively, reported large deteriorations in fatigue one year after start of palliative chemotherapy.

Impact of chemo-break

There were 57 patients eligible to evaluate the impact of a chemo-break between month six and eight, of whom 33 had initiation of chemo-break at month six, while 24 patients had ongoing treatment in the same period. A larger proportion of females, those receiving irinotecan- and VEGFR antibody based therapy, and having RAS and BRAF wild type tumour, had initiation of a chemo-break at month six (Supplementary Table 1). There was no significant difference in age between the groups.

The group on continuous treatment had significant worsening of global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, and nausea/vomiting from month six to eight, compared to those on a

chemo-break, who demonstrated improvements in the same domains in this period (Table 3). The differences in scores between the groups ranged from 11-20 in these domains. There were no significant differences regarding change in pain in the same period or in median OS between the two groups.

Overall survival

By September 19th 2022, after a minimum observation time of 46 months (range 46-96), 204 of the 214 patients had deceased, with seven and three patients still alive among the younger and older patients, respectively. Median OS in the whole population was 17.5 months [95% Cl 14.4-20.5], with no significant difference between younger and older patients, being 17.4 [95% Cl 12.6-22.2] vs. 18.1 months [95% Cl 13.7-22.5], respectively (p=0.464) (Figure 4).

Discussion

This observational study with real-life data demonstrates that older patients with mCRC did not experience more deterioration in the six selected HRQoL domains than younger patients during the first year of palliative chemotherapy. However, almost 40% of both younger and older patients experienced a major deterioration in fatigue after four months of treatment. After one year, the mean scores of HRQoL in the domains selected were unchanged compared to baseline in both groups. Younger patients reported significant more pain at all time points, but better physical functioning than the older patients. Patients on chemo-break experienced significant improvements in several HRQoL domains, in particular global QoL and fatigue. There was no difference in survival between younger and older patients.

There are few studies comparing HRQoL between younger and older patients with CRC during first line palliative chemotherapy. Several meta-analyses and pooled analyses of RCTs in this setting have compared efficacy and tolerability of drugs between younger and older, but rarely

reported HRQoL data. The studies conducted conclude that older patients have similar survival benefits and tolerability of various first line treatments, with the reservation that these studies included only the more fit older patients [26,27]. A few studies have explored HRQoL differences, and a retrospective analysis of the CAIRO and CAIRO2 RCTs compared global QoL between age groups [28]. In line with our results, they found no differences between younger and older patients. However, only fit patients with ECOG PS 0 and 1 were included, and global QoL was the only domain reported. Previously, it has been demonstrated that global QoL, in contrast to physical functioning, is little affected by toxicities of treatment [29,30]. Another study, comparing fit older with younger patients (PS 0-1), reported no different changes in any of the HRQoL domains from baseline to week eight or twelve for patients with CRC starting first-line chemotherapy plus cetuximab [31]. To our knowledge, the current study is the first to compare changes in HRQoL between younger and older from a real-world unselected cohort of patients with mCRC. Despite the older patients had generally lower PS and reported lower physical functioning, they did not experience more decline in the selected HRQoL domains than their younger counterparts. An explanation may be that the older patients more often received milder monotherapy regimens, and it is reasonable to believe that they more often had dose reductions. Regardless the treatment regimens, survival was not different in the two age groups, though there were other differences between the groups that might affect survival in the younger negatively, such as resection of the primary, previous treatment and stage of disease.

It is worth noting that a significant part of the individual patients experienced large deteriorations in fatigue, physical-, and role functioning after four months. This finding calls for measures to mitigate the expected decline in these HRQoL domains, for instance by early incorporation of rehabilitation and to closely monitor all patients and provide sufficient supportive care. It is well documented that physical exercise, both during and after chemotherapy in the curative setting, has a positive impact on several HRQoL outcomes such as fatigue and physical functioning [32], and evidence in the palliative setting is evolving [33]. Additionally, use of geriatric

assessments in older patients could aid adjustments in treatment plans, and possibly contribute to less toxicity and improved HRQoL [34,35]. This was not routinely in use during the study period. Information regarding the risk of decline in several HRQoL domains and possible measures to reduce them, should be provided the patients in the process of shared decision making.

Compared to baseline, small improvements in mean scores were observed in both groups for emotional functioning, insomnia and appetite loss one year after start of palliative chemotherapy. This is in line with others who found decreasing degree of worrying and anxiety among patients with CRC, as time progressed after start of chemotherapy [36,37]. In the same period, both groups reported reduced cognitive functioning, a known side-effect of chemotherapy [38-40].

Younger patients reported more pain at all time points the first year. This might be explained by a larger proportion of the younger having their primary tumour intact, or it could be more directly related to age. Some studies have demonstrated that younger patients with cancer report more pain than older patients [41,42], while Bevilacqua et al. did not find any difference in pain among younger and older cancer survivors [43]. In the general population normative data for the EORTC QLQ-C30, older males report less pain than the younger, but this is not seen among females [44]. Males were in majority among the older patients in the present study.

Not surprisingly, patients introduced to a chemo-break, compared to those on continued treatment from month six, experienced improvements in several HRQoL domains after a two month treatment-free period (global QoL, physical- and role functioning, fatigue, and nausea/vomiting). Other studies investigating chemo-break described more toxicity, but no difference in physical functioning and overall health with continuous vs. intermittent treatment [10,14]. The CAIRO3 trial reported statistically significant differences between the groups regarding several of the HRQoL domains, but in contrast to the present study, the differences they described were too small to be considered clinically significant [13]. In line with our findings, the COIN trial found significant benefits from intermittent- vs. continuous therapy for role- and social functioning, but unlike our study, not

for physical functioning and global QoL [11]. A possible explanation for the greater positive impact of a chemo-break seen in the present study, is that in the real-life setting the patients are frailer and thus benefit more from a chemo-break compared to participants in an RCT.

A strength of the present study is that it provides real-life data with PROMs from an unselected cohort of patients with mCRC starting first line palliative chemotherapy from an entire region of Norway, reflected by the six selected HRQoL domain scores at baseline being worse in both groups compared to similar patient populations in RCTs and in the general population [24,44,45]. Another strength is the high compliance rate of returning QLQ-C30, and that the drop-out rate in the two age groups was equal. Of those still alive after six and twelve months, 84 and 78%, respectively, returned the questionnaire. This is higher than other observational studies of patients with mCRC [36,46,47]. After one year, only 53% of the original study population returned the QLQ-C30, the main reason for not returning was death. This might bias the comparison with baseline, since the healthiest survive to report after one year. A limitation is the timing of the questionnaires regarding administration of chemotherapy, as the HRQoL scores greatly can vary through a treatment cycle [36,48]. This was not standardized in the present study. Additionally, only participants returning the baseline questionnaire were included, and this might compromise the generalisability.

From this study on a real-life population of patients with mCRC, it might be concluded that older patients do not experience more deterioration in selected HRQoL domains than younger during the first year of palliative chemotherapy, indicating that age alone should not exclude patients from treatment. Self-reported HRQoL was mostly maintained or improved after one year, except for cognitive functioning. No survival difference between the two age groups was observed in spite of less intensive treatment regimens in the older group. The positive impact of chemo-break on selected HRQoL domains seems to be larger in a real-life population than in patients included in RCTs. In our opinion, more attention should be paid to mitigate the major deterioration in fatigue and physical functioning observed during the first months of treatment.

Statements and Declarations

Funding

This work was funded by the Dam Foundation (grant number 18201619001) and The Joint Research Committee between St. Olavs hospital and the Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, NTNU (FFU). Open access funding provided by NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology (incl. St. Olavs hospital - Trondheim University Hospital). The authors declare that no funds, grants, or other support were received during the preparation of this manuscript.

Competing Interests

The authors have no relevant financial or non-financial interests to disclose.

Authors' contributions

Eva Hofsli, Are Korsnes Kristensen, Tora Skeidsvoll Solheim, Arne Wibe, Line Merethe Oldervoll and Ingunn Hatlevoll designed the study. Hege Elvebakken, Are Korsnes Kristensen, Eva Hofsli and Ingunn Hatlevoll were involved in data collection and registration. Øyvind Salvesen, Are Korsnes Kristensen and Ingunn Hatlevoll were responsible for data analysis. The first draft of the manuscript was written by Ingunn Hatlevoll, and all authors critically reviewed the draft and approved the final version for submission.

Ethics approval

This study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics of Middle Norway (Reference no. 216433) and was performed in accordance with the ethical standards as laid down in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments.

Consent to participate

Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F (2021) Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 71 (3):209-249. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660</u> 2. Cancer in Norway 2021 - Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway. (2022) Cancer Registry of Norway. <u>https://www.kreftregisteret.no/globalassets/cancer-innorway/2021/cin_report.pdf</u>. 2022

3. Norwegian guidelines for colorectal cancer 2022. (2022) The Norwegian Directorate of Health. www.helsedirektoratet.no/retningslinjer/kreft-i-tykktarm-og-endetarm-handlingsprogram.

4. Hurria A, Levit LA, Dale W, Mohile SG, Muss HB, Fehrenbacher L, Magnuson A, Lichtman SM, Bruinooge SS, Soto-Perez-de-Celis E, Tew WP, Postow MA, Cohen HJ (2015) Improving the Evidence Base for Treating Older Adults With Cancer: American Society of Clinical Oncology Statement. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 33 (32):3826-3833. doi:10.1200/jco.2015.63.0319

5. Sorbye H, Köhne CH, Sargent DJ, Glimelius B (2007) Patient characteristics and stratification in medical treatment studies for metastatic colorectal cancer: a proposal for standardization of patient characteristic reporting and stratification. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO 18 (10):1666-1672. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdm267 6. Hurwitz H, Fehrenbacher L, Novotny W, Cartwright T, Hainsworth J, Heim W, Berlin J, Baron A, Griffing S, Holmgren E, Ferrara N, Fyfe G, Rogers B, Ross R, Kabbinavar F (2004) Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. The New England journal of medicine 350 (23):2335-2342. doi:10.1056/NEJM0a032691

7. Saltz LB, Clarke S, Díaz-Rubio E, Scheithauer W, Figer A, Wong R, Koski S, Lichinitser M, Yang TS, Rivera F, Couture F, Sirzén F, Cassidy J (2008) Bevacizumab in combination with oxaliplatin-based chemotherapy as first-line therapy in metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized phase III study. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 26 (12):2013-2019. doi:10.1200/jco.2007.14.9930

8. Winther SB, Liposits G, Skuladottir H, Hofsli E, Shah CH, Poulsen L, Ryg J, Osterlund P, Berglund Å, Qvortrup C, Glimelius B, Sorbye H, Pfeiffer P (2019) Reduced-dose combination chemotherapy (S-1 plus oxaliplatin) versus full-dose monotherapy (S-1) in older vulnerable patients with metastatic colorectal cancer (NORDIC9): a randomised, open-label phase 2 trial. The lancet Gastroenterology & hepatology 4 (5):376-388. doi:10.1016/s2468-1253(19)30041-x

9. Van Cutsem E, Cervantes A, Adam R, Sobrero A, Van Krieken JH, Aderka D, Aranda Aguilar E, Bardelli A, Benson A, Bodoky G, Ciardiello F, D'Hoore A, Diaz-Rubio E, Douillard JY, Ducreux M, Falcone A, Grothey A, Gruenberger T, Haustermans K, Heinemann V, Hoff P, Köhne CH, Labianca R, Laurent-Puig P, Ma B, Maughan T, Muro K, Normanno N, Österlund P, Oyen WJ, Papamichael D, Pentheroudakis G, Pfeiffer P, Price TJ, Punt C, Ricke J, Roth A, Salazar R, Scheithauer W, Schmoll HJ, Tabernero J, Taïeb J, Tejpar S, Wasan H, Yoshino T, Zaanan A, Arnold D (2016) ESMO consensus guidelines for the management of patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO 27 (8):1386-1422. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw235 22. Osoba D, Rodrigues G, Myles J, Zee B, Pater J (1998) Interpreting the significance of changes in health-related quality-of-life scores. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 16 (1):139-144. doi:10.1200/jco.1998.16.1.139

23. Musoro JZ, Sodergren SC, Coens C, Pochesci A, Terada M, King MT, Sprangers MAG, Groenvold M, Cocks K, Velikova G, Flechtner HH, Bottomley A (2020) Minimally important differences for interpreting the EORTC QLQ-C30 in patients with advanced colorectal cancer treated with chemotherapy. Colorectal Dis 22 (12):2278-2287. doi:10.1111/codi.15295

24. Liposits G, Eshøj HR, Möller S, Winther SB, Skuladottir H, Ryg J, Hofsli E, Shah CH, Poulsen L, Berglund Å, Qvortrup C, Österlund P, Glimelius B, Sorbye H, Pfeiffer P (2021) Quality of Life in Vulnerable Older Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer Receiving Palliative Chemotherapy-The Randomized NORDIC9-Study. Cancers 13 (11). doi:10.3390/cancers13112604

 Nationellt vårdprogram tjock- och ändtarmscancer. (2016) Regionala cancercentrum. <u>https://kunskapsbanken.cancercentrum.se/diagnoser/tjock-och-andtarmscancer/vardprogram/</u>.
Moth EB, Vardy J, Blinman P (2016) Decision-making in geriatric oncology: systemic treatment considerations for older adults with colon cancer. Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 10 (12):1321-1340. doi:10.1080/17474124.2016.1244003

27. McCleary NJ, Dotan E, Browner I (2014) Refining the chemotherapy approach for older patients with colon cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 32 (24):2570-2580. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.55.1960

28. Venderbosch S, Doornebal J, Teerenstra S, Lemmens W, Punt CJ, Koopman M (2012) Outcome of first line systemic treatment in elderly compared to younger patients with metastatic colorectal cancer: a retrospective analysis of the CAIRO and CAIRO2 studies of the Dutch Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG). Acta oncologica 51 (7):831-839. doi:10.3109/0284186x.2012.699193

 Schuurhuizen C, Braamse AMJ, Konings I, Sprangers MAG, Ket JCF, Dekker J, Verheul HMW (2017) Does severe toxicity affect global quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer during palliative systemic treatment? A systematic review. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology / ESMO 28 (3):478-486. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw617
Schuurhuizen CS, Verheul HM, Braamse AM, Buffart LM, Bloemendal HJ, Dekker J, Konings IR (2018) The predictive value of cumulative toxicity for quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer during first-line palliative chemotherapy. Cancer management and research 10:3015-3021. doi:10.2147/cmar.S166468

31. Rosati G, Pinto C, Di Fabio F, Chiara S, Lolli IR, Ruggeri EM, Ciuffreda L, Ferrara R, Antonuzzo L, Adua D, Racca P, Bilancia D, Benincasa E, Stroppolo ME, Di Costanzo F (2018) Quality of life, compliance, safety and effectiveness in fit older metastatic colorectal patients with cancer treated in first-line with chemotherapy plus cetuximab: A restrospective analysis from the ObservEr study. Journal of geriatric oncology 9 (3):243-248. doi:10.1016/j.jgo.2018.01.009

32. Campbell KL, Winters-Stone KM, Wiskemann J, May AM, Schwartz AL, Courneya KS, Zucker DS, Matthews CE, Ligibel JA, Gerber LH, Morris GS, Patel AV, Hue TF, Perna FM, Schmitz KH (2019) Exercise Guidelines for Cancer Survivors: Consensus Statement from International Multidisciplinary Roundtable. Medicine and science in sports and exercise 51 (11):2375-2390. doi:10.1249/mss.00000000002116

33. De Lazzari N, Niels T, Tewes M, Götte M (2021) A Systematic Review of the Safety, Feasibility and Benefits of Exercise for Patients with Advanced Cancer. Cancers 13 (17). doi:10.3390/cancers13174478

34. Soler-González G, Sastre-Valera J, Viana-Alonso A, Aparicio-Urtasun J, García-Escobar I, Gómez-España MA, Guillén-Ponce C, Molina-Garrido MJ, Gironés-Sarrió R (2023) Update on the management of elderly patients with colorectal cancer. Clinical & translational oncology : official publication of the Federation of Spanish Oncology Societies and of the National Cancer Institute of Mexico. doi:10.1007/s12094-023-03243-0 Table 1. Patient baseline characteristics.

Characteristic		< 70 years	> 70 years	
enaracteristic		n = 110	n = 104	
		Median (range)	Median (range)	
Δσρ	Vears	62 (27 - 69)	75(70 - 89)	
		02 (27 03)	/5 (/0 05)	
		n (%)	n (%)	p*
Sex	Male	63 (57.3)	65 (62.5)	0.44
	Female	47 (42.7)	39 (37.5)	
Highest education	Elementary school	30 (27.3)	39 (37.5)	0.26
	High school	44 (40.0)	38 (36.5)	
	College or university	36 (32.7)	27 (26.0)	
Living situation	Living alone	22 (20.0)	25 (24.0)	0.48
-	Living with others	88 (80.0)	79 (76.0)	
ECOG performance status	0	61 (55.5)	38 (36.5)	0.008
	1	41 (37.3)	48 (46.2)	
	2	8 (7.3)	18 (17.3)	
Modified Glasgow prognostic	0	57 (51.8)	59 (56.7)	0.73
score	1	37 (33.6)	30 (28.8)	
	2	16 (14.5)	15 (14.4)	
CEA > 5	Yes	85 (77.3)	84 (80.8)	0.53
	No	25 (22.7)	20 (19.2)	
Location of primary tumour	Right colon	42 (38.2)	50 (48.1)	0.34
	Left colon	31 (28.2)	24 (23.1)	
	Rectum	37 (33.6)	30 (28.8)	
Presence of liver metastases	Yes	68 (61.8)	70 (67.3)	0.40
	No	42 (38.2)	34 (32.7)	
Primary tumour resected	Yes	64 (58.2)	78 (75.0)	0.009
	No	46 (41.8)	26 (25.0)	
Stage of disease	Synchronous	79 (71.8)	66 (63.5)	0.19
	Metachronous	31 (28.2)	38 (36.5)	
Received chemotherapy	No	68 (61.8)	76 (73.1)	0.024
before	> 12 months ago	16 (14.5)	19 (18.3)	
	6-12 months ago	16 (14.5)	4 (3.8)	
	< 6 months ago	10 (9.1)	5 (4.8)	
First line palliative treatment	Monotherapy **	2 (1.8)	28 (27.0)	<0.001
	Oxaliplatin based combination	7 (6.4)	12 (11.5)	
	Irinotecan based combination	91 (82.7)	59 (56.7)	
	Oxaliplatin + irinotecan	10 (9.1)	5 (4.8)	
Additional monoclonal	EGFR antibody	19 (17.3)	11 (10.6)	0.003
antibody	VEGFR antibody	69 (62.7)	50 (48.1)	
	None	22 (20.0)	43 (41.3)	
Tumour mutation status	RAS/BRAF wild type	27 (24.5)	31 (29.8)	0.12
	RAS mutation	56 (50.9)	45 (43.3)	
	BRAF mutation	24 (21.8)	18 (17.3)	
	Not tested	3 (2.7)	13 (12.5)	
MSI status	MSI	6 (5.5)	9 (8.6)	0.50
	MSS	74 (67.3)	63 (60.6)	
	Not tested	30 (27 2)	32 (30 8)	
		50 (27.2)	52 (50.0)	

ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; MSI, microsatellite instable; MSS, microsatellite stable.

*The two groups compared with Pearsons Chi-Square Test. **Including pyrimidine analogues and PD-1 blocker.

	< 70 years	≥ 70 years	p **	< 70 years	≥ 70 years	p **
Time	Base	eline		After 12	months	
	n = 110	n = 104		n = 58	n = 56	
Age (years)	62 (median)	75 (median)		60 (median)	76 (median)	
HRQoL	Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)		Mean (95% CI)	Mean (95% CI)	
Functioning scales*						
Global QoL	57 (52-61)	64 (60-68)	0.026	59 (53-65)	63 (56-69)	0.460
Physical functioning	79 (76-83)	73 (69-77)	0.024	77 (72-83)	70 (64-76)	0.055
Role functioning	58 (51-64)	65 (58-71)	0.15	63 (56-71)	61 (53-69)	0.691
Emotional functioning	76 (73-80)	80 (76-84)	0.15	82 (76-87)	85 (80-90)	0.327
Cognitive functioning	84 (80-88)	85 (81-89)	0.679	78 (72-85)	81 (76-87)	0.695
Social functioning	61 (56-67)	69 (63-74)	0.051	66 (59-73)	69 (62-76)	0.540
Symptom scales and single	items*					
Fatigue	42 (37-47)	41 (36-46)	0.797	42 (36-48)	44 (38-51)	0.622
Nausea and vomiting	8 (5-11)	8 (5-11)	0.990	7 (4-9)	8 (3-12)	0.657
Pain	29 (23-35)	18 (13-23)	0.008	21 (14-28)	15 (9-21)	0.201
Dyspnoea	23 (18-28)	20 (15-25)	0.343	22 (14-31)	29 (21-37)	0.187
Insomnia	33 (28-39)	26 (20-31)	0.078	26 (19-34)	20 (12-28)	0.251
Appetite loss	29 (23-36)	26 (19-33)	0.470	21 (14-29)	19 (11-28)	0.852
Constipation	21 (15-26)	23 (17-29)	0.666	20 (13-27)	21 (13-28)	0.768
Diarrhoea	26 (20-31)	22 (18-28)	0.473	24 (19-30)	24 (17-31)	0.910
Financial difficulties	8 (5-12)	3 (0.4-5)	0.015	12 (6-18)	4 (1-8)	0.019

Table 2. HRQoL at baseline and after 12 months comparing younger and older patients.

CI, confidence interval; QoL, quality of life; HRQoL, health-related quality of life.

^{*}Higher scores on the functioning scales indicate better function, while higher scores on the symptom scales and single items indicate more symptoms.

^{**}Mean scores in age groups < and \geq 70 years compared with the two-sample t-test.

	Ongoing treatment from	Chemo-break from month	p**
	month 6 – 8	6 – 8	
Mean difference in HRQoL	n = 24	n = 33	
from month 6 – 8			
	Mean [95% CI]	Mean [95% CI]	
Change in functioning scales*			
Global QoL	-11.5 [-19.3 – -3.6]	8.3 [0.9 – 15.9]	<0.001
Physical functioning	-6.0 [-11.8 – -0.3]	4.8 [0.2 – 9.4]	0.003
Role functioning	-9.7 [-22.5 – 3.1]	4.5 [-4.0 – 13.1]	0.052
Change in symptom scales*			
Estigue			0.005
Fatigue	5.0 [-5.0 - 15.4]	-13.5 [-22.5 – -4.5]	0.005
Pain	69[-48-187]	0.0[-6.8-6.8]	0 268
1 din	0.5[4.0 10.7]	0.0[0.0 0.0]	0.200
Nausea/vomiting	7.6 [1.8 – 13.5]	-4.5 [-7.61.5]	<0.001
Survival, months	Median [95% CI]	Median [95% CI]	
	20.8 [16.1 – 25.5]	23.6 [16.3 – 30.8]	0.730

Table 3. Effect on change in selected HRQoL domains and survival according to initiation of chemobreak or continued treatment from months 6 - 8 among patients not showing progressive disease at month 6.

Cl, confidence interval; QoL, quality of life; HRQoL, health-related quality of life

*Positive difference on the functioning scales indicates improved function, while positive difference on the symptom scales indicates worsening of symptoms.

^{**} Mean difference in HRQoL in the two groups compared with the two-sample t-test. Survival compared with the Log Rank test.

Characteristic	Ongoing treatment	Chemo-break from	n*
characteristic	from month 6-8	month 6-8	P
	n = 24	n = 33	
Δαρ	Median (range)	Median (range)	0.23
Voars	71 (/11 - 87)	65(27 - 79)	0.25
16013	n (%)	n (%)	
Sev	11 (70)	11 (70)	0.01
Male	19 (79 2)	15 (45 5)	0.01
Female	5 (20.8)	18 (54 5)	
FCOG performance status	5 (20.0)	10 (34.3)	0 19
	11 (45 8)	23 (69 7)	0.15
1	11 (45.8)	8 (24 2)	
2	2 (8 3)	2 (6 1)	
2 Modified Glasgow prognostic score	2 (0.5)	2 (0.1)	0.85
	12 (50 0)	14 (42 4)	0.05
1	10 (41 7)	16 (48 5)	
- 2	2 (8 3)	3 (9 1)	
_ CFA > 5	2 (0.5)	5 (5.1)	0.80
Yes	19 (79 2)	27 (81 8)	0.00
No	5 (20.8)	6 (18 2)	
Location of primary tumour	5 (20.0)	0 (10.2)	0 74
Right colon	13 (54-2)	15 (45 5)	0.74
Left colon	4 (16 7)	8 (24 2)	
Bectum	7 (29 2)	10 (30 3)	
Presence of liver metastases	7 (23:2)	10 (50.5)	0.41
Ves	15 (62 5)	24 (72 7)	0.41
No	9 (37 5)	9 (27 3)	
Primary tumour resected	5 (57.5)	5 (27.5)	0 14
Ves	17 (70.8)	17 (51 5)	0.14
No	7 (29 2)	16 (48 5)	
Stage of disease	7 (23:2)	10 (40.5)	0.68
Synchronous	17 (70.8)	25 (75 8)	0.00
Metachron	7 (29 2)	8 (24 2)	
Received chemotherany before	, (23.2)	0 (2 1.2)	0.69
No	19 (79 2)	24 (72 7)	0.05
> 12 months ago	2 (8 3)	5 (15 2)	
6-12 months ago	3 (12 5)	3 (9 1)	
< 6 months ago	0 (0)	1 (3.0)	
First line palliative treatment	0 (0)	- (0.0)	0.084
Monotherapy ^{**}	5 (20.8)	3 (9.1)	0.001
Oxaliplatin based combination	3 (12.5)	0 (0)	
Irinotecan based combination	15 (62.5)	27 (81.8)	
Oxaliplatin + irinotecan	1 (4.2)	3 (9.1)	
Addition with monoclonal antibody	- (- ()	0.22
EGFR antibody	3 (12.5)	4 (12.1)	
VEGFR antibody	11 (45.8)	22 (66.7)	
None	10 (41.7)	7 (21.2)	
Tumour mutation status		· (/	0.14
RAS/BRAF wild type	3 (12.5)	13 (39.4)	0.2 1
RAS mutation	14 (58.3)	13 (39.4)	
BRAF mutation	6 (25.0)	5 (15.2)	
Not tested	1 (4.2)	2 (6.1)	

Supplementary Table 1. Patient baseline characteristics according to continuous treatment or chemo-break months 6 – 8.

ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *The two groups compared with Pearsons Chi-Square Test. **Including pyrimidine analogues and PD-1 blocker.



Fig. 1. Number of patients with completed EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaires at different time points and reasons for not returning a questionnaire. EORTC QLQ-C30, European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core 30; mOS, median overall survival.







Fig. 3. Individual changes in A) global quality of life, B) physical functioning, C) role functioning, D) fatigue, E) pain and F) nausea and vomiting from baseline to month four divided by age groups, and grouped according to the five categories; large and moderate deterioration, small change, moderate and large improvement. A difference in scores of > 20 is considered a large, from 10 – 20 a moderate deterioration/improvement, and < 10 points a small change. The y-axis represents the percentage for each age group.







Supplementary Fig. 1. Individual changes in A) global quality of life, B) physical functioning, C) role functioning, D) fatigue, E) pain and F) nausea and vomiting from baseline to month 12 divided by age groups, and grouped according to the five categories; large and moderate deterioration, small change, moderate and large improvement. A difference in scores of > 20 is considered a large, from 10 - 20 a moderate deterioration/improvement, and < 10 points a small change. The y-axis represents the percentage for each age group.</p>



ISBN 978-82-326-7670-5 (printed ver.) ISBN 978-82-326-7669-9 (electronic ver.) ISSN 1503-8181 (printed ver.) ISSN 2703-8084 (online ver.)

